
 

Thurrock - An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage 
and excited by its diverse opportunities and future 

 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The meeting will be held at 10:30am – 12.30pm on Friday 18 March 2022  
 
Hybrid meeting.   Microsoft Teams. 
   Rooms W1.23 and W1.24, South Essex College, Grays Campus,  

New Road Grays Essex RM17 6SL 
Membership: 
 
Councillor Halden (Chair) 
Councillor Huelin  
Councillor Liddiard 
Councillor Johnson 
Councillor Kent 
Kristina Jackson, Chief Executive, Thurrock CVS 
Kim James, Chief Operating Officer, Healthwatch Thurrock 

Michelle Stapleton, Interim, Director of Operations Interim Director of Operations, Mid 
and South Essex NHS Foundation Trust 
Ian Wake, Corporate Director for Adults, Housing and Health  
Sheila Murphy, Corporate Director for Children’s Services 
Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health 
Mark Tebbs, NHS Thurrock Alliance Director, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group 
Anthony McKeever, Interim Joint Accountable Officer for Mid and South Essex CCGs 

Preeti Sud, Preeti Sud, Executive Member, Mid and South Essex NHS Foundation 
Trust 
Carmel Micheals, North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT) 
Dr Anil Kallil, Chair of Thurrock CCG 
Alex Green, Executive Director of Community Services and Partnerships, Essex Partnership 
University Trust (EPUT) 
Stephen Mayo, Deputy Chief Nurse, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group 

Julie Rogers, Chair Thurrock Community Safety Partnership Board / Director of Public 
Realm  
Karen Grinney, HM Prison and Probation Service replacement representative to be 
confirmed 

Andrew Pike, Executive Member, Mid and South Essex NHS Foundation Trust  
Chief Superintendent Jenny Barnett, Essex Police 
 
   
 
 



 
 

 

   

 
Agenda 

 
Open to Public and Press 

 

  Page 
 

  
 

 

1   Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2   Minutes 
 

5 - 12 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board meeting held in December 2021. 
 

 

3   Urgent Items 
 

 

 To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

4   Declaration of Interests  
 

 

5   Integrated Medical Centres update 
 

13 - 32 

 A PowerPoint presentation has been provided in advance of the 
meeting. 
 
This item will be presented by Mark Tebbs, Thurrock CCG 
 

 

6   Health and Wellbeing Strategy refresh update 
 

33 - 92 

 Papers have been provided in advance of the meeting. 
 
An updated emerging version of the HWB Strategy will be presented 
to members at the meeting. 
 
Jo Broadbent, Thurrock Council, will present this item 
 

 

7   Tobacco control JSNA 
 

93 - 210 

 Papers have been provided in advance of the meeting. 
 

 



 
 

Jo Broadbent, Thurrock Council, will present this item 
 

   
 
Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies: 
 
Please contact Darren Kristiansen, Business Manager - Commissioning by sending 
an email to DKristiansen@thurrock.gov.uk 
 
Agenda published on: 10 March 2022 



This page is intentionally left blank



Information for members of the public and councillors 
 

Access to Information and Meetings 

 

Advice Regarding Public Attendance at Meetings: 

  

Following changes to government advice there is no longer a requirement for public 
attendees to book seats in advance of a committee meeting. All public attendees are 
expected to comply with the following points when physically attending a committee 
meeting:  

  

1. If you are feeling ill or have tested positive for Covid and are isolating you should 
remain at home, the meeting will be webcast and you can attend in that way.  

  

2. You are recommended to wear a face covering (where able) when attending the 
meeting and moving around the council offices to reduce any chance of infection. 
Removal of any face covering would be advisable when speaking publically at the 
meeting.  

  

3. Hand sanitiser will also be available at the entrance for your use.  

 

Whilst the Council encourages all who are eligible to have vaccination and this is 
important in reducing risks around COVID-19, around 1 in 3 people with COVID-19 
do not have any symptoms. This means they could be spreading the virus without 
knowing it. In line with government guidance testing twice a week increases the 
chances of detecting COVID-19 when you are infectious but aren’t displaying 
symptoms, helping to make sure you do not spread COVID-19. Rapid lateral flow 
testing is available for free to anybody. To find out more about testing please visit 
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-
tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/ 

 

Members of the public have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no 
later than 5 working days before the meeting, and minutes once they are published. 

Recording of meetings 

This meeting will be live streamed and recorded with the video recording being 
published via the Council’s online webcast channel: www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast  

   

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 

Page 1

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/testing/regular-rapid-coronavirus-tests-if-you-do-not-have-symptoms/
http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast
mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 

council and committee meetings 

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities. 

Thurrock Council Wi-Fi 

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet. 

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC 

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network. 

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept. 

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only. 

Evacuation Procedures 

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk. 

How to view this agenda on a tablet device 

  

 

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app. 
 

 
Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services. 
 
To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should: 
 

 Access the modern.gov app 

 Enter your username and password 
 

 
 

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence 

 
Helpful Reminders for Members 
 

 Is your register of interests up to date?  

 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests?  

 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly?  

 
When should you declare an interest at a meeting? 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 

Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or  

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 

before you for single member decision? 

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting  

 relate to; or  

 likely to affect  
any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests?  
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of: 

 your spouse or civil partner’s 

 a person you are living with as husband/ wife 

 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners 

where you are aware that this other person has the interest. 
 
A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of the 

Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests. 

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest. 

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a pending 
notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest for inclusion in the register  

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must: 

- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 
the matter at a meeting;  

- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 
meeting; and 

- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 
upon 

If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 

steps 

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting 

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature 

Non- pecuniary Pecuniary 

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer. 

Page 3



 

 

Our Vision and Priorities for Thurrock 

 

An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by 
its diverse opportunities and future. 

 
 
1. People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and 

stay 

 

 High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time 
 

 Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups 
to work together to improve health and wellbeing  
 

 Communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger 
together  

 
 
2. Place – a heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future 
 

 Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 
 

 Clean environments that everyone has reason to take pride in 
 

 Fewer public buildings with better services 
 
 
 
3. Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations 
 

 Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local 
economy 
 

 Vocational and academic education, skills and job opportunities for all 
 

 Commercial, entrepreneurial and connected public services 
 

Page 4



PUBLIC Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held 
on 10 December 2021 10.30am-12.30pm 

 
Present:  Ian Wake, Corporate Director for Adults, Housing and 
Health (Chair) 

Councillor Huelin  
Councillor Liddiard 
Councillor Kent  
Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health 
Sheila Murphy, Corporate Director for Children’s Services 
Mark Tebbs, NHS Thurrock Alliance Director, Thurrock 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Brid Johnson, Director of Operations, Essex and Kent 
North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT) 
Mark Travella, Associate Director Business Development 
and Service Improvement, Essex Partnership University 
Trust (EPUT) 

 
Apologies:  Councillor Halden  

Councillor Johnson 
Julie Rogers, Chair Thurrock Community Safety 
Partnership Board / Director of Public Realm  
Andrew Pike, Executive Member, Mid and South Essex 
NHS Foundation Trust  
Michelle Stapleton, Interim Director of Operations, Mid 
and South Essex NHS Foundation Trust 
Preeti Sud, Executive Member, Mid and South Essex 
NHS Foundation Trust 
Kristina Jackson, Chief Executive, Thurrock CVS 
Kim James, Chief Operating Officer, Healthwatch 
Thurrock 
Anthony McKeever, Interim Joint Accountable Officer for 
Mid and South Essex CCGs 
Dr Anil Kallil, Chair of Thurrock Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) 
Stephen Mayo, Deputy Chief Nurse, Thurrock Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Gill Burns, Deputy Integrated Care Director, North East 
London Foundation Trust (NELFT) 
Alex Green, Executive Director of Community Services 
and Partnerships, Essex Partnership University Trust 
(EPUT) 
Karen Grinney, HM Prison and Probation Service 

 
Guests: Christopher Smith, Thurrock Council 

Beth Capps, Thurrock Council  
Diane Sarkar, Mid and South Essex NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Welcome, Introduction and Apologies 
 

Colleagues were welcomed and apologies were noted.  
 
It was noted that Ian Wake was Chair of the meeting in Councillor 
Halden’s absence.  

 
2. Minutes 
 

The minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting held on 29 
October 2021 were approved as a correct record.  

 
3. Urgent Items 
 

There were no urgent items raised in advance of the meeting.  
 
It was noted the Basildon and Thurrock University Hospital (BTUH) 
Care Quality Commission inspection update will be covered as part of 
AOB. 

 
4.  Declaration of Interests 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
5. Better Care Fund Plan approval  
 

This item was presented by Christopher Smith, Thurrock Council.  Key 
points included: 

 Arrangements for the Better Care Fund Plan were presented at the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on 29 October 2021. 

 The planning requirements for the Better Care Fund Plan for 2021/22 
were published by NHS England on 30 September 2021.  The short 
timescale did not allow for the plan to be prepared and shared with the 
Board prior to submission by the deadline set by NHS England (16 
November 2021).   

 In line with the planning requirements, approval is now sought from 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and, when received, will be 
communicated to NHS England. 

 
 

Page 6



During discussions the following points were made: 
 Colleagues recognised the Better Care Fund in itself cannot improve 

care, however, through administrative arrangements, this pooled fund 
can translate into system integration and a better coordination of 
services.  The Wellbeing Teams are examples of this practice and a 
focus on integration will be reflected in the Thurrock place based 
strategy.   
 

RESOLVED: Members noted and approved the Better Care Fund 
Plan for 2021/22.  

 
6.  Health and Wellbeing Strategy refresh update  

 
This item was introduced by Jo Broadbent, Thurrock Council.  Key 
points included: 

 An eight weeks consultation exercise commenced on 13 October in 
relation to the refreshing of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
2021-26. The consultation was scheduled to close on 3 December. 
 
 

 There have been a variety of ways that people could provide their 
views on proposals for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
These include: 

o Via the Council’s online portal; 
o Through face-to-face consultation supported by Healthwatch 

Thurrock and the Thurrock CVS (Community & Voluntary 
Services; 

o Via workshop / presentations to community forums and focus 
groups.  

 At the time of writing this report (30 November 2021) the consultation 
exercise had resulted in: 

o Over 1300 visits to the Council’s consultation portal with over 
100 visitors being engaged in the consultation questionnaire; 

o 258 people engaged via Healthwatch, Community Builders and 
Thurrock CVS; 

o 305 user focused summaries completed via Healthwatch, 
Community Builders and Thurrock CVS. 

 Additional feedback provided by partners and members of the public 
attending forums will be reflected in the final consultation report. 

 At present, a detailed thematic review has not been completed, 
however, access to Primary Care and service quality has been 
flagged as a priority for residents, as well as air quality across the 
borough. In addition, there is a potential gap around climate change 
as this is a major global issue therefore this is to be further considered 
in the Thurrock context.  

 The refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy will also align with 
ongoing strategic work within the borough, such as the Local Plan and 
consultations regarding housing.  

 It is proposed, to facilitate the additional consultation opportunities, the 
consultation exercise is extended until the end of December 2021. 
This will not delay the publication of the final Strategy, planned for 
summer 2022. 

 

Page 7



During discussions the following points were made: 
 Members of the Board welcomed the extension of the consultation 

period. 

 It was recognised the opportunity for further engagement allows a 
broader and more representative spectrum of views to be considered.  

 Colleagues noted social media is also being used to promote the 
consultation.  

 From the emerging data from Healthwatch and the Thurrock CVS, the 
top three priorities for Thurrock residents is Primary Care / access to 
health services, open space availability for physical activity and air 
quality.   

 Members were reassured that metrics on how to measure the 
Strategy are being drafted by domain leads and their relevant working 
groups, including identifying baseline measures.  

 
RESOLVED: Members: 

 Agreed to extend the consultation exercise until the end of 
December; 

 Considered and proposed opportunities to engage the public and 
interested parties during the remainder of the consultation 
period. 

 Considered and provided feedback on the consultation activities 
to date described in this report.  
 

7.  Breastfeeding Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)  
 
This item was introduced by Jo Broadbent and Beth Capps, Thurrock 
Council.  Key points included: 

 This JSNA was completed pre-pandemic, with data being refreshed in 
October 2021.  The literature review and social marketing research 
has remained from the original report.  

 The report highlights that low breastfeeding rates present a public 
health issue, and links closely to the work on the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, the Brighter Futures Strategy and the national Best Start in 
Life policy.  

 The purpose of this JSNA is to gain a better understanding of the 
complexities surrounding breastfeeding and provide evidence based 
recommendations to inform service delivery. 

 In relation to the Thurrock context, there is a variation in breastfeeding 
rates across the Primary Care Network (PCN) areas. There is a lower 
prevalence in the East of the borough with lower breastfeeding rates 
associated with lower income households and a link with obesity.  For 
women whose first language is not English, they are more likely to 
breastfeed.  

 There is national and local guidance regarding breastfeeding, 
including North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT) and Basildon 
and Thurrock University Hospital (BTUH) services, peer support 
groups and expectant father workshops.  

 The JSNA included a literature review and local social marketing 
research which highlighted some of the benefits of breastfeeding such 
as reduction of health risks. However, some of the reported barriers 
included practicality, support, convenience and embarrassment / 
societal difficulties.  

Page 8



 
During discussions the following points were made: 

 Members welcomed the comprehensive needs assessment and 
subsequent recommendations.  

 Colleagues considered the merit of liaising with partners in other 
geographical areas, such as Luton, who have a diverse ethnic 
demography.  This may be an indicator for why they have higher 
breastfeeding rates and their best practices in encouraging take up.   

 For lower income areas, there were reduced breastfeeding rates 
therefore this requires further investigation.  

 In addition, the recommendations are due to be considered further, 
including a review of the data due to challenges with consistency. 

 This public health issue requires a whole system approach, including 
refresher training for midwives, links with Primary Care and how the 
new Integrated Medical Centre models can embed this thinking 
further.  

 The JSNA is due to be reviewed further at the Brighter Futures Board 
as it was initially discussed in March 2020.  

 
RESOLVED: The Board: 

 Considered and endorsed the JSNA.   

 Supported the development of a breastfeeding strategy and 

delivery plan with partner organisations engaging with this work 

through the new ‘Child Health Group’ delivering Strategic Priority 

2 of the Brighter Futures Strategy. 

 Highlighted links that need to be made with a view to alignment 

across the system, in particular with primary care.  

 
8.   Basildon and Thurrock University Hospital (BTUH) CQC Maternity 

Unit Inspection  
 

This item was introduced by Diane Sarkar, Mid and South Essex NHS 
Foundation Trust.  Key points included: 

 Further to the update provided to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
28 January 2021, progress continues to be made as BTUH’s maternity 
unit is now rated ‘Requires Improvement’ rather than ‘Inadequate’. 

 There remain areas for improvement, including infection control and 
checking of equipment. However, the leadership structure has been 
strengthened and is in the process of being embedded.    

 Management of serious incidents continues to be improved, with the 
backlog being reduced and a clear trajectory for completion.  

 There is an ongoing support package for staff, although, workforce 
challenges continue to be experienced such as the numbers of 
midwives and consultants with the necessary skills. However, a 
number of senior positions have been recently appointed to, including 
Head of Midwifery and over 40 student midwives have been recruited 
and retained.  This is a reflection that BTUH is a better work place as 
positive experiences are being feedback to Health Education England.  

 
 
 
 

Page 9



During discussions the following points were made: 
 Members noted this is one maternity service, however, it is delivered 

on three sites therefore standardising and sharing good practice and 
lessons learned is important to continued improvement.   

 It was recognised that implementation and embedding change takes a 
considerable time, therefore, colleagues are hopeful that for the next 
CQC visit, further improvements will be apparent, along with continued 
positive clinical outcomes.  

 Recruitment of new staff, including a new Director of Midwifery 
provides rejuvenation to the unit.  
 

RESOLVED: The Board noted and commented on the verbal 
update.  
 
9.  GP Item Part Two.  Improvements in primary care Long Term 

Condition management  
 

This item was introduced by Jo Broadbent, Thurrock Council.  Key 
points included: 

 The report was drafted in September 2021, however, it has recently 
been announced that the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) 
has been nationally suspended to free up GP capacity for delivery of 
the expanded COVID-19 booster programme.   

 Prior to this announcement, the stretch QOF 2021/22 indicators of 
blood pressure and smoking had been selected on the following basis: 

o Public Health multiple regression analysis models indicated 
these indicators impacted on unplanned care admissions in 
Thurrock; 

o The indicator rationale has been nationally recognised as high 
impact (NICE guidance) 

o Stretch QOF appears to be positively influencing general 
practice to complete the intervention at a rate greater than 
previously achieved without incentivisation;  

o Indicators that require a focused effort to address backlog/drop 
in performance attributable to the Covid pandemic.  

 Wider system partners will need to discuss with Primary Care 
Networks (PCNs) and Clinical Directors how they intend to proceed 
with case finding and surveillance of these indicators in light of the 
QOF suspension.  

 In relation to the Long Term Condition (LTC) Profile Cards, these 
provide a visual overview of each practice, focusing on the LTC case 
finding and management but also looks at the possible reasons why, 
such as lack of capacity. In addition, it makes links to secondary care 
outcomes. These Profile Cards will continue to be produced.  

 Furthermore, the stretched QOF approach needs to evolve and be 
developed alongside PCNs to promote comprehensive holistic care for 
those high risk patients.   
 

During discussions the following points were made: 
 The Board noted the stepping down of QOF at a national level and 

service reprioritisation is a direct result of the impact of winter 
pressures and the rolling out of the COVID-19 booster programme. 
However, the work around future planning is important and can 

Page 10



hopefully commence in the new financial year. This was reiterated by 
NELF colleagues.  

 Members raised concerns regarding the pausing of QOF as 
secondary prevention was stopped last year due to the pandemic, 
therefore, there is a cohort of very ill residents with non-COVID-19 
related illnesses.  The QOF suspension is likely to compound this 
issue further.  

 The Board recognised the impact of the national announcement, 
however, further national correspondence is expected imminently.  

 Public Health colleagues will continue to review the indicators and 
consider the prioritisation of these.  

 In addition, colleagues acknowledged the need to ensure the most 
vulnerable are prioritised as part of this consideration of resources.  
Members agreed that partners need to be engaged in discussions 
about vulnerable children as part of safeguarding duties, particularly in 
light of a recent high profile national case.   

 There is clear quantitative evidence regarding the importance of QOF 
and the impact of commissioning on health inequalities, including a 
population health management approach.  Members reiterated that if 
practices are able to continue to claim the QOF resource that they 
should do so.  This links with incentivisation of PCNs to care for 
residents in a more holistic manner and to ensure engagement across 
all PCN footprints.   

 
RESOLVED:  The Board noted and commented upon the proposed 
developments in delivering improvements in long term condition 
management and a renewed LTC profile card.  

 
9.  AOB 
 

Members noted Public Health colleagues have also completed a number of 

other Joint Strategic Needs Assessments recently, including: 

 Self-care;  

 Maternal Obesity 

 Work and Health; 

 Children Looked After; 

 Child Poverty; 

 Tobacco Control.   

 
 
The meeting finished at 11:56am.   

 
CHAIR……………………………….. 

 
DATE………………………………… 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Thurrock IMC update 
Health and Wellbeing Board 

3rd March 2022

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 5



Corringham  
IMC 

P
age 14



Corringham 
Integrated 
Medical 
Centre

• Two story centre providing 1,220m2 of purpose-
built, new facilities

• Shared multi purpose building, with both clinical 
and non-clinical spaces

• All rooms have been designed for multi-use and 
can be bookable e.g. therapy, exam consult and 
treatment rooms  

• Three large group rooms with retractable walls 
for use 

• Two GP practices and designated phlebotomy 
room– current public engagement process 

• Range of meeting rooms for staff/stakeholders, 
sizes and spaces on the first floor 

• Staff areas, break out areas, space for MDTs 
and a large hot desking and agile working space 

• Hook up facilities for mobile screening units 

P
age 15



Site Plan

1

23

4

5

6 7
8

17

18

P
age 16



Ground Floor Plan

8

9

10

11

12

13

P
age 17



First Floor Plan

14

15

16P
age 18



Partnership site 
visits: 2021 

P
age 19



3. Entrance to CIMC site

Corringham IMC – external images

P
age 20



8. Main Entrance and Lobby / Reception

Corringham IMC – internal images

P
age 21



Corringham IMC -  time line to completion

November 2021 – identified 
collaborative/partner led 
subgroups key decision and 
input/lead the plan… 

Subgroups identified: ICT, Comms 
and engagement, finance, 
Operations (reception and 
functions and SOP), 
Estates/design, HR and workforce
October 2021 - Start to 
develop a mobilisation plan 
for CIMC to be operational by 
Spring 2022 

December 2021 – Agreement for 
reception function and a building 
manager role.  Meetings with all 
leads to determine which services will 
be delivered.  

January  2022 –
CIMC specialise in 
diabetes/CVD 
pathways. 
Utilisation/service 
plan is agreed. SOP. 
Furniture & 
equipment ordered
Notified of delay to 
the opening – due 
to IT line: BT unable 
to confirm a date 
for installation 

February 2022 – 
Finance discussions.  
Hotdesking workshop 
Lease arrangements 
workshop. Review 
Travel Plan: parking 
principles/parking eye.  
Continue to develop 
SOP. 
Final amendments to 
build to be completed 

March 2022 –
Handover building to 
NELFT 
Planned Workshops 
• CVS and Third 

sector 
• Reception model
Planned visits for all
• 14th March 

(10am, 11,30am 
or 1pm)

Staff consultation 
launch (TBC)
• Service transition 

plans developed
CIMC to be 
operational: 
April/July 2022

P
age 22



Thurrock Integrated Medical Centres: Service Model
The overarching model of care for the four IMCs 
incorporates the following key principles/themes:

Single locality 
model

Holistic offer for 
the whole system Care navigation

Enabling self-care Getting it right 
first time

Direct access to 
required services

Purpose-built 
‘one-stop shop’ 

approach

Faster access to 
diagnostics

Reduced referrals 
to secondary care 

services

Reduced waiting 
times

Holistic and 
personalised care

IMCs acting as an 
enabler to 

transform service

These key themes are reflected in the overarching 
service model for Corringham IMC, which is 
illustrated below.

• Long-Term Conditions
• Diabetes/CVD

• Outpatients
• Pelvic therapies
• Community midwifery

• Diagnostics
• Phlebotomy
• Ultrasound
• AAA Screening

• Adult Mental Health Services
• Adult Community Health Services
• Sexual Health Services
• Primary Care
• Adult Social Care 
• Children and Young people services 
• Lifestyle & Wellbeing Services

P
age 23



NELFT Services to be 
delivered in CIMC 

Community Heart Failure 
Service 

Respiratory Service COPD Team

Pulmonary Rehab Team, part of 
Integrated Respiratory Long-
term Conditions 

Adult Diabetes assessment and 
management 

Older Adults Health and 
Wellbeing Service 

Tissue Viability Service 

Thurrock ICT Service UCRT Service 

Dementia Crisis Support 
Service 

NELFT Children 
Services:

EWMHS presence 

Children’s Speech and 
Language Therapy

0-19 Healthy Families Service

Partners Services to be 
delivered in CIMC 

Thurrock Enhanced Mental 
Health Primary Care Service

EPUT 

PCN Obesity Personalised Care 
Model

Primary Care Network

Adult Social Care Team – 
Community Led Support 

Inclusion Thurrock 
IAPT 

Thurrock MIND Vision Substance Misuse Service 
- Inclusion Thurrock

MSE NHS FT -  AAA Screening MSE NHS FT - Phlebotomy

MSE NHS FT - Community 
midwifery

MSE NHS FT - Pelvic therapies

Local Community/Support 
groups 

CVS and Third sector presence

P
age 24



Purfleet on Thames IMC  

• SFLG have supported the Outline Business Case (OBC) on 
the basis of revised plans and affordability.

• The OBC will now progress through the sign off process of 
each partner organisation. 

• The OBC sets out plans for a building of 1,814m²  (GIA).  It 
contains space for GP, PCN, out of hospital, community, 
mental health,  council run and voluntary services.  This 
space is also designed to enable use by the community to 
support health and wellbeing initiatives. 

• The target opening date on the Purfleet IMC  is 2024/25
• The aim is to submit the OBC to NHSE/I by the 31st March 

2022, for support and to enable the project to progress to 
the final stage of approval  - Full Business Case.

P
age 25



Purfleet on Thames IMC  
Proposed floor plans:
Ground Floor First Floor 

P
age 26



Tilbury IMC – issues and 
opportunities  
• The nature of the site (flood plain, contamination) means that the build is 

very expensive. 
• It is our duty to ensure that every pound invested needs to be justified. 

Every pound spent on the estates is money that could be spent on 
frontline services. 

• The current design of the building has a lot of shared space. The amount 
of shared space suggests that the design of the building could be more 
efficient to maximise value for money. 

• The pandemic has changed the way we work and we need to review the 
amount of hot desking space. 

• The work on the adult place-based strategy is nearing completion. This is 
a key document for Thurrock and will help us to drive the locality based 
service model. 

• The current Tilbury IMC plan does not include provision for a children’s 
resource centre. There is a potential to include such a provision to bring 
greater integration children’s services. 

• There are opportunities to better integrate the Towns Fund regeneration 
proposals with Tilbury IMC. The lack of car parking remains an unresolved 
issue in Tilbury. 

P
age 27



IMC Tilbury 
– 
conclusions 
and next 
steps 

• NHS remains fully committed to building the Tilbury IMC and closure of 
Orsett hospital by 2025. The NHS is finalising plans to fund design costs 
and meeting the net zero carbon.  

• The building will need some redesign work to address the issues and 
opportunities outlined on the previous slide. 

• The issue of car parking at Tilbury will need to be resolved before a 
planning application will be approved, although this will not be required 
to be resolved until before FBC stage.

• Tilbury IMC project board to develop a plan to undertake the redesign 
work. This will include costs and timelines.  

• The project team will be enhanced by senior programme management 
support.  

P
age 28



Grays IMC  

• The new Grays IMC will be based at the Thurrock Community Hospital (TCH) site

• NELFT and EPUT clinical services are already on site, some of which will split 
across the 4 IMCs once created.   There is also EPUT corporate teams.   

• Archus, a healthcare planning consultant, was appointed to review the use of 
existing space at TCH and this work is now complete. 

• The review confirms there is adequate space and potential site layouts for those 
services that will need to move onto site to create the IMC.  These include 
primary care services and Orsett service re-locations.  

• A modular build approach is recommended with interconnecting buildings to 
ensure integrated services. 

• The report highlights an opportunity to utilise existing admin space to a greater 
extent to reduce the need for additional admin space requirements on site. 

• Work is now underway to confirm the exact space needed for these services to 
develop an overall site masterplan and cost of development.   Expected by May 
2022.  

P
age 29



Primary care presence at Grays 
IMC
As part of ascertaining the future space requirements on site, an options 
appraisal is being undertaken by Archus with stake holders for primary care 
presence within IMC. The review will:

• Assess the future space requirement for primary care and PCN services.

• Produce a list of site options and appraise them on NHSE/I options 
assessment framework

• Production of high level Schedule of Accommodation for the shortlisted 
options.

• Produce construction cost estimates for the shortlisted options

• Proposed next steps and  report recommendations 

• Timeframe - 31st March 2022

P
age 30



Community Diagnostic Centres

• Community Diagnostic Centres are a nationally funded programme to increase diagnostic capacity. 
New one-stop-shops for checks, tests and scans in the heart of local communities will make services 
more accessible and convenient for patients  

• MSE System partners are working collaboratively to decide the best locations for the centres 

• This is new capacity with a focus on elective patients to support rapid access to tests and also help 
improve outcomes for patients with cancer and other serious conditions

• A national process is being established for systems to put their investment proposals forward. A 
time scale of three years for completion has been allocated with £2.3billion capital money nationally 
to build the centres

• An MSE system Board is being set up as part of the ICS governance arrangements to oversee 
programme. This will provide routine updates to HOSCS and Wellbeing Boards and proposals will 
ensure alignment to the Thurrock Integrated Medical Centre programme.  

P
age 31



Questions & Answers 

P
age 32





18 March 2022  ITEM: 6 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Board 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy refresh 

Wards and communities affected:  

All 

Key Decision:  

None 

Report of: Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health 

Accountable Director: Ian Wake, Director Adults, Housing & Health 

This report is Public 

 
Executive Summary 
 
This paper provides an update on progress in refreshing the Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
(HWBS) for 2022-26.   
 
The Board was previously updated on the Strategy refresh consultation exercise at its 
meeting in December 2021.  It was agreed that a consultation report and copy of the 
emerging draft strategy would be provided for member’s consideration at the meeting 
scheduled for February 2022.   
 
Following the consultation exercise a consultation report has been created and further work 
has been undertaken to ensure that proposals for the refreshed strategy reflect feedback 
that has been received.  This paper provides members with the draft consultation report at 
Annex A and a further iteration of the emerging draft strategy for members’ consideration. 
 
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1 That members  

 Consider the draft consultation report at Annex A and approve its publication 
and sharing with people who participated in the consultation exercise 

 Approve the proposal to create an Accessible web version and an Easy Read 
version of the strategy, improving accessibility 

 To note that upon finalising the Strategy Board will be asked to consider how 
to resource its ongoing monitoring and reporting and to ensure that the 
Strategy remains a live document 

 
2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 The Health & Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to produce a HWBS. The HWBS 

is a whole system plan for health & wellbeing and a means to engage all partners in 
the wellbeing agenda, co-ordinating strategic thinking of all elements of the council 
and all system partners to deliver quantifiable gains in health and wellbeing of 
residents. 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6





2.2 Thurrock agreed its first HWBS in 2013. The second and current HWBS was 
launched in July 2016 and can be accessed here: 
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/strategies/health-and-well-being-strategy 
 

2.3 The Proposals for the HWBS were developed by multi-agency stakeholders including 
Thurrock Council ADs and Subject Matter Experts. The Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWBB) considered the proposals for the HWBS at its meeting in July 2021, 
including the Vision, the 6 Domain structure, and plans to engage with the wider 
public.  A twelve week consultation exercise took place October-December 2021 and 
the proposed strategy has been further developed to reflect engagement outcomes.  
 

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1. Preparatory work with system partners and HWBB Chair to date has identified key 

influences on Health & Wellbeing and suggested that the HWBS needs to:  

 Be high level and strategic 

 Be highly ambitious and set out genuinely new plans rather than just describe 
what has already been done 

 Provide a clear narrative that drives the work of all aspects of the local authority, 
NHS and third sector 

 Address resident priorities and be co-designed with residents 

 Be place and locality based and take a strengths and assets approach, not 
focused only on deficits or services 

 
3.2. Proposals have been developed based around six areas of people’s lives, which we 

refer to as Domains, that cover the wider determinants of health and impact on 
people’s health and wellbeing. Through engagement with residents and 
stakeholders, 3 or 4 priority Goals have been identified for each Domain – with public 
feedback being used refine of these Goals for the final draft.  

 
3.3. Delivery of the ambitions within the Goals is underpinned by a number of key topic-

specific strategies (such as the Housing Strategy), plus the Local Plan and the 
Backing Thurrock Economic Growth Strategy. Content proposals in the draft HWBS 
have been agreed with leads for these other strategic plans. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34

https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/strategies/health-and-well-being-strategy




 
3.4. The duty to produce the HWBS statutorily falls to the HWBB. Democratic Services 

have advised that this means that final sign-off must be by the partnership HWBB, 
and all other Council committees and partner agency governance structures are 
consultees to the Strategy. The proposed governance timetable for formal sign-off of 
the HWBS is below – 

 

Action Date 

Directors Board - for 15 
June Cabinet Papers 12-May 22 

Cabinet 15-Jun 22 

Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 16-Jun 22 

Deadline for papers to Full 
Council – to request 
extension by one day to 
enable HOSC to consider 

16 Jun 22  
 

Papers published for HWBB 17 Jun 22 

Health & Wellbeing Board 24-Jun 22 

Full Council 29-Jun 22 

    

 
 
4. Consultation outcomes 
 
4.1 A summary of the consultation exercise is provided below.  A full consultation report is 

provide at Annex A. 
 

4.2 Over 750 comments were received through the short ‘user friendly’ questionnaire which 
sought the public’s views on the six Domains that have been proposed for the refreshed 
Strategy.   In excess of 300 residents or professionals involved in the planning, 
commissioning or delivery or health and care services provided feedback on strategy 
consultation proposals through community and professional forums and meetings. 

 
4.3 Officers attended Scrutiny Committees and a range of stakeholder meetings to seek 

feedback.  Direct face to face engagement was impacted by COVID-19 but Thurrock 
CVS engaged directly with residents and also ran two workshops comprising 
representatives from several CVS organisations operating in Thurrock. 

 
4.4 Key themes arising in feedback comprised: 
 

Accessibility 
 

IT, digital exclusion.  Feedback provided by elected members was reinforced 
by respondents across responding to priorities across a number of domains.  
It was acknowledged that digital exclusion is increasingly a barrier for some 
people to access services. It was felt that alternatives routes to access were 

Page 35





still required and that services could not be completely digitally accessed as 
this would exclude some individuals. 
 
Geographical locations and the importance of providing opportunities to 
access to residents across the borough through affordable and well 
connected public transport, active travel, provision of local based services and 
support  
 
Capacity of services – access to primary care, mental health support and 
wider services and support was a key theme within feedback.   

 
Informing residents 
 

Effectively communicating with residents using a range of methods 
Recognising that a range of approaches to community engagement and 
empowerment are needed - for example, online and social media approaches 
to engagement will not reach all community members, including many who 
are more vulnerable   
 
Feedback recognised people wanting to improve their own health and 
wellbeing and the importance of providing information and guidance to 
facilitate that.    
 
Communicating with residents and raise awareness of support and options 
that are available to them, single points of contact / lead support to help 
people navigate the system. 

 
The Environment 
 

Mitigating the impact of housing and commercial developments by ensuring 
that supporting infrastructure is in place and developments consider health 
and wellbeing.   
 
Providing access to green and open spaces, public transport and active travel 
across the borough. 
 
Opportunities for people to remain active and socialise in a safe environment. 
The importance of supporting improvements in Air Quality. 
 

Mental Health 
 

The impact of COVID on social isolation and loneliness and the adverse 
impact it has had on groups already marginalized   

 
Respondents welcomed the refreshed Strategy providing specific focus on the 
provision of mental health support for residents, including access to mental 
health support, with appropriate capacity and timeliness of services. 
 
The link between mental ill health and wider determinants of health such as 
long-term unemployment was acknowledged, a focus on employment and 
growth in relation to mental health was welcomed 

 
5. Refining proposals for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 

Page 36





5.1. Proposals for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy have been refined further 
to reflect consultation outcomes.  These changes in response to community feedback 
are detailed in Annex A. Three versions of the refreshed Strategy will be available, 
including the main public version of the refreshed Strategy.   
 

5.2. It is proposed that the other two versions will be produced upon the final strategy 
domains and goals being approved and text being finalised (ie during the pre-election 
period) These will comprise: 

 An Accessible version to comply with website publication guidance 

 An Easy Read version, being produced in conjunction with Inclusive 
Communication Essex Team, Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
5.3. A partnership version of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy will additionally comprise 

the main strategy document plus a series of Appendices providing more detailed 
information on each of the domains and underpinning priorities for professional 
stakeholders, including governance arrangements for each of the priorities.  This will 
support the effective monitoring and reporting of specific priorities to the Board via 
the appropriate governance structures. These Appendices are proposed to comprise: 

 The 6 HWB Domains in detail including for each: supporting narrative, 
challenges, impact of COVID-19, key outcomes, impact and delivery mechanisms  

 Community & Stakeholder Consultation & Engagement Report (ie Appx A) 

 Healthwatch / CVS / Ngage Engagement Report 

 Impact of Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 in more detail, including key 
achievements 

 
5.4. The strategy document will set out the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board and 

the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  To provide context, data will be included which 
sets out inequalities that most impact on people’s health and wellbeing.   
 

5.5. The proposed Strategy has a Vision of Levelling the Playing Field and tackling 
inequalities is reflected throughout the Strategy.  Each of the 6 Domains has 3-4 
Goals which set out specific ambitions improve outcomes and specifically level the 
playing field and address inequalities, alongside actions that will be taken to achieve 
this. 

 
5.6. On the Domains and Goals being agreed and finalised, further work will be 

undertaken to establish baselines or appropriate ways of monitoring and reporting 
progress to the Board.   

 
6. Reasons for Recommendation 

 
6.1. The Health & Wellbeing Board (HWBB) has a collective statutory duty to produce a 

HWBS. It is one of two highest level statutory strategic documents for the Local 
Authority and system partners, the other being the Local Plan. The statutory status of 
the document means that the new Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) must have 
regard to it when planning their own strategy. 

 
7. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
7.1. The proposals in this paper reflect substantial consultation with professionals and the 

public.   
 

Page 37





8. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community impact 
 
8.1. The HWBS is one of three highest Place Shaping strategic documents for the Local 

Authority and system partners, the other being the Local Plan and Backing Thurrock 
Economic Development plan. It is a whole system plan for health & wellbeing and a 
means to engage all partners in the wellbeing agenda, co-ordinating strategic 
thinking of all elements of the council and all system partners to deliver quantifiable 
gains in health and wellbeing of residents.  

 
8.2. In order to support delivery of the Council’s Vision, the 6 Domains of the HWBS 

Strategy each relate to one of the Council’s key priorities of People, Place and 
Prosperity, as outlined in the attached slide set. 

 
9. Implications 
 
9.1 Financial 

 
*Implications previously verified have not changed.   
 
The cost associated with the strategy refresh will be delivered within existing budgets 
or agreed through existing Council and partner agencies governance finance 
arrangements. 
 

9.2 Legal 
 
*Implications previously verified have not changed.   
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established a responsibility for Councils and 
CCGs to jointly prepare Health and Wellbeing Strategies for the local area as defined 
by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

9.3 Diversity and Equality 
 
Implications verified by: Becky Lee 

 Community Development and Equalities Team 
  

Implications have not changed since previous approval provided in July 2021. 
The aim of the strategy is to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of 
Thurrock and reduce health and wellbeing inequalities. A community equality impact 
assessment (CEIA) will underpin the strategy and mitigate the risk of disproportionate 
negative impact for protected groups. This approach will ensure the strategy itself 
and implementation supports delivery of the council’s equality objectives while 
maintaining compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty.  
 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, Crime and 
Disorder, or Impact on Looked After Children) 
 
The refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy will facilitate crime and disorder 
priorities that relate specifically to health and wellbeing, further strengthening the 
relationship between the Health and Wellbeing Board and Community Safety 
Partnership. The focus of the strategy is to broadly focus on addressing inequalities 
in Thurrock. 
 

Page 38





8. Appendices to the report 
 
 Annex A – Public Consultation & Engagement Report 
 
Report Authors:  Dr Jo Broadbent, Director for Public Health 

Darren Kristiansen, Business Manager AHH, Secretary to HWB 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh 
Consultation Report 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 41



2 
 

 
 

Introduction 
 

1. This report sets out feedback provided by Thurrock residents on proposals that have 
been developed to support the refresh of Thurrock’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(HWBS). 

 
Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Board and Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

2. Thurrock Council is required by law to establish a Health and Wellbeing Board.  
The Health and Wellbeing Board includes representatives of different local 
organisations that are responsible for and involved in providing services and support 
to Thurrock residents that impact on their health and wellbeing.   
 

3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible for creating and overseeing 
Thurrock’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, a statutory requirement.   The aim of 
the strategy is to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Thurrock and 
reduce health and wellbeing inequalities 

  
4. The HWBS is one of two highest level strategic documents for the Local 

Authority and system partners, the other being the Local Plan. It is a whole 
system plan for health & wellbeing and a means to engage all partners in the 
wellbeing agenda, co-ordinating strategic thinking of all elements of the council and 
all system partners to deliver quantifiable gains in health and wellbeing of residents.   
The second and current 5 Year Strategy was launched in July 2016 and has run for 5 
years.   

 
Refreshing and updating the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
Evidence informing the strategy proposals 
 

5. Since the Strategy’s launch in 2016 there have been nationally driven changes 
made to local health structures and the creation of the Mid and South Essex 
Health and Care Partnership and further development of Integrated Care 
Systems, which impact on the way in which health services are planned and 
commissioned for the residents of Thurrock.   
 

6. Further work has also been undertaken to understand inequalities and the 
wider determinants of health and wellbeing in Thurrock.  This has involved 
informally engaging system experts as well as reflecting key policy and research 
documents including JSNAs, including: 

• JSNA Looked after children 
• JSNA Special Educational Needs and Disability 
• JSNA Sexual Violence and Abuse 
• JSNA Mental Health  
• APHR Violence and vulnerability 
• Wider Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership material 
• YOS Action Plan 

Page 42

https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/hwb-strategy-2016-v03.pdf


3 
 

• SEND written statement of action 
• Prevention Concordat 
• Children’s Safeguarding 
• Children looked after reports 
• Suicide Prevention 
• Education Strategy 
• Homelessness Hostels, Housing First and Crisis Intervention 
• Children’s MOU Brighter Futures 
• Adult Social Care Transformation Prospectus 

 

7. The evidence made clear that the refreshed Strategy should continue to 

provide action on the wider determinants of Health including housing, the 

environment, education and employment and community safety and the impact of 

crime on health and wellbeing.   

 

1 

 

8. The evidence demonstrates the importance of population health which is an 

approach that aims to improve physical and mental health outcomes, promote 

wellbeing and reduce health inequalities across an entire population.  It is 

proposed that the refreshed Strategy reflects the Kings Fund report, A vision for 

population health, Towards a healthier future by focussing on action that reflects the 

wider determinants of health; our health behaviours and lifestyles; the places and 

communities we live in; an integrated health and care system. 

 

9. The importance of engaging, informing and empowering residents and local 

communities is acknowledged by the Health and Wellbeing Board and partners.  

Proposals were provided to support the building of strong, cohesive communities and 

working in partnership with communities to ensure that they are able to direct how 

resource is being used.   

                                                           
1 Reference:  The Kings Fund (2018) A vision for population health - Towards a healthier future; 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-population-health 

Page 43

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-population-health


4 
 

 

10. Evidence shows us that Thurrock experiences inequalities both as a whole when 

compared to England and also within the borough.  Life Expectancy for Thurrock 

has fallen below the England average in the past 10 years.  Inequalities and an 

uneven playing field are experienced by many different community groups within 

Thurrock in different ways. This includes people of different genders, ages, 

ethnicities, socio-economic status and LGBTQ+ people. Across Thurrock there is a 9 

year life expectancy gap between men and a 6 year gap for women between those 

living in the most and least affluent communities.   

Proposals for the refreshed Strategy 
 

11. Proposals for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy have been arranged 
around 6 key influences on health, wellbeing and inequalities. These include 
support for individuals to live more healthily as well as wider determinants of health 
such as education and housing. The six areas that impact on people’s health and 
wellbeing are: 

1. Staying Healthier for Longer; 
2. Building Strong & Cohesive Communities; 
3. Person Led Health & Care; 
4. Opportunity for All; 
5. Housing & the Environment; and 
6. Community Safety 

 

12. Each of the proposed areas of people’s lives that impact on their health and 

wellbeing we have referred to as “domains”. Each domain is underpinned by several 

proposed priorities. 

 

13. The overarching Vision for the refresh, agreed by Thurrock Health and 

Wellbeing Board is “Levelling the Playing Field”.  Each of the six proposed 

domains identifies ambitious actions to do that. The public’s views have been 

sought on these proposals as part of a formal Consultation process.   

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 44



5 
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy consultation exercise 
 

14. Public consultation was initially planned for an eight weeks period to commence on 
Wednesday 13 October and close on Friday 3 December.  However, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board agreed to extend the consultation period to 31 December to ensure 
wide and representative input from the community. 
 

Methods of engagement 
 

15. Engagement was impacted by reduced opportunities for face to face contact due to 
COVID-19, but there were a variety of ways that people could get involved and 
provide their views on proposals for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 
 
Have your say online.  Residents and partners could provide feedback by 
considering the proposals and submitting their comments online through the 
Council’s consultation portal.   
 
A short ‘user friendly’ questionnaire was disseminated to the public  
A short questionnaire was created in partnership with Thurrock CVS and 
Healthwatch who led on making it available in public spaces across the borough 
including libraries and community hubs.    
 
Have your say face-to-face 
The consultation was supported by Healthwatch Thurrock and Thurrock CVS 
(Community & Voluntary Services). People from these independent organisations 
attended events across the borough and run community sessions to ask what 
residents what they thought about the proposals, supporting them to complete the 
short user friendly questionnaire. 
 
Two workshops were also held which comprised audiences representing CVS 
organisations. 
 
Invitations to community meetings and forums / partnership meetings 
Community forums and community groups were encouraged to invite officers and 
CVS partners to their existing community events and meetings.   
 

 
 
Key partners and interested professionals were encouraged to invite officers to 
meetings to discuss the refresh.   
 
Have your say at a workshop 
Residents wishing to have more detailed discussions were offered bespoke 
workshops, arranged subject to demand.   

 
 
 

Page 45



6 
 

Promotion and awareness raising 
 

16. To support awareness raising and promotion of the consultation exercise, materials 
were developed to provide a consistent, recognisable approach for raising 
awareness of the consultation exercise.  These included branding, standard text 
to share information about and promote the consultation exercise and posters 
providing a QR code to the consultation portal. 
 

17. Substantial and sustained communication and engagement activity has taken 
place to raise awareness of the consultation exercise amongst residents and 
partners.  This has included: 

 A press release issued in October 

 Targeted emails and promotional material circulated by officers across the 
Council, the CCG and the Council’s Corporate Communications teams, 
Thurrock CVS and Health Watch  

 Regular promotional material made available through social media including 
Twitter and Facebook. 

 A banner being included in Housing News enewsletter, Business Buzz 
enewsletter, Essex Violence & Vulnerability Unit newsletter 

 Promoted on the Council’s staff Intranet carousel and on the Thurrock Council 
website carousel 

 Attendance at strategic and operational partnership meetings such as 
Thurrock Integrated Care Partnership (TICP) 

 Inclusion in all editions of Thurrock News resident newsletter throughout the 
consultation period  

 Inclusion in Team Thurrock, the Council’s weekly staff enewsletter  

 Promoted as part of the Council’s Chief Executive’s weekly blog and 
engagement of all council employees  

 Discussion at Director’s Board, and Council DMT and Overview & Scrutiny 
meetings 

 Discussion at Conservative and Labour Group meetings 

 Attendance at community forums and events including the Aveley Charrettes 
Local Plan, the Purfleet on Thames Community Forum and the Thurrock 
Diversity Network. 

 Promotion via the Council Portal newsletter, reaching over 4000 residents. 

 Joint engagement with other key plans such as the Local Plan and the 
Housing Strategy 

 Attendance at the following key strategic meetings: 
o Community Safety Partnership 
o Violence & Vulnerability Board 
o Brighter Futures Board 
o CCG Board – didn’t specifically talk about this at Board but it was in 

the AHH Update paper 
o CCG Clinical Professionals Forum  
o Mid & South Essex Integrated Care System Health Inequalities 

Oversight Group 
 
  

Page 46



7 
 

 

 
 

Consultation Exercise Outcomes 
 
Report structure 
 

18. The remainder of this report sets out the responses received to each of the 
proposals made as part of the consultation exercise.  What follows is an 
executive summary setting out key findings and recommendations on how the 
refreshed Strategy can reflect feedback received.   

 
19. The executive summary is informed by detailed analysis of feedback received as 

follows: 
 

Levelling the playing field, reflecting feedback provided through the online portal 
and attendance at partnership and professional meetings.   
 
The six proposed domains, reflecting feedback provided through the online portal, 
completed short ‘easy read’ questionnaires, and attendance at partnership and 
professional meetings.  
 
The six proposed domains and proposed priorities in more detail, reflecting 
feedback provided through the online portal and attendance at community forums 
and partnership and professional meetings.   

 Domain 1.  Healthier for Longer (including mental health); 

 Domain 2.  Building Strong and Cohesive Communities;   

 Domain 3.  Person-Led Health and Care;   

 Domain 4.  Opportunity for All;   

 Domain 5.  Housing and the Environment; and   

 Domain 6.  Community Safety.  
 

20. Each section of the report sets out ideas and recommendations on how the 
proposals could reflect feedback received.   
 

21. Respondents providing feedback through the Council’s online portal were provided 
with opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  
Respondents tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  
Some priorities were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included 
elsewhere in the Strategy.  This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis 
of new priorities proposed within each domain. 

 
  

Page 47



8 
 

 
Summary of Consultation feedback 
 

22. Engagement through the Council’s online portal comprised over 1500 visits to 
the portal.  Respondents did not have to complete the whole survey and could 
provide feedback on areas of interest to them.  Feedback was provided on the 
proposals over 250 times. 

 

Domain and priorities Visitors 
Number of 

responses 

 Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy’s focus on levelling the 

playing field 
305 106 

An overview of the proposed Domains for the refreshed Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy 
143 66 

Domains in focus - 1: Healthier for Longer (including Mental Health) 112 28 

 Domains in focus - 2: Building Strong and Cohesive Communities 56 15 

 Domains in focus - 3: Person led health and care 72 23 

 Domains in focus - 4: Opportunity for all 45 15 

 Domains in focus - 5: Housing and the environment 96 19 

 Domains in focus - 6: Community Safety 63 18 

 
23. Over 750 comments were received through the short ‘user friendly’ 

questionnaire which sought the public’s views on the six domains that have been 
proposed for the refreshed Strategy.   
 

24. In excess of 300 residents or professionals involved in the planning, 
commissioning or delivery or health and care services provided feedback on 
strategy consultation proposals through community and professional forums and 
meetings. 
 

Page 48



9 
 

25. Officers were not asked to run a workshop that was offered as part of the 
consultation exercise by members of the public, community forums or partnership 
meetings. 
 

26. The two CVS workshops comprised representatives from several CVS 
organisations operating in Thurrock. 

 
27. The consultation period has taken place during the COVID Pandemic, possibility 

adversely impacting the number of consultation responses received.   It is also 
acknowledged that the overall number of responses received do not provide a 
representative or statistically significant sample but remains reasonably substantial.  
However, the feedback provided by the public and professionals will inform the 
final strategy’s development, as set out throughout this report. 

 
Summary of key findings and themes arising from feedback provided 

 
28. Feedback provided on the proposed domains and priorities has been overwhelmingly 

supportive.   
 

29. Key themes include: 
 

.Accessibility 
 

IT, digital exclusion.  Feedback provided by elected members was reinforced 
by respondents across responding to priorities across a number of domains.  
It was acknowledged that digital exclusion is increasingly a barrier for some 
people to access services. It was felt that alternatives routes to access were 
still required and that services could not be completely digitally accessed as 
this would exclude some individuals. 
 
Geographical locations and the importance of providing opportunities to 
access to residents across the borough through affordable and well 
connected public transport, active travel, provision of local based services and 
support  
 
Capacity of services – access to primary care, mental health support and 
wider services and support was a key theme within feedback.   

 
Informing residents 
 

Effectively communicating with residents using a range of methods 
Recognising that a range of approaches to community engagement and 
empowerment are needed - for example, online and social media approaches 
to engagement will not reach all community members, including many who 
are more vulnerable   
 
Feedback recognised people wanting to improve their own health and 
wellbeing and the importance of providing information and guidance to 
facilitate that.    
 
Communicating with residents and raise awareness of support and options 
that are available to them, single points of contact / lead support to help 
people navigate the system. 

 

Page 49



10 
 

The Environment 
Mitigating the impact of housing and commercial developments by ensuring 
that supporting infrastructure is in place and developments consider health 
and wellbeing.   
 
Providing access to green and open spaces, public transport and active travel 
across the borough. 
 
Opportunities for people to remain active and socialise in a safe environment. 
The importance of supporting improvements in Air Quality. 
 

Mental Health 
The impact of COVID on social isolation and loneliness and the adverse 
impact it has had on groups already marginalized   

 
Respondents welcomed the refreshed Strategy providing specific focus on the 
provision of mental health support for residents, including access to mental 
health support, with appropriate capacity and timeliness of services. 
 
The link between mental ill health and wider determinants of health such as 
long-term unemployment was acknowledged, a focus on employment and 
growth in relation to mental health was welcomed 

 
Proposals in more focus 

 
30. The remainder of this document sets out detailed feedback received in response to 

the specific proposals.   
 

Levelling the playing field 
 

31. A key theme proposed for the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy is 
levelling the playing field.  This is to address many groups of people within 
Thurrock experience an uneven playing field in different ways. This includes people 
of different genders, ages, ethnicities, socio-economic status and LGBTQ+ people.  
 

32. Some examples of uneven playing fields that affect health and wellbeing in 
Thurrock include: 

• Thurrock has a smoking prevalence of 17.5%. This is in the top quarter of 

authorities nationally and is highest in the eight most deprived Wards in 

Thurrock. Smoking is a key driver of inequalities in life expectancy. 

• Circulatory diseases are more common in people living in more deprived 

areas and some ethnic minority groups, are the greatest cause of deaths 

linked to deprivation in Thurrock. 

• Crime disproportionately affects some community groups, including women 

and girls, individuals with mental health problems or with physical or learning 

disabilities, and those from ethnic minority backgrounds. 

• Educational attainment inequality is experienced by children that are living in 

families that are more deprived, have SEND, are children looked after or are 

from some ethnic minority groups. 

• The COVID-19 pandemic has worsened inequalities in many aspects of life, 

including mental ill health, social isolation & loneliness, experiencing 

violence or abuse, and unemployment – with young workers (under 25) and 

Page 50



11 
 

older workers (over 65) most likely to have left employment and remain 

economically inactive due to the pandemic. 

• Inequalities in mental health and access to mental health services are 

experienced by many different people, including men, young people, older 

adults, those living in deprived circumstances, minority ethnic groups, 

asylum seekers and refugees, post-partum women, Carers, those living with 

long term health conditions, LGBTQ+ people, people with learning 

disabilities, and homeless people. 

• People living in rural areas may experience poorer access to transport, 

broadband and other amenities. 

 
33. Taken together, the impact of this means that overall life expectancy in Thurrock has 

fallen below the England average in the past 10 years. Within Thurrock itself, the life 
expectancy gap at birth between the most and least affluent communities is 6.4 years 
for women and 8.7 years for men.  
 

34. Feedback was provided on levelling the playing field by residents who completed the 
online survey on the Council’s consultation portal and partners attending meetings 
involving health and care system professionals.    
 

35. Several health inequalities experienced by residents of Thurrock were 
identified.  Respondents providing feedback through the Council’s online portal were 
asked to nominate which of the inequalities identified should be addressed as a 
priority. 

 

 
 

36. Over 50% of the 103 respondents providing feedback to this question on the 
online portal had experienced one or more of the inequalities outlined.  Providing 
mental health support for people was considered the most important inequality 
to be addressed.  A number of respondents referenced the impact of COVID on 
social isolation and loneliness and the adverse impact it has had on groups already 
marginalized.  Respondents also raised concerns about access to mental health 
support, the capacity of services and existing waiting lists.  The impact of 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Smoking
prevalence

Circulatory
diseases

Crime Educational
Attainment

COVID-19
related

inequalities

Mental
Health and

Mental
Health

Services

Access to
amenities

for those in
rural areas

Feedback on inequalities to be addressed as a 
priority in the refreshed Strategy

Page 51



12 
 

COVID was acknowledged, particularly in relation to an increase in demand.  
Respondents welcomed the refreshed Strategy providing specific focus on the 
provision of mental health support for residents.   
 

37. Feedback welcomed the refreshed Strategy reflecting the wider determinants of 
health. Respondents acknowledged the relationships between educational 
outcomes, employment and crime as well as the impact of housing on mental health 
and wellbeing.   Feedback from a number of respondents referenced the impact 
of the built environment and development within Thurrock on air quality.  
Ensuring that housing development is underpinned by supporting infrastructure to 
support population increases, including spaces to exercise, remain active and 
socialise.   
 

38. Respondents also acknowledged the impact of COVID on wider service 

accessibility, including creating increases in demand as well as addressing potential 

backlogs impacted by COVID, particularly in relation to Primary Care.   

 

39. Feedback referenced the impact of crime and health and wellbeing and the 

importance of increasing visibility and local community guardianship as part of 

improving public confidence.   Respondents welcomed preventative approaches 

being adopted to reduce the likelihood of young people entering the criminal justice 

system.  Feedback also reflected concerns about substance misuse and its impact 

on crime and resident’s health and wellbeing across Thurrock.   

An overview of the six proposed domains 
 

40. Feedback on the proposed domains was captured through the online portal and 
completion of the ‘user friendly’ questionnaires.  Feedback was also provided through 
attendance at community forums and partnership meetings. 
 

41. Consultees were asked to provide feedback on the six domains proposed for the 
refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 

o Domain 1 – Healthier for Longer (including Mental Health)  
o Domain 2 – Building Strong & Cohesive Communities  
o Domain 3 –Person-Led Health and Care  
o Domain 4 – Opportunity for All   
o Domain 5 – Housing and the Environment   
o Domain 6 – Community Safety  

 
Respondents were asked if the six domains represent the areas of people’s 
lives that most affect their health and wellbeing. 
 

Page 52



13 
 

 
42. The vast majority of people providing feedback through the user friendly 

questionnaire and the Council’s online portal agreed that the proposed domains 
affect areas of people’s lives that most impact on health and wellbeing.   

 Some respondents questioned the order of the domains and how they 
are prioritised.  The final strategy should reflect that the domains are not 
ordered in priority but to support their identification and communicating 
about them.   

 Some respondents welcomed the refreshed strategy focusing on 
providing access and support for mental health and supporting people 
to lead healthier lifestyles through, for example, smoking cessation and 
support for people with long term conditions.   Feedback welcomed focus 
being provided on supporting people with recovery. 

 Further support was welcomed for people to remain healthy, including 
more frequent access to health checks and access to affordable 
activities for all residents.  Suggestions included access to open and 
green spaces, with particular focus being provided on accessibility 
specifically people with physical disabilities and mental health needs, 
including SEN. 

 
43. Feedback received that did not agree tended to raise concerns about the 

accessibility of services, in particular primary care services and the availability 
of facilities such as blood test centres.   
 

44. Feedback welcomed more focus being provided to people living on their own 
and the impact of social isolation and loneliness.   Feedback also welcomed the 
Strategy focusing on building community cohesion and developing communities 
events/activities aimed at bringing communities together. 
 

45. Feedback recognised the importance of the refreshed Strategy being 
accessible and understandable to the residents of Thurrock, supporting ongoing 
engagement. 

 
Question:  Respondents were asked if there are there any other areas that most 
impact on people’s health and wellbeing that should be considered for 
inclusion in the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Yes No Unsure

Do the proposed domains affect areas of 
people's lives that most impact on health and 

wellbeing

User Friendly Quesionnaire Online Portal responses

Page 53



14 
 

 
46.  Responses to the user friendly questionnaire and those providing feedback 

through the Council’s online portal agreed that there are other areas that should be 
considered for inclusion in the Strategy.  Feedback provided tended to reinforce 
areas proposed for the refreshed strategy and feedback provided to the prior 
question.  Key themes included: 

 Access to quality housing and the necessary infrastructure to support 
population growth and housing developments to support health and 
wellbeing. 

 The quality and accessibility of services including mental health and access to 
primary care.  The importance of virtual and face to face support and services 
being accessible locally or by using public transport. 

 Support to develop communities in terms of community cohesion and 
communities getting to know one another, building community resilience and 
support. 

 Communicating support that is available to residents to enable them to 
access the most appropriate support and supporting people with their own 
health and wellbeing by awareness raising and education, advice and 
guidance.   

 The impact of the built environment.  For example, the accessibility of 
takeaways and fast food and the availability of affordable indoor activities as 
well as the provision of green and open spaces that are accessible to all 
residents, specifically people with physical disabilities and mental health 
needs, including SEN. 

 The importance of education, training and access to employment 
opportunities in Thurrock for local residents. 

 Community safety, crime and the fear of crime and the importance of 
prevention and diversionary activities and support. Feedback welcomed the 
refreshed Strategy providing focus on the importance of designing in crime 
reduction and health improvement.   

 Welcomed residents being more involved in decision making, set out in 
domain 2.   

 
47. Some feedback focussed on the importance of specific services and support which 

included the availability of nail cutting services, improved maternity services. Local 
blood testing and support for new and young families the frequency of services, such 
as bin collections on the local environment and health and wellbeing. 
 

48. Some feedback welcomed more focus being provided to the impact of climate 
change within the proposed domain focussing on housing and the environment.   
 

49. This was supported by the Resource Place and Delivery group which suggested that 
climate change is a key impact on health and wellbeing that is missing from the 
proposed Strategy.  This was further supported by a number of respondents who 
raised concerns about the impact of air quality in the borough who attended and 
provided feedback through community forums. 

 
50. As set out earlier in this report feedback suggests that more prominence is provided 

in the revised Strategy to mental health, including social isolation and loneliness, and 
tackling substance misuse.  Feedback has also suggested that the refreshed 
Strategy could include more focus on climate change.   

 

Page 54



15 
 

51. Feedback provided by SERICC’s welcomed the refreshed Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy making explicit references and links to the national Women’s Health 
Strategy for England. 

 
52. Feedback provided by attendees at one of the two CVS workshops, elected 

members and members of the public attending community forums suggested that the 
refreshed strategy should provide more focus on the importance of Arts and Culture 
on people’s health and wellbeing and supporting the reduction in social isolation.  
 

53. Some feedback welcomed confirmation on what the refreshed strategy will mean in 
practice. 

 
Respondents were asked to provide any other feedback they wished to make 
about the proposed areas of focus (domains) for the refreshed Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

 
54.  Over 130 comments were received through the Council’s online portal and 

the user friendly questionnaire which included themes similar to the previous 
questions: 

 Access to housing, the impact of housing quality and maintenance was 
reflected in feedback. 

 The impact of development in particular industrial development and strategic 
development such as the Lower Thames Crossing was raised as a concern in 
feedback provided.  The importance of road maintenance and the provision of 
spaces to facilitate health and wellbeing was reiterated. 

 Providing affordable access to facilities to support health and wellbeing and 
the impact of additional costs including parking fees for leisure facilities.  
Providing support to access services and activities through public transport 
and support for actively travelling across the borough. 

 Recognition of capacity of Primary Care (GPs) in Thurrock and the merits of 
ensuring residents are aware of support that is available and how this might 
enable people to access the right support, improving both timeliness of 
access and availability. 

 Access to services including face to face was raised as a concern in feedback 
provided throughout the consultation, the impact of COVID and consideration 
being given to how to reduce waiting lists and the type of support that could 
be provided while they are on waiting to access specialist services. 

 
55. C and G Overview and Scrutiny Committee questioned if the strategy was bold or 

radical enough to actually tackle the huge problem of health equality. 
 

56. Some feedback received reflected a lack of confidence in the Strategy making a 
difference and reassurance progress against its priorities will be monitored and 
reported to the public. 

 
  

Page 55



16 
 

 

 
 

Domain 1.  Healthier for Longer (including mental health) 
 

57. Feedback was provided on this domain by residents who completed the online 
survey on the Council’s consultation portal and members of the public and partners 
attending community forums and meetings involving health and care system 
professionals.    
 

Aims and ambitions 
 

58. The proposed aim and ambition for this domain is to improve the prevention, 
identification and management of physical and mental health conditions, to ensure 
people live as long as possible in good health.   

 

There is an identified inequality of health and life expectancy across Thurrock, 
including between different ethnicities, genders, socioeconomic groups, and those 
with mental health problems. In Thurrock, all age and premature death (<75 years) 
is significantly worse than England average overall, and specifically for cancer and 
circulatory disease deaths. This is related to socioeconomic deprivation and is a 
key factor in the life expectancy gap between communities.  There is a gap in life 
expectancy at birth between the most and least affluent communities in Thurrock of 
6.4 years for women and of 8.7 years for men. Women in the most deprived areas 
experience 22 years of their shorter life span in poor health. A similar pattern is 
seen for men. We want the differences in health and life expectancy between 
communities across Thurrock to be reduced.   
 
Smoking is the largest single contributor to health inequalities, accounting for half 
the difference in life expectancy between the most and least deprived communities. 
Thurrock has one of the highest smoking prevalence rates in England.  We want to 
reduce smoking prevalence in Thurrock. 
 
We know that 70% of adults are overweight or obese in Thurrock and childhood 
obesity is significantly worse in Thurrock than England.  We want obesity and 
physical inactivity to fall across all ages. 
 
A range of health risks are associated with poor mental health, including high rates 
of smoking, obesity and Long Term health Conditions (LTCs). There are estimated 
high rates of undiagnosed mental health conditions, which have been worsened 
during the COVID-19 pandemic and affect a broad range of groups and ages 
across the community.  We want people to be able to access high quality and 
timely physical and mental health support when they need it.  
 

 

Page 56



17 
 

People providing their views on the council’s online portal were asked if they 
are supportive of the ambitions aims and ambitions for the domain.   
 

59. All participants responding to this question supported the aims and ambitions that 
were proposed. 
 

60. Key themes arising from comments provided by respondents comprise: 
a. Acknowledging the need to adopt a whole person approach for supporting 

health and wellbeing; 
b. The benefits of prevention through education and awareness raising; and 
c. Capacity and accessible services, with availability of face to face support, 

including people accessing the most appropriate professionals to support and 
manage their health needs.  This is a key theme throughout the consultation 
exercise. 

d. Welcoming support for people living with LTCs as well as developing support 
for people living with new and emerging LTCs including potentially Long 
COVID and Fibromyalgia.  

 
Proposed priorities 
 

61. A set of priorities identified to underpin this domain’s aims and objectives and how 
they might be achieved were proposed.     
 
Respondents were asked whether they supported each of the priorities and 
agreed with proposals on how they might be achieved. 
 

62. The majority of consultation respondents agreed with the four priorities proposed 
within this domain.   
 

 
 

63. Respondents that were unsure or did not agree with the proposed priorities 
questioned whether questioned whether changing health behaviours was something 
Thurrock services could influence and welcomed more detail on how the proposals 
will be delivered.  
 

64. Some respondents welcomed focus also being provided on tackling wider substance 
misuse, particularly as this would contribute towards delivering outcomes in other 
strategy domains, particularly domain 6. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Priority 1A Priority 1B Priority 1C Priority 1D

Question:  Do you support the priorities?

Yes No Unsure

Page 57



18 
 

 

65. Feedback provided by respondents in response to levelling the playing field 
questions, described earlier in this report, prioritised mental health services and 
support above both smoking and prioritising Prioritise Post-COVID-19 Service 
Recovery and Reset to meet New and Worsening Health Needs as inequalities to be 
addressed within the refreshed Strategy. 
 
 

Proposed Priority 1A   
Work with communities to reduce smoking and obesity in Thurrock  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Implement a whole system plan for tobacco control and obesity, including 
focusing on priority groups including children & young people, pregnant 
women and minority ethnic groups. 

b. Work in partnership with communities and the voluntary sector to reduce 
inequalities through reducing smoking, obesity, and lack of physical 
activity. 

c. Embed smoking cessation in all relevant health & care pathways, 
including mental health and maternity pathways 

 

 
66. Feedback received on priority 1A and how it might be achieved included: 

 Prevention and working in schools to stop people smoking in the first place 
was referenced by some respondents.  For example, some respondents 
wanted to see an increase in social media communications activities, which 
might include reinforcing the impacts of smoking and obesity on an 
individuals’ wider health and wellbeing. 

 A number of respondents acknowledged the importance of providing safe, 
maintained spaces within which people can exercise and access to green 
spaces. 

 Almost half of the respondents agreed with the proposals on how the priority 
will be achieved. Forty percent of respondents were unsure, with some 
requiring further information.   

 The need to target hard to reach groups, working across different 
geographical locations and communities of interest.     

 
67. Feedback from delegates attending one of the two CVS workshops welcomed 

progress that has been made in supporting individuals with reducing smoking, 
obesity and lack of physical activity.  It was acknowledged that the Strategy 
proposals consider how best to support people with complex needs, within domain 3, 
Person Led Health and Care.      

68. Feedback from residents attending community forums highlighted the impact of the 
environment on tackling obesity, including how effectively managing the proportion of 
fast food shops across the borough could impact on supporting people to eat 
healthier. 
 

69. Feedback from Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee reinforced 
smoking and obesity being key to improving health. In relation to obesity, the 
committee felt that consideration should be provided to: 

 Support access to gyms and other physical activity opportunities for those on 
low incomes eg as per the current PH Weight Management initiative – 
potentially further utilising social prescribing to improve health outcomes. 

Page 58



19 
 

 Consider how to limit the number / influence the locations of take away 
services, noting the rise in home delivery for fast food may be creating further 
challenges.    

 The impact of the wider environment was highlighted by the Resource, Place 
and Delivery Group through describing how health and wellbeing strategy 
goals can be aligned to the approach for regeneration.  For example, creating 
vegetable gardens as part of regeneration to aid access to fresh fruit and 
vegetables. 

 
70. Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee also reinforced the importance of 

providing access to physical activity amenities for all ages and abilities.  For example, 
outdoor gym equipment for older people as well as younger; provision of picnic 
benches that can be used by people with physical disabilities. 
 

Proposed Priority 1B 
Work together to improve prevention of ill health and promotion of good 
health in all communities to reduce Health Inequalities in Thurrock 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Make prevention of ill health and promotion of good health everybody’s 
business – with system-wide action to promote good physical and mental 
health for all, and address barriers to staying healthy in all communities 
including those experiencing multiple deprivation and marginalization 

b. All Health, Care and Council strategies in Thurrock should identify health 
inequalities within and caused by the strategy, the communities affected 
and identify actions to address those 

c. Ensure that children are able to access the services they need and be 
healthy, focusing on prevention and early intervention 
 

 

 
71. Feedback received on priority 1B and how it might be achieved included: 

 Respondents welcomed focus on children and young people and the proposal 
to make it everyone’s business, including the roles of wider family members.  
The importance of family connections was acknowledged by delegates 
attending one of the two CVS workshops. 

 Some respondents recognised the challenges of intergenerational behaviours 
and approaches that may reduce reoccurring cycles of preventable ill health 
within families. 

 Half of the respondents agreed with proposals on how the priority will be 
achieved, with 35% being unsure.   A number of respondents welcomed more 
detail on how the priority will be achieved 

 Respondents welcomed a system wide, joined up approach to deliver this 
priority and welcomed reference to long term health conditions being made in 
wider transport and housing strategies.    

 
72. Feedback received from attendees at one of the two CVS workshops agreed that 

transport can be an issue to access appointments. The infrequency of public 
transport and cost is an issue across the borough. It impacts on attendance to 
hospital and general practice referrals to community based services. 
 
 
 

Page 59



20 
 

 

Proposed Priority 1C 
Continue to enhance identification and management of Long Term 
Conditions to improve physical and mental health outcomes for all 
 
How the priority will be achieved 

a. Continue with improvements in identification and management of Long 
Term Conditions in primary care 

b. Ensure access to joint clinical and social care to improve health 
outcomes for individuals with multiple needs, including support for self-
care and health coaching, with a focus on individuals living with both 
physical and mental ill health problems and/or with substance misuse 
problems 

c. Innovate beyond traditional models of healthcare planning and delivery 
such as co-production with Community & Voluntary sector, building 
community-led approaches to wellbeing, and using preventative data-
based approaches such as Population Health Management 

d. Review and enhance support for transition from young people to adult to 
older adults services so they are person-centered, holistic and seamless 

 
73. Feedback received on priority 1C, and how it might be achieved included: 

 Considering the roles of the CVS, professionals and the community in 
achieving this priority, including acknowledging the role of unpaid carers 
supporting people with LTCs. 

 Supporting people to managing transitional periods in their lives and 
developing integrated pathways and joined up working with local LTC 
services could support the delivery of this priority 

 Some respondents referenced air quality and the impact of development 
across the borough on some LTCs, particularly the impact of Air pollution. 

 Some respondents referenced limited capacity of services, including GPs, 
which could adversely impact on the achievement of this priority.  This 
feedback was reflected by residents attending community forums. 

 Recognising the impact of COVID on mental health, in particular social 
isolation and loneliness.     

 
74. Feedback provided by the Resource and Place Delivery Group welcomed links being 

made with mental health and long term unemployment, and suggested employment 
and growth-focused work referenced in domain 3, opportunity for all, should link with 
mental health service transformation this domain. 
  

Page 60



21 
 

 

Proposed Priority 1D  
Prioritise Post-COVID-19 Service Recovery and Reset to meet New and 
Worsening Health Needs 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Understand and treat new or worsened health needs as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, including mental ill health and Long Covid 

b. Ensure a robust Health Protection response to infectious diseases and 
environmental threats to health, including: outbreak surveillance & 
management, maximising uptake of immunisations and promoting sexual 
health 

c. Cancer pathway delays due to COVID-19 will be addressed as a priority 
and more cancers will be prevented, identified early and successfully 
treated by 2026 

 
 

75. Feedback received on priority 1D and how it might be achieved included: 

 Questioning the proposed timescales for identifying more cancers early and 
successfully treating them by 2026 and whether they should be sooner. 

 Over 50% of respondents agreed with the proposals on how this priority will 
be achieved with a number of respondents referencing the benefits of 
maximising the uptake of immunisations that has been proposed.   

 Consideration to be provided to communicating with residents who are not 
accessing social media or have limited access to IT as part of supporting 
people to access services and support.    This was reinforced by feedback 
provided by delegates attending one of the two CVS workshops and the CCG 
Clinical Reference Group (CRG). 

 
76. Feedback received from residents attending community forums highlighted the 

importance of communicating to residents about support that is available to them and 
to raise awareness of how to identify and support the diagnosis of health conditions, 
including cancer. 

 
Respondents were asked if they wished to propose any new priorities and to 
rank priorities that had been proposed. 
 

77. As explained earlier in this report the council’s online portal were provided with 
opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  Respondents 
tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  Some priorities 
were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included elsewhere in the 
Strategy.   This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis of new priorities 
proposed within each domain. 

 
Reflecting feedback in the refreshed strategy 
 

78. Feedback received during the consultation has directly influenced the content of the 
strategy in the following ways: 

 The aims and ambitions will remain broadly as proposed.  Consideration will 
be provided to how the refreshed Strategy can encourage and stimulate 
different parts of the health and care system adopting a whole person 
approach.  
 

Page 61



22 
 

 The revised strategy will continue to promote preventative approaches for 
supporting health and wellbeing outcomes.  Providing services that are 
accessible and person centred will be a key theme throughout the refreshed 
Strategy. 

 

 Mental health will be a stand-alone priority within the refreshed strategy, 
reflecting feedback provided by respondents in response to levelling the 
playing field questions, described earlier in this report, prioritised mental 
health services and support above both smoking and prioritising Prioritise 
Post-COVID-19 Service Recovery and Reset to meet New and Worsening 
Health Needs.  DK:  This would make sense and demonstrate how feedback 
has informed the final strategy.  It would also acknowledge the importance of 
mental health support – particularly given it was contained within its own 
domain (support emotional health and wellbeing) in the current Strategy) 

 

 Substance misuse will be more explicitly prioritised in the refreshed Strategy  
 

 The proposed priorities and how they are to be achieved within this domain 
are overwhelmingly supported by consultation respondents.   A number of 
respondents welcomed further clarification on how all of the priorities are to 
be achieved and how progress will be measured.  The creation of an 
outcomes framework which sets out the current position for each of the 
priorities and the direction of travel for the next five years will provide further 
clarity and transparency. 

 

 
  

Page 62



23 
 

 

 
 
Domain 2.  Building Strong and Cohesive Communities. 

 
79. Feedback was provided on this domain by residents who completed the online 

survey on the Council’s consultation portal and members of the public and partners 
attending community forums and meetings involving health and care system 
professionals.    

 
Aims and ambitions 
 

80. The proposed aim and ambition for this domain set out a commitment to creating a 
fair, accessible and inclusive borough where everyone has a voice and an equal 
opportunity to succeed and thrive, and where community led ambitions are supported 
and actively encouraged. 

 

Thurrock has seen increasing diversity over recent years, with new residents from 
other parts of the UK and from other countries2. However, newcomers to the 
borough may not always be welcomed and supported consistently, and wider 
influences as well as competition over resources may fuel community divisions.  
We want to promote opportunities to bring different communities together to 
enhance shared experience and to embed a sense of belonging. 
 
Community insight does not always steer decision-making at a local level, and 
therefore many residents can be disengaged with public sector organisations and 
become disenfranchised.  We want the views of more local residents to be used in 
decision-making and priority-setting with residents reporting that they feel 
empowered to contribute to their local community.  We want local partners to work 
more closely together in sharing views that have already been gathered so 
residents are not repeating their concerns and thoughts.   
 
National and local investment into community assets/public facilities has been 
reduced, thereby removing some of the facilities which may have historically 
championed community cohesion and connectivity.  Whilst direct management of 
the COVID pandemic resulted in a surge of volunteers coming forward, this is 
unlikely to be sustained as we move forward towards a ‘new normal’.  We want to 
see a thriving voluntary sector which offers individuals choice and support provides 
a sustainable volunteer workforce across Thurrock. 
 

  

                                                           
2 Data available from: All data related to Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland: mid-2020 - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

Page 63

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2020/relateddata
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2020/relateddata


24 
 

Respondents were asked if they are supportive of the ambitions aims and ambitions 
for the domain.   
 

81.  The majority of the participants responding to this question on the council’s online 
portal were supportive of the proposed aims and ambitions for this domain.   Key 
themes arising from comments provided by respondents comprise: 

a. Encouraging volunteering by effectively communicating with volunteers and 
ensuring that they feel valued.  This a view reinforced by elected members. 

b. Providing volunteers with appropriate opportunities but being clear that 
volunteers are not always an appropriate replacement where services have 
traditionally been provided. 

c. Considering how to encourage more community events as part of developing 
community cohesion and trust within communities  

d. Recognising that a range of approaches to community engagement and 
empowerment are needed - for example, online and social media approaches 
to engagement will not reach all community members, including many who 
are more vulnerable 

 
Proposed priorities 

 
82. A set of priorities identified to underpin this domain’s aims and objectives and how 

they might be achieved were proposed.  What follows is a description of each of the 
priorities and ideas on how they will be achieved.   
 
Respondents were asked whether they supported each of the priorities and 
agreed with proposals on how they might be achieved. 
 

 
 

83. Respondents that were unsure or did not agree with the proposed priorities were not 
confident that views of local residents would inform policy or funding decisions or 
welcomed further information on how the proposals might be implemented.   
 

84. Some respondents welcomed consideration of how to engage the wider community, 
including those that would not traditionally get involved.    
 
 
 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Priority 2A Priority 2B Priority 2C

Question:  Do you support the proposed 
priorities within this domain

Yes No Unsure

Page 64



25 
 

Proposed Priority 2A.   
Improve the way we engage with our residents to ensure everyone can 
have their voice heard. 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. We will implement a new approach to engaging local communities to 
understand what matters to them and the types of services and support 
that they need where they live and across Thurrock.   

b. Use priorities from community conversations to influence health and care 
priorities and resource allocation 

 

 
85. Feedback received on priority 2A and how it might be achieved included: 

 Supporting residents’ with developing confidence that their viewswill be heard 
and inform decisions that are taken.  This was supported by residents 
providing feedback at community forums and the need to develop trust and 
relationships based on an honest and transparent approach being adopted. 

 It was suggested that consideration should be provided to how to engage 
residents that do not have access to social media and ensuring 
communication activities are provided in plain English.  However, residents 
attending local forums acknowledged the merits of using social media as well 
as other communication and engagement methods. 

 The importance of adopting a more coordinated approach for community 
engagement, avoiding duplication across agencies for managing community 
engagement activities and confusion of how best to engage for residents. 

 Further information about how the proposals were going to be achieved in 
practice was welcomed by some respondents. 

 

 Feedback from delegates attending one of the two CVS workshops acknowledged 
that there needs to be a new approach to engagement, which is accessible to local 
communities.  An example given was that this full consultation is inaccessible to 
much of our community as it needs explaining and is too long, and has invited the 
need to create a community version.  

Proposed Priority 2B 
Ensure people have the skills, confidence and ability to contribute as 
active citizens and are empowered to influence the decisions that affect 
their lives  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. We will commit to a strengths-based approach to how resources are 
used to support community-led initiatives. 

b. We will seek to maximise local investment and consider a range of 
funding opportunities such as grants which enables the voluntary sector 
to deliver against agreed outcomes  

c. We will continue to lead work on volunteer recruitment and promoting 
active citizenship, for example via Our Road 

d. We will ensure the Stronger Together directory is used widely across 
partners as the ‘one-stop-shop’ for residents to seek information about 
support in Thurrock 

e. We will use our Social Value Framework to increase social, 
environmental and economic outcomes that reflect local priorities  

 

Page 65

https://strongertogetherthurrock.org.uk/


26 
 

 
86. Feedback received on priority 2B and how it might be achieved included: 

 Ensuring initiatives such as the Stronger Together Directory are made 
available in a user friendly format for residents who are not online and 
continually evaluating initiatives such as Our Road to ensure that they meet 
the needs of communities across Thurrock. 

 

Proposed Priority 2C.  
Promote opportunities to bring different communities together to enhance 
shared experience and to embed a sense of belonging 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. We will invest in supporting staff from across different agencies to work 
together within localities, supporting people where they live to help better 
connect them with local community led support 

b. We will seek to better embed existing community assets into the heart of 
community life, seeking opportunities to enhance and improve to enable 
more local activities that support wellbeing  

c. We will encourage events that demonstrate our commitment to equality, 
diversity and inclusion and pursue education and discussion to tackle 
discrimination, e.g. Holocaust Memorial Day, Pride Month and wider 
events that support inclusion. 

 

 
87. Feedback received on priority 2C and how it might be achieved included: 

 Welcoming clarification on point b and how existing community assets would 
be embedded into the heart of community life and how residents would inform 
decision making. 

 Considering how to ensure the views of all local residents are encouraged 
and residents not usually engaged in local forums and community events are 
encouraged and supported to get involved.   This was supported by delegates 
attending one of the two CVS workshops. 

 Ensuring that whole community events are encouraged as part of creating 
cohesive communities as well as providing bespoke events raising awareness 
and understanding of different cultures across Thurrock, whereby all sections 
of the community are able to show how they make the borough more 
attractive and a place to live.  This was supported and reinforced by residents 
providing feedback through attendance at community forums and events. 

 
Respondents were asked if they wished to propose any new priorities and to 
rank priorities that had been proposed. 
 

88. As explained earlier in this report the council’s online portal were provided with 
opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  Respondents 
tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  Some priorities 
were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included elsewhere in the 
Strategy.   This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis of new priorities 
proposed within each domain. 

Reflecting feedback in the refreshed strategy 
 

89. Feedback received during the consultation has directly influenced the content of the 
strategy in the following ways: 

 The aims and ambitions will remain broadly as proposed.   

Page 66



27 
 

 

 
 

Domain 3.  Person-Led Health and Care 
 

90. Feedback was provided on this domain by residents who completed the online 
survey on the Council’s consultation portal and members of the public and partners 
attending community forums and meetings involving health and care system 
professionals.    

 
Aims and ambitions 
 

91. The proposed aim and ambition for this domain explains that when people need 
health and care support, we want organisations to work in a more joined up way, 
delivering care in a way that allows the person to remain in control. 

 

We know that people are living longer.  We want people to continue to live their 
lives in good health and independently for as long as possible.   We want all 
people to be able to flourish and to retain control over their lives. Health and care 
services should contribute to achieving this in a way that takes account of the 
range of needs for each individual. 

We want to ensure our work delivers a high quality health and care system that is 
easily accessible to local people and able to focus on preventing, reducing and 
delaying the need for health and care services.   

When people do need health and care support, we want organisations to work in a 
more joined up way. Services should also work jointly with the community to find 
solutions and to ensure that the community is able to influence how resource is 
being used. 

 
Respondents were asked if they are supportive of the ambitions aims and 
ambitions for the domain.   
 

92. The majority of the participants responding to this question on the council’s online 
portal were supportive of the proposed aims and ambitions for this domain and 
welcomed services working in a more joined up way, acknowledging the impact of 
wider determinants of health, and adopting a whole person approach to health and 
care.    The ambition for services to consider the whole person/person centred 
approach as part of providing support was welcomed by delegates attending one of 
the two CVS workshops.   
 

93. Residents providing feedback at community forums wished to see accessible 
services, recognising the benefits of virtual consultations as well as providing face to 
face support when it is appropriate to do so. 

Page 67



28 
 

94. Respondents welcomed services and support being provided where people live and 
welcomed consideration being given to the impact of services being relocated on 
those that access them and whether relocation results in the support becoming 
inaccessible for some residents. 
 

95. Feedback provided by delegates attending one of the two CVS workshops welcomed 
proposals but were concerned about whether the goals are achievable, recognising 
the need for the strategy to provide a clear outcome framework setting out how 
progress will be monitored. 

 
Proposed priorities 

 
96. A set of priorities identified to underpin this domain’s aims and objectives and how 

they might be achieved were proposed.  What follows is a description of each of the 
priorities and ideas on how they will be achieved.   
 
Respondents were asked whether they supported each of the priorities and 
agreed with proposals on how they might be achieved. 
 

 
 

97. Respondents that were unsure or did not agree with the proposed priorities 
welcomed further clarification on how integrated teams will reduce the need for the 
patient to build trust and confidence in different professionals and the merits of single 
points of contact or health buddy for people accessing support from different health 
and care services and professionals. 
   

98. Respondents referenced the importance of residents being able to access timely 
primary care services and the importance of face to face support being available 
when people feel they need it.    
 

99. Access to primary care and having sufficient staffing and the right multi-disciplinary 
teams in IMCs was raised as a priority for the CCG’s Clinical Reference Group 
(CRG).  Public concerns about being diverted away from GPs to other professionals 
need to be addressed however.   This should be supported by systems to enable 
communication between professionals eg pharmacists can give very helpful advice, 
but a way for a GP to raise a prescription on the basis of that advice would be 
helpful.  
 

0

5

10

15

20

Priority 3A Priority 3B Priority 3C Priority 3D

Question:  Do you support the proposed 
priorities

Yes No Unsure

Page 68



29 
 

100. The importance of being able to access information about primary care and 
support services was highlighted by a number of respondents, including attendees 
providing feedback at one of the two CVS workshops who suggested that there 
needs to be join up between GPs and their local community.  For example, GP’s 
have their own personal website and these do not always reflect local offer.  GP’s 
could establish better links with the Stronger Together directory or other local offers 
available.  
 

101. Some respondents were concerned that the proposals reflected cost savings 
and potential service dilution, referencing capacity challenges being experienced by 
health and care services. 
 

Proposed Priority 3A.   
Development of more integrated adult health and care services in Thurrock  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

A. Developing new ways of working with flexible solutions delivered close to 
home and focused on achieving what is most important to the individual, 
such as locality social work teams who work alongside NHS and Housing 
colleagues  

B. Developing and building on innovative and creative approaches that 
deliver new and varied models of care such as  expanding Wellbeing 
Teams and Micro-Enterprises  

C. Developing a sustainable approach that prevents, reduces and delays 
the need for health and care services 

 

 
102. Feedback received on priority 3A and how it might be achieved included: 

 Welcoming a flexible approach being proposed as part of delivering 
personalised care and support 

 The importance of services continually engaging and being informed by what 
people need was acknowledged. 

 
103. The CCG Clinical Reference Group acknowledged the need for services to 

keep pace with population growth in Thurrock and how to ensure there are sufficient 
staff available to deliver the services that are needed 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



30 
 

 

Proposed Priority 3B 
Improved Primary Care response that includes timely access, a reduced 
variation between practices and access to a range of professionals 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

A. Define what the offer looks like i.e. improved telephony, greater use of 
digital access such as online platforms, remote/video consultations for 
those that prefer these methods whilst still retaining the traditional face to 
face consultations where required 

B. Recruitment of wider health care professionals (eg clinical pharmacists, 
physiotherapists, mental health practitioners, social prescribers) within 
the primary care workforce, to add capacity and help make best use of 
GP time 

C. Standardise the offer from practices to reduce variation and improve 
patient satisfaction, whilst ensuring capacity is proportionate to need 

D. Improve the services offered by primary care that are delivered over and 
above the traditional primary care offer eg minor operations 

 

 
104. Feedback received on priority 3B and how it might be achieved included: 

 Considering including how people can be supported to effectively navigate 
the health and care system to secure the support they need from the most 
appropriate sources. 

 Acknowledging that there is a capacity issue for primary care and in particular 
GPs in Thurrock was a key theme from all respondents providing feedback on 
this priority 

 The importance of being able to access face to face as well as virtual support, 
in a timely manner, was reinforced by a number of respondents and by 
delegates attending one of the two CVS workshops.  Access to GPs was 
acknowledged as a challenge to be addressed by the refreshed Strategy by 
Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Elected Members. 
Residents providing feedback at community forums welcomed the refreshed 
Strategy considering how residents can access high quality GP services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



31 
 

 

Proposed Priority 3C 
Delivery of a Single Workforce Locality Model – a health and care 
workforce that works across organisational boundaries to be able to 
provide a seamless and integrated response. 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

A. A new model of community care delivered by local teams based in each 
of the four Primary Care Networks based in Grays, Tilbury & Chadwell, 
Stanford-Le-Hope and Aveley, South Ockendon and Purfleet)  

B. Empower staff to work across organisational boundaries and trial 
innovative health and care solutions such as  multi-skilled professional 
roles to reduce the number of professionals involved in delivering 
someone’s care  

C. Create new flexible types of health and care support roles, with the 
development of new career pathways that attract and retain staff, linking 
to community volunteers 

D. Review and redesign barriers that prevent staff from working across the 
health and care system in an integrated way, such as separate finance 
streams and decision-making processes 

 

 
105. Feedback received on priority 3C and how it might be achieved included: 

 Delivering a new model of community care was particularly welcomed by 
respondents on the basis that the model does not create additional layers of 
management and resources are focused on front line delivery.   

 Respondents welcomed support being provided by the most appropriate 
professional and that it would free capacity across the system. 

 Respondents welcomed the Strategy considering how to ensure local people 
can access these roles.  Respondents recognised that high levels of training 
and investment might be needed and the challenge in providing a 
remuneration package given Thurrock’s position regarding London boroughs. 

 As described earlier in this report, access to primary care and having 
sufficient staffing and the right multi-disciplinary teams in IMCs and securing 
the public’s confidence in those services, was raised as a priority for the 
CCG’s Clinical Reference Group (CRG).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



32 
 

Proposed Priority 3D  
Delivery of a new place-based model of Commissioning that makes the 
best use of available resources to focus on delivering outcomes that are 
unique to the individual.  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

A. Development of four Community Investment Boards and four integrated 
locality budgets (aligned to Primary Care Networks) that enable local 
people and users of services to direct how available resource should be 
used 

B. Develop a new relationship with health and care providers that enables 
them to work with others to design and deliver improved solutions and 
outcomes for those they support 

C. Analysis and development of the local health and care market to identify 
gaps and encourage new and different providers in to the market place 
(building on four locality strategic needs and strengths assessments) 
such as Micro-Enterprise providers 

D. Ensure that health and care commissioning is integrated across 
organisations and designed around the delivery of outcomes  

 

 
106. Feedback received on priority 3D and how it might be achieved included: 

 Welcoming local communities informing decisions but seeking reassurance 
that the approach would not create a postcode lottery in service provision.   

 Respondents welcomed clarification on how budgets would be defined and 
distributed across Thurrock and how accountability for outcomes would be 
defined.   

 Some respondents believed that this approach might lend itself to creating 
additional bureaucracy and possible duplication.  

 
Respondents were asked if they wished to propose any new priorities and to 
rank priorities that had been proposed. 
 

107. As explained earlier in this report the council’s online portal were provided 
with opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  
Respondents tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  
Some priorities were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included 
elsewhere in the Strategy.   This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis 
of new priorities proposed within each domain. 
 
  

Page 72



33 
 

 

 
 

Domain 4.  Opportunity for All 
 

108. Feedback was provided on this domain by residents who completed the 
online survey on the Council’s consultation portal and members of the public and 
partners attending community forums and meetings involving health and care system 
professionals.    
 

Aims and ambitions 
 

109. The proposed aim and ambition for this domain is for Thurrock to be a place 
of economic opportunity with inward investment to the borough and wider 
regeneration programmes creating new opportunities to the benefit of local 
communities.  
 

110. We want to support the people in Thurrock to be aspirational, resilient and 
able to access high quality education and training; enabling them to develop skills to 
secure good quality employment and volunteering opportunities to live fulfilling lives 
and achieve their potential. 

There is a gap in educational attainment that exists between deprived and non-
deprived children.  For example, between those receiving Free School Meals 
(FSM) and those not.  
 
Skills levels in Thurrock are lower and numbers working in managerial, 
professional and technical occupations are lower than across the East of England 
and Great Britain.  We want to take a life course approach to educational 
attainment looking at children and young people through to adult learners, working 
to improve attainment for the most disadvantaged. 
 
Young people with fewer qualifications are more likely not to be in education, 
employment or training (NEET) after leaving school and find it more difficult to 
secure employment as they get older. Furthermore, young people classified as 
NEET are considered to be at greater risk of poor physical and mental health, 
being unemployed, and having low quality and low wage work in later life.  We 
want to support more adult learners from vulnerable communities and 
disadvantaged areas to increase and develop new skills to support adults into high 
quality sustained employment 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



34 
 

Economic growth does not generally impact equally upon areas; indices of 
deprivation3 show that deprivation is not spread evenly across the borough but 
concentrated in particular areas that are in need of particular support.  We want to 
create a vibrant local economy, encouraging investment in people and in places 
across Thurrock to benefit from the enormous opportunities generated through the 
Thames Freeport and other major developments.  We want economic growth and 
investment benefitting communities, with people able to access the opportunities 
from this, including high quality employment to support a reduction in inequalities 
and levelling up the inequity within different groups of people.   
 

 
Respondents were asked if they are supportive of the aims and ambitions for 
the domain.   
 

111. The majority of people providing feedback on this domain agreed with the 
overarching aims and ambitions.   Key themes arising from comments provided by 
respondents comprise: 

a. Providing training and support for residents, both older and younger people to 
access employment opportunities, including encouraging employers to 
consider apprenticeships as a method of supporting local residents with 
gaining the experience. 

b. Considering how to encourage employers, particularly those developing in 
Thurrock to employ a proportion of the workforce comprising Thurrock 
residents rather than employing people from outside of the Borough. 

c. Employers considering offering a range of different employment opportunities, 
which would support residents with different needs and commitments, 
including for example, carers. 

d. Employment opportunities being accessible for people who do not have 
access to a car and how transport links may support people accessing 
employment opportunities across Thurrock. 

 
112. The Resource, Place and Delivery Group welcomed access to employment 

being a key influence on health & wellbeing in the proposals.  The Group noted the 
links with mental health and long term unemployment, and suggested employment 
and growth-focused work should link with mental health service transformation within 
domain 1. 

Proposed priorities 

 
113. A set of priorities identified to underpin this domain’s aims and objectives and 

how they might be achieved were proposed.  What follows is a description of each of 
the priorities and ideas on how they will be achieved.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019


35 
 

Respondents were asked whether they supported each of the priorities and 
agreed with proposals on how they might be achieved. 
 

 
 

114. The vast majority of people providing feedback on this domain supported the 
proposed priorities. 
 

Proposed Priority 4A.   
Through raising aspirations and reducing the disadvantage gap, all 
Thurrock children and young people are able to achieve their potential.   
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 
This will be delivered through the Brighter Futures Strategy for children and 

young people:  
A. All children in Thurrock will be making good educational progress, with 

improved educational attainment for all disadvantaged children and 
young people.  

B. All young people supported to gain qualifications, skills and experience to 
progress into further and higher education, apprenticeships or sustained 
employment.  

C. Increase applications to higher education and apprenticeships from 
young people from disadvantaged backgrounds. 

 

 
115. Feedback received on priority 4A and how it might be achieved included: 

 Welcoming clarification on how children and young people will be 
supported to make good education progress and be provided with 
sustained educational support and access, reflecting the impact of the 
COVID Pandemic 

 Ensuring all children and young people, including children who have 
learning difficulties, are supported with their education and learning by 
ensuring, for example, that EHCPs are of a high quality and regularly 
reviewed. 

 Considering how the Strategy can help to ensure young people have an 
opportunity to gain work experience as well as qualifications as part of 
preparing them to gain future employment. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Priority 4A Priority 4B Priority 4C Priority 4D Priority 4E

Question:  Do you agree with the priorities for 
this domain?

Yes No Unsure

Page 75



36 
 

 
116. Feedback provided by attendees at one of the two CVS workshops 

acknowledged that while apprenticeships are generally a positive idea there are 
many young people who are excluded from these opportunities as minimum wage 
payment is not offered.   

 

 
Proposed Priority 4B 
Raising aspirations and opportunities for adults to continue learning and 
developing skills, with a focus on groups that can benefit most 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

A. Through identifying what the key skills needed are (e.g. literacy, 
numeracy, IT and resilience), adults and young people will be supported 
with developing these skills to increase access to opportunities for further 
skills development and employment.  

B. Collaborative working with the aim to ensure more adults access good 
quality careers advice, education and training to improve their prospects 
of finding and remaining in good jobs. 

C. An increased proportion of people in Thurrock are engaged in enterprise 
including social enterprise and volunteering. 

 

 
117. Feedback received on priority 4B and how it might be achieved included: 

 Ensuring that there are a wide range of courses available that are accessible 
in terms of both costs and where they are made available. 

 Training opportunities being made available for residents to support them with 
securing future employment opportunities but also to support wider health and 
wellbeing.  For example, budgeting and healthy cooking. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



37 
 

 

Proposed Priority 4C.  Delivering the Backing Thurrock Plan in a way that 
supports the economically vulnerable in developing resilience and 
resulting in more residents being able to benefit from employment 
opportunities  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

A. More adults are able to access sustained employment and therefore a 
reduction in those needing to claim benefits 

B. Those from vulnerable groups or places in the borough who have lost 
jobs through the pandemic are supported so they are able to find work 
and benefit from opportunity to re skill or upskill where this is what they 
want to do. 

C. Partnership working will effectively link local residents to job opportunities 
in Thurrock, including in Anchor Institutions4, particularly people from 
vulnerable groups such as people with learning disability; where 
employers may benefit from support in identifying how skills can be 
matched to job roles, vacancies or employers. 

D.  Opportunities will be maximized for residents to find and retain jobs 
during the construction and operation of the major regeneration projects.  

 
118. Feedback received on priority 4C and how it might be achieved included: 

 Welcoming more support being provided to older residents to participate in 
training opportunities to support future employment.   

 Considering how employment opportunities make work pay for residents and 
improve their lives, including those with caring responsibilities or those in 
receipt of benefits.   

 Ensuring all parts of the system are informed and can support residents, 
including for example, and linking with services that provide support to people 
with LTCs and Learning Difficulties.  

 Adopting wider communication methods to engage and inform residents 
across Thurrock of opportunities that are available, considering how local 
hubs may improve accessibility.      

 
119. Attendees providing feedback at one of the two CVS workshops 

acknowledged the importance of communicating with residents and keeping systems 
simple and consistent.  A consistent theme provided by respondents was the need to 
ensure residents are aware of support that is available to them and how to access it.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
4 The term anchor institutions refers to large, typically non-profit, public sector organisations whose long-term 
sustainability is tied to the wellbeing of the populations they serve. Anchors get their name because they are 
unlikely to relocate, given their connection to the local population, and have a significant influence on the 
health and wellbeing of communities.(The Health Foundation www.health.org.uk ) 

Page 77



38 
 

Proposed Priority 4D.  
Working in partnership to level up opportunity and reduce the inequality 
that exists physically and socially for people living in disadvantaged 
circumstances. 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a) A holistic, joined up approach to levelling up will be taken through early 
intervention and support through a life course approach, starting with 
children and young people. 

b) A holistic approach will be taken to supporting the most vulnerable in the 
community, tackling inequalities and integrating skills and employment 
projects with for example DWP, NHS, and criminal justice, wellbeing and 
support services. 

c) Working collaboratively to develop opportunities for children and young 
people as well as adults to pursue leisure and cultural interests. 

 
120. Feedback received on priority 4D and how it might be achieved included: 

 Welcoming opportunities being provided to supporting people throughout their 
lives to access training and support to secure employment opportunities.   

 Considering how the Strategy can support encouraging employers to provide 
support for employees to pursue leisure and cultural interests and how that 
may be monitored. 

 

Proposed Priority 4E.  
Creating a vibrant cultural offer and local economy, encouraging 
investment in people and in places across Thurrock to benefit from the 
enormous opportunities generated through the Thames Freeport and other 
major developments such as SEE Park. 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a) The Council will work with the Business Board and Anchor Institutions to 
establish new ways of working together by building on our strengths and 
collaborating to increase local recruitment, develop local supply chains, 
attract public and private inward investment and make best use of 
assets. Social Value opportunities will be explored in doing this.  

b) By taking a place-based approach, we will create the right conditions and 
environment for good economic growth and a strong community driven 
cultural offer.  

c) Enable residents to start and develop new businesses, including social 
enterprises that will grow and generate wealth and employment in 
Thurrock 

 

 
121. Feedback received on priority 4E and how it might be achieved included: 

 Providing more support for residents to start and develop new businesses, 
providing affordable rent for premises across the borough, supporting 
regeneration. 

 Reflecting the importance of new businesses in the borough considering and 
mitigating their carbon footprint as part of improving health and wellbeing of 
residents.   

 This was a view reinforced by the CCG Clinical Reference Group who were 
concerned about the collective impact of multiple developments including the 
London Resort & growth of local Ports. Access to public transport was 

Page 78

https://www.southessex.org.uk/news/more-than-a-park-vision-for-south-essex-estuary-see-park-announced


39 
 

suggested to be important to reduce air pollution, but the group noted the 
difficulty in local policy addressing this issue against national policy 

 
122. Feedback provided by the Resource and Place Delivery Group welcomed 

linking the refreshed HWB strategy metrics / outcomes to those being developed for 
Thames Freeport as part of enhancing alignment and improving outcomes. 
 

123. Feedback acknowledged the importance of ensuring that residents are 
provided with opportunities for cultural and arts activities as part of supporting their 
health and wellbeing.   
 
Respondents were asked if they wished to propose any new priorities and to 
rank priorities that had been proposed. 
 

124. As explained earlier in this report the council’s online portal were provided 
with opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  
Respondents tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  
Some priorities were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included 
elsewhere in the Strategy.   This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis 
of new priorities proposed within each domain. 
 

Reflecting feedback in the refreshed strategy 
 

125. Feedback received during the consultation has directly influenced the content 
of the strategy in the following ways: 

 The aims and ambitions will remain broadly as proposed.   
 

 
  

Page 79



40 
 

 
 

Domain 5.  Housing and the Environment 
 

126. Feedback was provided on this domain by residents who completed the 
online survey on the Council’s consultation portal and members of the public and 
partners attending community forums and meetings involving health and care system 
professionals 

 
Aims and ambitions 
 

127. The proposed aim and ambition for this domain is for people on low incomes, 
in receipt of benefits and living in more deprived wards to have improved access to 
good quality, suitable homes and good quality environments.  We will reduce the 
number of people at risk of homelessness and improve opportunities for people who 
are homeless to move to better housing situations. 

 

In Thurrock, the increase in house prices has been greater than in surrounding 
areas, which has a knock-on impact on people seeking rental properties, the cost 
of rents and availability of social housing. It can be challenging for some residents 
of Thurrock to afford high quality, suitable, secure homes.  We want all housing 
across the Borough to be of good quality.  
 
We know the suitability of a home can impact on health and wellbeing.  Some 
people live in homes that are too small for the number of people living there, which 
can be bad for mental health and can impact on ability to study or work at home.  
We want to improve the quality of low cost private rental properties and social 
housing, so that residents on low income and in receipt of benefits will be at less 
risk of poor health due to their housing.  
 
We know that people who have experienced domestic abuse and / or sexual 
violence are in particular need of support to find suitable housing. There has also 
been an increase in the number of people at risk of becoming homeless.  We want 
people who are experiencing domestic abuse and / or sexual abuse to be able to 
move to homes that allow them to move on from their experiences.   
 

The environment also impacts heath positively and negatively; things like antisocial 
behaviour and air pollution, which are bad for health, tend to be worse in more 
deprived areas. Things like access to transport, shops, healthy food and nature 
tend to be better in less deprived areas and worse in more deprived areas. In 
Thurrock there are uneven challenges caused by antisocial behaviour such as 
noise, low levels of walking and cycling, obesity, air pollution, and poorer access to 
good quality parks and open space in more deprived areas.   We want all people 
across the borough to have access to good quality parks and open spaces.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



41 
 

Respondents were asked if they are supportive of the ambitions aims and 
ambitions for the domain.   
 

128. The vast majority of respondents providing feedback through the Council’s 
consultation portal were supportive of the aims and ambitions for this domain.   
Respondents agreed with ambitions to make Thurrock a desirable place to live and 
work. 

 
129. C and G Overview and Scrutiny Committee raised the merits of focussing on 

Housing and Environment as separate domains.  The Committee thought each area 
would require a significant amount of work and had concerns that both being taken 
together would mean neither would get the attention they both needed 

 
Proposed priorities 

 
130. A set of priorities identified to underpin this domain’s aims and objectives and 

how they might be achieved were proposed.  What follows is a description of each of 
the priorities and ideas on how they will be achieved.   
 
Respondents were asked whether they supported each of the priorities and 
agreed with proposals on how they might be achieved. 
 

 
 

131. The vast majority of people providing feedback on this domain supported the 
proposed priorities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

Priority 5A Priority 5B Priority 5C Priority 5D Priority 5E

Question:  Do you agree with the 
priorities for this domain?

Yes No Unsure

Page 81



42 
 

Proposed Priority 5A.   
Reduce homelessness in Thurrock  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Identify people at risk of homelessness early and prevent 
homelessness by adopting a holistic offer across services. This will 
focus on enabling people to progress to housing that offers more 
security, stability and is more suitable for their needs than their current 
situation delivers.   

b. Provide appropriate and timely support for people experiencing rough 
sleeping by sharing knowledge between partners to help identify those 
individuals. 

 

 
132. Feedback received on priority  5A and how it might be achieved included: 

 Feedback recognised the need to consider a people’s multiple needs when 
addressing homelessness.  Respondents welcomed being provided for 
families at risk of homelessness as well as individuals, including single men, 
being supported to secure suitable accommodation.  Some feedback 
recognised, however, that for a multitude of reasons not every homeless 
person wants to be housed and the Strategy could include how they are 
provided with greater levels of support with their health and wellbeing.   

 Respondents acknowledged the importance of providing access to 
affordable, good quality housing for residents.  This was supported by 
Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee which suggested that 
consideration should be provided to providing affordable housing in the 
borough via the Housing Strategy, including affordable rents, matching 
salaries and establishing, for example, Thurrock Affordable Rent levels.  

 

Proposed Priority 5B 
Facilitate and encourage maintenance of good quality homes in Thurrock 
to support the health of residents, protecting them from hazards such as 
cold, damp and mould.  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Thurrock Council will ensure properties are of good condition (safe, 
suitable) in the public sector.  

b. Thurrock Council will influence the quality of private housing stock through 
work such as the Well Homes programme.  It is important to ensure these 
programmes reach priority groups such as people living with long term 
conditions.  

c. New homes will be developed that will keep people well and independent, 
based on recognised quality design standards.  

 

 
133. Feedback received on priority 5B and how it might be achieved included 

ensuring all types of housing tenure is of a decent, acceptable standard and that 
maintenance of properties and land is considered alongside repair services.    This 
was reinforced by Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee which acknowledged 
the need to address poor housing conditions in Council stock and that damp has 
historically been difficult to address. 
 

Page 82



43 
 

134. CCG Clinical Reference Group (CRG) High quality housing is important to 
health and wellbeing and welcomed this priority being proposed. 
 

Proposed Priority 5C.  
Provide safe, suitable and stable housing solutions for people who have or 
who are experiencing domestic abuse / violence and / or sexual abuse / 
violence.  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Deliver expert advice through a single route to support regarding 
housing, skills, employment and other needs of people experiencing 
or who have experienced domestic and/ or sexual abuse and / or 
violence.  

b. Review and revise the existing joint protocol for supporting those at 
risk of homelessness because they are fleeing domestic and sexual 
abuse. 

c. Implement Thurrock Council’s new Housing Domestic Abuse Policy, 
ensuring all relevant council departments are aware and applying 
this.    

d. Improve public awareness of how victims/survivors can seek housing 
support. 

 

 
135. Feedback received on priority 5C and how it might be achieved included 

recognising the impact of people fleeing experience challenges maintaining their 
networks of friends and community relationships.   
 

136. Feedback acknowledged that housing is one part of the solution and 
respondents welcomed a single route to reduce the need for victims to repeat their 
stories and to ensure that they are provided with support to navigate the system. 
 

137. Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee welcomed the proposals and 
ensuring that support is provided to all people fleeing the circumstances outlined in 
this priority.   domestic violence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



44 
 

Proposed Priority 5D.  
Regeneration and future developments will improve health through 
opportunities to increase physical activity, promote mental wellbeing and 
reduce exposure to air pollution 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. Active travel  
i. Improve accessibility and equity of access through walking and 

cycling infrastructure and public transport to services; especially 

to education, employment, healthcare and nature. The priority 

will be to deliver these accessibility improvements where 

deprivation is most apparent.  

ii. Reduce car dependency through a well-connected and 

sustainable transport system, which encourages a modal shift to 

more sustainable modes of transport such as walking and 

cycling, particularly in the urban areas.  

iii. Minimising traffic growth and encouraging a shift in new 

developments and regeneration projects to reduce the risk of air 

pollution and help connect more residents to each other and to 

open space and nature.  

b. Green and open space, parks and gardens 

i. Adopt a whole council approach to prioritising park maintenance 

and improvements, to increase the quality and experience, 

especially in areas where access is poorest and where health 

outcomes related to physical inactivity and mental health are 

worse.  

ii. Create connected green paths so that every resident is within 

walking distance of green space, for example as part of the SEE 

Park development. 

iii. Local Plan Design Principles, Policy and Strategy, and the 

design of new neighbourhoods, will focus on opportunities to 

increase physical activity, promote mental wellbeing and reduce 

exposure to air pollution 

 

 
138. Feedback received on priority 5D and how it might be achieved included 

welcoming consideration being given to how people travel across the borough and 
the importance of transport links.  The CCG Clinical Reference Group and 
Resources, Place and Delivery Group agreed that access to public transport and 
active travel may be an important factor improving air quality and reducing pollution. 
 

139. Feedback included recognising the importance of providing public facilities to 
facilitate active travel including, for example, public toilets. 
 

140. Feedback overwhelmingly referenced the importance of air quality to health 
and wellbeing.  The CCG Clinical Reference Group provided feedback on the 
importance of tackling Air Pollution in Thurrock.  The group was concerned about the 
collective impact of multiple developments including the London Resort & growth of 
local Ports.  Air quality was also major concern raised by Children’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 84



45 
 

141. Feedback acknowledged the importance of ensuring that residents are 
provided with opportunities for sports, leisure, cultural and arts activities as part of 
supporting their health and wellbeing.  Particularly if services or facilities are closed 
or are relocated.   

Proposed Priority 5E.  
Regeneration and future developments will seek to build community 
resilience and social capital, and reduce antisocial behaviour, to improve the 
quality of environment experienced by all people in Thurrock. 
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a. A responsive service should be provided to all residents and tenants 

experiencing anti-social behaviour.  

b. Local Plan Design Principles, Policy and Strategy, and the design of new 

neighbourhoods, will focus on opportunities to enhance community 

resilience and social capital, and reduce antisocial behaviour 

 

 
142. Feedback received on priority 5E and how it might be achieved included the 

importance of creating sustainable, future proofed developments including, for 
example, the provision of electric charging points.  This was reinforced by Housing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

143. Respondents acknowledged the impact of ASB on health and wellbeing and 
the importance of designing out crime in new developments.  Feedback also 
suggested that consideration should be provide to how to facilitate anonymous 
reports of ASB when it occurs.   
 
Respondents were asked if they wished to propose any new priorities and to 
rank priorities that had been proposed. 
 

144. As explained earlier in this report the council’s online portal were provided 
with opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  
Respondents tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  
Some priorities were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included 
elsewhere in the Strategy.   This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis 
of new priorities proposed within each domain. 
  

Page 85



46 
 

 
 

 
 

Domain 6 Community Safety 
 

145. Feedback was provided on this domain by residents who completed the 
online survey on the Council’s consultation portal and members of the public and 
partners attending community forums and meetings involving health and care system 
professionals 

 
.  Aims and ambitions 
 

146. The proposed aim and ambition for this domain is to ensure that Thurrock is a 
place where people feel and are safe to live, socialise, work and visit. We will also 
ensure that victims/survivors of crime are able to access support to cope and recover 
from their experiences, should they need it.  

 

Fear of crime is linked to poorer mental health, decreased physical functioning, 
lower quality of life and may be a barrier to engaging in health improving activities 
including outdoor activities such as walking.  We want people feeling safer within 
their communities and increased public perceptions of safety. 
 
We know that certain groups are more likely to be the victims of crime, including; 
women and girls, children and young people, the elderly and those with learning 
difficulties and disabilities. Crimes disproportionally affecting these groups include 
but are not limited to domestic abuse, sexual violence and abuse, fraud, scams 
and cuckooing.  We want to increase public understanding regarding approaches 
to local crime prevention 
 
Experiencing crime may impact on a victims’ physical health, mental health and 
emotional wellbeing. These impacts are often dependent on the type of crime 
experienced and can persist long after the abuse has ended.  We want to improve 
our local, joined up response to crime, particularly sexual violence and abuse. This 
includes improving responses to disclosure, minimising the number of times 
survivors are required to tell their story to professionals and ensuring holistic offers 
of support are available.  
 
Thurrock has the second highest rate of recorded violence with injury offences 
against young people aged 10-24 in Essex and the 4th highest rate of ambulance 
call outs to young people because of violence.  We will work in partnership to tackle 
violent crime and its impacts on victims and the wider community. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



47 
 

Respondents were asked if they are supportive of the ambitions aims and 
ambitions for the domain.   
 

147. Feedback received on this domain supported the aims and ambitions and 
welcomed the focus being on all victims of crime. 
 

148. The importance of different sectors working together was acknowledged by 
attendees providing feedback at one of the two CVS workshops.   

 
Proposed priorities 

 
149. A set of priorities identified to underpin this domain’s aims and objectives and 

how they might be achieved were proposed.  What follows is a description of each of 
the priorities and ideas on how they will be achieved.   
 
Respondents were asked whether they supported each of the priorities and 
agreed with proposals on how they might be achieved. 
 

 
 

150. Respondents tended to agree with the priorities and proposals on how they 
might be achieved. 
 

Proposed Priority 6A.   
We want all children to live safely in their communities                                                                                                              
 
How the priority will be achieved 

 
a) Facilitate a coordinated strategic approach to tackle Serious Youth Violence 

and Vulnerability 
b) Continue to tackle Exploitation by Organised Crime Groups (i.e. gang 

related activity) including the use of offensive weapons, and support young 
people and vulnerable people at risk of being exploited by gangs (including 
cuckooing)  

c) Ensure a multi-agency approach to tackling Child Sexual Exploitation and 
ensuring all possible actions are taken to protect victims 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Priority 6A Priority 6B Priority 6C Priority 6D

Question:  Do you agree with the 
priorities for this domain?

Yes No Unsure

Page 87



48 
 

151. Feedback received on priority 6A and how it might be achieved included 
recognising the importance of educating and informing children, young people and 
their facilities to tackle exploitation and youth violence. 

 
152. Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee welcomed the strategy’s focus on 

crime and how it might support addressing rising crime rates including violent crime. 
 

Proposed Priority 6B 
Work in partnership to reduce local levels of crime and opportunities for 
crime to take place, which will result in fewer victims of crime and make 
Thurrock a safer place to live 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a) Work in partnership to strengthen local approaches to reducing crime 
including designing out crime 

b) Strengthen local approaches to reducing crime through early 
intervention with those displaying harmful behaviours  

c) Implement a Contextual Safeguarding Approach across the Thurrock 
Partnership in order to keep children and young people safe and 
disrupt criminal activity and exploitation 

d) Implement approaches to reduce perpetrator offending, with a 
targeted focus on scams, modern slavery, adult sexual exploitation, 
cuckooing and hate crime  

e) Consult with residents in order to address locations of concern and 
increase public perceptions of safety 

 

 

153. Feedback received on priority 6B and how it might be achieved included 
acknowledging the impact of the fear of crime and the importance of police or 
authority visibility in addressing the fear of crime.  It was suggested in feedback that 
the fear of crime has increased in the borough with many people scared to go out at 
night, especially in town centres and estates.  This was a view reinforced by Housing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

154. It was suggested that consideration could be provided to creating more 
accessible channels for people’s fears and concerns to be heard and a safeguarding 
matters can be raised with confidence was provided in feedback.  This was 
supported by attendees providing feedback at one of the two CVS workshops. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



49 
 

Proposed Priority 6C.  
Improve the local response to supporting victims/survivors of crimes to 
improve their health and wellbeing  
 
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a) Work in partnership to enhance holistic approaches to supporting 
victims/survivors cope and recover from their experiences, including 
physical and mental health outcomes  

b) Consult with victims/survivors of crime to understand the barriers and 
facilitators to accessing support in order to inform local service provision 

c) Prioritise the identification and offer of support to those who have 
experienced abuse/exploitation during the COVID-19 pandemic  

d) Upskill the workforce to identify victims/survivors of crimes and respond 
appropriately to disclosures  

 

 
155. Feedback received on priority 6C and how it might be achieved included 

ensuring services consider the needs of victims and the wider support that they may 
need.  
 

Proposed Priority 6D.  
Work in partnership to prevent and deter crime, with a focus on those with 
increased risk of experiencing crime  
How the priority will be achieved 
 

a) Provide strong local leadership to transform the way we tackle Violence 
Against Women and Girls, with a key focus on domestic abuse and sexual 
violence and abuse  

b) Ensure a dedicated focus on safeguarding vulnerable groups and those with 
increased likelihood of being the victims of crime and exploitation  

 

 
156. Feedback received on priority 6D and how it might be achieved included 

acknowledging the need to provide support to all victims of crime.  
 
Respondents were asked if they wished to propose any new priorities and to 
rank priorities that had been proposed. 
 

157. As explained earlier in this report the council’s online portal were provided 
with opportunities to propose new priorities within each of the domains.  
Respondents tended to provide feedback on wider strategy or consultation areas.  
Some priorities were proposed that were broadly reflected in those included 
elsewhere in the Strategy.   This report therefore does not provide a detailed analysis 
of new priorities proposed within each domain. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 89



50 
 

 

 
 

Next Steps 
 

Reflecting consultation feedback 
 

158. The final health and wellbeing strategy proposals will be developed, reflecting 
feedback received as part of the consultation exercise.   It is recommended that 
consideration is given to reflecting the contents of this report in the final strategy 
which include: 

 Revision of one of the Goals in Domain 1, healthier for longer domain to 
focus entirely on promoting good mental health and reducing mental ill 
health and substance misuse in Thurrock Council, to reflect a priority 
identified by consultation respondents. 

 Refreshing the Whole System Obesity Strategy to ensure it encompasses all 
the issues raised and responds to the impact of Covid  

 For domain 2, Building strong and cohesive communities, there should be 
more explicit reference to digital exclusion as a challenge. 

 For domain 5, housing and the environment include ,measures and actions 
to reduce air pollution and to address climate change in the final strategy in 
response to community feedback 

 Inform Local Plan policies and Health Impact Assessments (HIAs) for major 
new developments will consider a full range of health and wellbeing issues 
including for example: Active Travel and Public Transport; access to green 
and open spaces; air quality; the food environment.  

 Use Development Management, the Housing Strategy and the Local Plan as 

vehicles which aim to deliver a provision of 35% of the total number of 

residential units built to be affordable housing.  

 It should take into account feedback that not all homeless people wish to be 

re-housed but still require support with health and wellbeing perhaps refer to 

the goal as: Identifying people at risk of homelessness early, preventing 

homelessness by adopting a holistic offer across services, and addressing 

health and wellbeing needs of this group. This will focus on enabling 

people to progress to housing that offers more security, stability and is more 

suitable for their needs than their current situation delivers.   

 

Finalising the strategy and ongoing monitoring and reporting of progress 
 

159. As a Statutory document the final strategy proposals will be subject to 
consideration by governance bodies of partners and the councils and approval of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

160. Following approval of proposed domains and underpinning priorities further 
work will be undertaken to establish the current position (baseline) for each of the 

Page 90



51 
 

priorities, and the identification of outcomes and measures to facilitate the monitoring 
of progress 
 

161. Governance will continue to be strengthened with the monitoring and 
reporting of strategy priorities being overseen and reported to Board. 
 

162. The Strategy will be published in the summer.   
 

163. The Strategy will be a live document that is regularly reviewed and progress, 
along with any proposed changes to the Strategy priorities, will be reported to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on an annual basis.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank





18 March 2022 ITEM: 7 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Tobacco Control Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

Wards and communities affected:  

All 

Key Decision:  

Non – key  

Report of: Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health 

Accountable Director: Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health 

This report is Public  

 
Executive Summary 
 
The Tobacco Control Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) has been 
developed to gain an understanding of the scale and impact of tobacco use and 
harm in Thurrock, and the effectiveness of Thurrock’s current tobacco control 
strategy in addressing this.   The JSNA identifies harm and opportunities for 
improvement across the population; however, its focus is on priority groups where 
there is either higher smoking prevalence, such as people living in more deprived 
wards and people living with mental ill health, or groups where the health benefits of 
quitting smoking are greatest, such as women during pregnancy.  The JSNA aims to 
identify aspects of the current tobacco control strategy for Thurrock that are working 
well and areas where improvements could be made, especially to reduce tobacco 
related harm for priority groups.  This is a particularly important subject since 
smoking is the main cause of preventable and premature deaths in England and is 
the largest single contributor to health inequalities; smoking accounts for half the 
difference in life expectancy in England between those living in the most and least 
deprived communities.  
 
The JSNA describes that Thurrock still has one of the highest smoking prevalence 
rates in England and that there remains a high level of inequality in prevalence by 
level of deprivation and among people with poor mental health.   
 
Thurrock’s current tobacco control strategy includes treatment, prevention and 
enforcement interventions. Of these, the JSNA found that the most impactful to 
reduce smoking prevalence in Thurrock is treatment and specifically, action to 
increase the number of smokers attempting to quit through Thurrock’s stop smoking 
service. Thurrock’s current approach has been effective in supporting an increasing 
number of smokers to attempt to quit and successfully do so. However 
improvements could be made in encouraging quit attempts among priority population 
groups. There is an opportunity to achieve an increase in quit attempts at scale and 
reduce smoking related health inequalities by targeting communications and 
engagement work within the eight more deprived wards in Thurrock, where over 50% 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7





of smokers reside. This will involve a whole systems approach, working with local 
businesses in these wards and front-line staff working in services that have most 
contact with higher smoking prevalence groups to refer smokers to the stop smoking 
service.  
 
The stop smoking service has seen an increase in people accessing the service who 
report they have a mental illness, but it is unclear why. Work with mental health 
services and service users to explore opportunities to encourage more quit attempts 
and quit success will need to continue to reduce inequality in smoking prevalence 
among people with mental illness. However, other services and forums will also be 
important to reach people who have poor mental health, even if they are not 
currently accessing services for this or do not have a diagnosis. This is in recognition 
of the potential hidden need identified in this population group.  
 
There is currently a lack of local insight for some populations that are known 
nationally to have higher smoking prevalence such as people who identify as LGBTQ 
and some BME populations. Close work with these groups identified in the JSNA will 
be required to co-produce solutions appropriate to their needs and to better 
understand progress in reducing inequalities.  
 
Regarding Thurrock’s prevention and enforcement interventions, the JSNA found 
that Thurrock’s Trading Standard’s team are making good use of local government 
powers to reduce supply and access to illicit tobacco and reduce underage sales. 
The prevention element of Thurrock’s Whole System Tobacco Control Strategy 
should be strengthened to prevent uptake, especially among children and young 
people and reduce the risk of relapse among ex-smokers. Thurrock Council engage 
with national campaigns but there has been little recent targeted work in this 
intervention area and this is especially important in supporting priority populations.  
 
The JSNA report makes recommendations for addressing the gaps identified in the 
JSNA, which broadly can be summarised as:  
 
• There is a need to ensure more smokers are encouraged to attempt to quit 

through support from front line services, local employers and voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) organisations. In particular, settings accessed by or 
serving priority populations identified in the JSNA.  

• Localised marketing and communications opportunities should be reviewed and 
targeted to prevent uptake among children and young people and to encourage 
current smokers to attempt to quit. Again, this should focus on high priority 
population groups.  

• Work with the VCS should be undertaken to explore / co-produce stop smoking 
service solutions that better meet the needs of groups where there is currently 
little insight and where national data indicates there may be greater relatively 
higher smoking / tobacco use.  

• There is a lack of recent research evidence regarding interventions that are 
effective in reducing smoking among the high priority populations identified; 
Thurrock should evaluate local tobacco control innovations to improve knowledge 
in this area. This will enable agile adaptations to be made locally and could 
improve knowledge on the subject more widely.  

Page 94





 
1. Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Health and Wellbeing Board note and comment on the content 

and recommendations contained within the report. 
 

1.2 That the Health and Wellbeing Board approve publication of the JSNA. 
 
2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is an assessment of the 

current and future health and social care needs of the local community. It is 
intended to provide a shared, evidence-based consensus about key local 
priorities and support commissioning to improve health and well-being 
outcomes and reduce inequalities. It brings together detailed information on 
local health and wellbeing needs and looks ahead at emerging challenges 
and projected future needs. 

 
2.2 The Tobacco Control JSNA aims to identify the extent to which the current 

tobacco control strategy is impacting on smoking prevalence and tobacco 
related harm in Thurrock, whether this is equitable and where improvements 
could be made.  The purpose is to reduce tobacco related harm in Thurrock. 

 
2.3 This JSNA provides an evidence base to demonstrate the scale of smoking in 

Thurrock, inequalities in prevalence and opportunities to reduce prevalence.  
 
2.4 Developing and implementing a Whole System Tobacco Control Strategy, 

based on the findings from the JSNA, is a key action in the draft Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy and the Further Case for Change Integrated Health & 
Care Strategy. Action on tobacco control is a key action to address variation 
in health outcomes and reduce premature mortality. It also contributes to 
delivery of at least five of the Public Health Outcomes Framework indicators.  

 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1 These are set out in detail in the JSNA report itself.  
 
4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 To ask for HWB Board sign-off for publication of the JSNA, and gain Board 

input prior to developing a Whole System Tobacco Control Strategy and 
taking forward the outlined recommendations for implementation. 

 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1 Stakeholders from Thurrock Council, NHS mental health services, Essex 

County Council, and HM Prison and Probation Service were consulted with 
and supported the development of this JSNA report. The JSNA has also been 
considered by the Health & Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee. Input 

Page 95





from these stakeholders was vital in ensuring a holistic picture of the 
landscape in Thurrock was captured and accurately reflected within the 
report, and the recommendations developed from this. Stakeholders, 
including members of the public representing priority groups identified in the 
JSNA will also be consulted with as the tobacco control strategy is developed 
to help coproduce solutions relevant to their needs as part of a longer-term 
approach to understand and responding to these needs.   

 
6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 

impact 
 
6.1 Reducing smoking prevalence is a priority in Thurrock’s current Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy and proposals for the refresh for the next five years have 
retained this aim. There are also five Public Health Outcome Framework 
indicators associated with smoking; delivering recommendations of this JSNA 
will support the local authority in making progress against these.  

 
6.2 Reducing smoking prevalence in Thurrock will also play a part in the levelling 

up agenda due to the health effects of smoking and the amount of household 
expenditure it accounts for, especially among low income households.   

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Mike Jones  

 Strategic Lead | Corporate Finance – 
Resources and Place Delivery 

 
The JSNA identifies that the estimated annual net deficit to Thurrock’s 
economy because of people smoking was £17.6 million in 2019. Much of this 
is associated with reduced productivity of the working age population but 
includes specific health and local government service costs.  
 
The current stop smoking service is designed and delivered in a way that is 
within the cost effectiveness threshold identified by the National Institute for 
Health and Social Care Excellent. Decisions arising from recommendations of 
the JSNA that may have a future financial impact for the council would be 
subject to the full consideration of the relevant boards before implementation.  
 

7.2 Legal 
 
Implications verified by: Ian Hunt 

 Assistant Director of Law and Governance & 
Monitoring Officer 

 
There are no immediate, direct legal implications arising from this report; this 
report and the attached JSNA document have been compiled to help support 

Page 96





and inform local programme planning and commissioning. Relevant national 
policy is outlined in the attached JSNA document. Legal Services will be able 
to advise on any legal implications arising as necessary in due course.  
 

7.3 Diversity and Equality 
 
Implications verified by: Roxanne Scanlon  

 Community Engagement and Project 
Monitoring Officer 

 
The analysis and evidence base in this report seeks to understand 
inequalities in health in the borough associated with smoking and makes 
recommendations to further understand and take action to tackle these.  
 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder, or Impact on Looked After Children) 
 
None 

 
8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 

on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright): 

 

 Detailed references are given in the full report 
 
9. Appendices to the report 
 

 Appendix 1: Tobacco Control JSNA 
 
 
Report Author: Rebecca Willans, Specialty Public Health Registrar, Public Health 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Thurrock Whole System Tobacco Control JSNA 

2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 99



2 
 

Editor and Authors: 

Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health (Editor) 

Rebecca Willans, Specialty Public Health Registrar  

Kevin Malone, Public Health Programme Manager  

 

Acknowledgments: 

Helen Forster, Strategic Lead Public Health, Thurrock Council  

Phil Gregory, Senior Public Health Manager – Health Intelligence, Thurrock Council 

Kelly Clarke, Public Health Support Officer, Thurrock Council 

Micaella Joaquim, Public Health Analyst, Thurrock Council 

Charlotte Edwards, Trading Standards Manager, Thurrock Council 

James Nicolson, Chair, Thurrock Adult Safeguarding Board, Thurrock Council 

Dulal Ahmed, Housing Enforcement Manager, Thurrock Council 

Sue Kane, Sheltered Housing Manager, Thurrock Council 

Judith Skargon, Service Manager, Essex Partnership University Foundation Trust  

Robert Waugh, Operations Lead, IAPT 

Corrine Williams, Mental Health Primary Care Team Manager, Essex Partnership 
University Foundation Trust  

Rebekah Bailie, LD Health Commissioner, Essex County Council  

Karen Grinney, HM Prison and Probation Service 

Sarah Tinker, Senior Public Health and Wellbeing Officer, Essex County Council 

Daniel Showell, Consultant in Public Health, Essex County Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



3 
 

1 Contents 
2 Executive summary: .................................................................................................................. 5 

3 Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 10 

4 National and local strategic and contextual factors relevant to tobacco control in 
Thurrock ............................................................................................................................................. 12 

4.1 National tobacco control strategy ............................................................................... 12 

4.2 National NHS tobacco control policy .......................................................................... 14 

4.3 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on tobacco control ......................................... 14 

4.4 Local strategies and targets relevant to tobacco control ..................................... 15 

5 Smoking prevalence ................................................................................................................ 16 

5.1 National smoking prevalence ................................................................................................ 16 

5.2 Thurrock smoking prevalence ............................................................................................... 19 

5.3 Geographic variation and deprivation .................................................................................. 21 

5.4 Smoking prevalence in primary care .......................................................................... 27 

5.5 Smoking prevalence and mental health ..................................................................... 29 

5.6 Smoking prevalence and people with long term conditions (LTCs) .................. 32 

5.7 Smoking and pregnancy ................................................................................................ 34 

5.8 Children and young people ........................................................................................... 36 

5.9 Protected characteristics groups and smoking prevalence ................................. 41 

5.10 Scale of illicit tobacco ..................................................................................................... 44 

6 Impact of smoking ................................................................................................................... 45 

6.1 Impact of smoking in the UK ......................................................................................... 45 

6.2 Overview of the health impact of smoking on the Thurrock population ........... 45 

6.3 Financial impact of smoking related harm in Thurrock ......................................... 48 

6.4 Impact of smoking on health inequalities in Thurrock .......................................... 50 

6.5 Respiratory health impacts of smoking in Thurrock .............................................. 51 

6.6 Cardiovascular impacts.................................................................................................. 56 

6.7 Children and young people ........................................................................................... 57 

6.8 Wider social impacts ....................................................................................................... 58 

6.9 Impact of illicit tobacco .................................................................................................. 59 

7 Current tobacco control approach in Thurrock ............................................................... 61 

7.1 Prevention .......................................................................................................................... 61 

7.2 Enforcement ...................................................................................................................... 62 

7.3 Treatment ........................................................................................................................... 64 

7.3.1 Whole population treatment .................................................................................. 65 

7.3.2 Priority groups .......................................................................................................... 70 

Page 101



4 
 

7.4 SWOT analysis of Thurrock’s current Tobacco Control offer.............................. 81 

8 Evidence ..................................................................................................................................... 83 

8.1 Prevention evidence ........................................................................................................ 86 

8.2 Evidence for enforcement.............................................................................................. 88 

8.3 Evidence for stop smoking treatment ........................................................................ 90 

9 Gap analysis .............................................................................................................................. 98 

9.1 Preventing never smokers becoming regular smokers ......................................... 98 

9.2 Motivating current regular smokers to attempt to quit smoking ........................ 99 

9.3 Supporting smokers attempting to quit to have success in doing so ............. 100 

9.4 Leadership and operational factors .......................................................................... 101 

10 Recommendations ............................................................................................................. 103 

11 References ........................................................................................................................... 105 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



5 
 

2 Executive summary: 
The main form of tobacco used in the United Kingdom (UK) is cigarettes. Smoking 
cigarettes continues to be the leading cause of premature and preventable death in 
England. It is also the largest single contributor to health inequalities, accounting for 
half the difference in life expectancy between those living in the most and least 
deprived communities. Smoking impacts health across the life course; it causes 
permanent lung damage to children exposed to second hand smoke; it is a common 
cause of sickness absence; it increases the risk and severity of long-term conditions 
and infectious diseases; it reduces the efficacy of many clinical treatments, and 
shortens healthy life expectancy and increases mortality. Smoking is not a lifestyle 
choice; evidence has demonstrated that it is an addiction. Most smokers want to quit 
(58%) and many try each year, mostly on their own and increasingly with the support 
of e-cigarettes; however, the most effective method of stopping smoking is through 
evidence-based stop smoking services.  

This Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on Tobacco Control has been prepared to 
update the Thurrock Tobacco Control Strategy, which expires in 2021. It focuses 
mostly on cigarette smoking as prevalence of other forms of tobacco use in the UK is 
very low. A whole systems approach, recommended by DHSC for tobacco control, has 
been taken in recognition of the breadth of impact tobacco has and the scale of change 
needed. Given the importance of the NHS as a partner in delivering the change 
needed, a population health management approach has also been taken. This is to 
facilitate translation of the needs assessment into NHS contexts.  

The needs assessment aims to identify the areas where Thurrock is currently having 
and could have the most impact on reducing tobacco related harm locally. Its structure 
follows the strategic themes used in the current local tobacco control strategy, which 
are prevention, enforcement, and treatment for smoking addiction.  

This executive summary highlights the key questions that have been addressed in the 
needs assessment and answers to them.  

How does smoking prevalence in Thurrock compare to the national and 
regional averages and how has this changed over time?  

Thurrock has one of the highest smoking prevalence rates in England (17.5% in 
2019 compared to the England average of 13.9%). Prevalence reduced by -1.1% in 
Thurrock since 2017, significantly less than the England average reduction of -6.7%. 

A priority population recognised by the Association of Directors of Public Health is 
pregnant women. There has been little change in smoking among this group in 
Thurrock and the East of England since 2016/17. The current prevalence in Thurrock 
is equivalent to approximately one in ten women smoking during their pregnancy. 
This data does not recognise pregnant women exposed to smoke in their homes 
from other household members though.  

What is the scale of inequalities in smoking prevalence within Thurrock? 

Largely, inequalities in smoking are associated with socio-economic deprivation and 
other markers of disadvantage and mental ill health. In Thurrock, over half the 

Page 103



6 
 

people who smoke live in the eight most deprived wards and smoking prevalence is 
concentrated in the two most deprived wards. Nationally and locally there has been 
no significant change in smoking prevalence in the last five years among routine and 
manual workers, a group used as a proxy for relative deprivation, while prevalence 
has declined in the general population.  

Thurrock mirrors the national picture regarding mental illness and smoking; an 
increasing number of mental health diagnoses and increasing severity of the 
condition is associated with a higher likelihood of smoking. However, while there has 
been a significant decline in smoking prevalence among people with mental illness 
since 2016 nationally, there has been no significant change in Thurrock. 

What is the impact of tobacco in Thurrock? 

Thurrock’s high smoking prevalence translates into higher smoking attributable 
mortality (25% higher than England average), years of life lost, which is a measure of 
premature death, (13% higher than the England average) and healthcare usage 
(27% higher smoking attributable hospital admissions than the England average). It 
also carries a significant financial cost to the local economy, estimated to be an 
annual £17.6 million deficit.  

What are the gaps between smoking prevalence in Thurrock, Thurrock’s 
current tobacco control strategy and research evidence? 

Prevention: One of the most effective ways of preventing people from becoming 
addicted to smoking is to prevent them from starting in childhood. Limiting access to 
cigarettes is a particularly effective way of doing this. Thurrock Council’s Trading 
Standards team continue to deliver a programme of work called “Challenge 25”, 
which supports local shops to stop underage sales of cigarettes. This work has 
proven locally to be an effective deterrent. It does not however prevent access to 
cigarettes accessed by other means such as ‘social supply’. Another strategy for 
reducing uptake of smoking in childhood is communications and education among 
children, young people, and families to reduce the acceptability of smoking. Thurrock 
Council’s stop smoking team delivered an intervention called ‘ASSIST’ in schools but 
a local evaluation found it was not as cost effective as research evidence indicated 
and the programme was discontinued. Mainly this was because smoking prevalence 
has declined, making it harder to deliver a significant change to the relatively low 
prevalence. Since then there has been limited delivery of smoking related 
communications work aimed at young people.  

Based on the offer described above for children and young people and current 
research evidence, Thurrock’s prevention offer should adopt two areas of focus.  one 
is a whole area approach since smoking among children and young people is 
distributed across the wards. Local evidence suggests this should be a holistic offer 
concerning risk taking behaviours since individuals participating in one risk such as 
smoking are much more likely to be engaging in other risky behaviours such as 
unsafe sex or drug use. The other strategy is for services working with vulnerable 
young people and their families / carers to screen for smoking and refer to the stop 
smoking service. Smoking among family and close peers is a strong influencing 

Page 104



7 
 

factor on smoking uptake so this work should take place with children, young people 
and their families.    

Both strategies also need to balance messages about smoking with harm reduction 
messages for vaping e-cigarettes that are appropriate to young people, especially 
given the trend in increasing use of these products.  

Enforcement: Thurrock Council’s Trading Standards team deliver a robust local 
enforcement approach, which continues to impact underage sales of tobacco and 
limits the supply of illicit tobacco. The team are developing a partnership with officers 
addressing modern slavery to strengthen links in this area. This is a complex area of 
work but there is some evidence nationally of links between organised crime gangs, 
illicit tobacco, and modern slavery. 

Another aspect of tobacco related enforcement is Smoke-free policies; Thurrock 
Council has in place a smoke free policy, as do the local NHS Trusts as part of their 
legal obligations to do so. These policies have not been audited or evaluated but 
doing so might help to identify ways to strengthen their effect. An aspect of local 
Smoke-free policy that could be improved is having an equitable policy approach to 
Smoke-free homes. Nationally there is a policy gap in this area and local areas are 
expected to develop their own policy approach. Thurrock currently has a robust offer 
of education and support through referral to stop smoking services as part of the 
Well Homes service in private housing. This approach should be considered in other 
housing settings for which the council has authority to act.   

Treatment: In 2019/20 Thurrock almost achieved the NICE recommendation of at 
least 5% of the smoking population being supported to quit per year through stop 
smoking services. Thurrock Healthy Living Service and the two Vape Shops 
commissioned to deliver stop smoking services have achieved the highest number of 
people setting a quit date, quitting at 4 weeks and remaining quit at 12 weeks 
compared to pharmacies and GPs offering the service. More people who smoke will 
need to be encouraged to use the service to enable Thurrock to deliver against the 
government’s ambition to reduce smoking prevalence to 5% or less by 2030. 
Achieving this will require a shift from reducing prevalence by -2.5% per year 
(current trend) to -6% per year. Modelling suggests this will mainly be driven by an 
increase in the number of current smokers attempting to quit rather than necessarily 
improving the effectiveness of the stop smoking service, although this will have some 
effect.  

In addition to this whole population approach, Thurrock also needs to better target 
smokers living in the eight most deprived wards and other population groups where 
prevalence is higher to reduce smoking related inequalities. The current service offer 
is not designed in a way that targets groups with higher smoking prevalence such as 
people living in areas of deprivation, routine and manual workers or people with 
mental ill health. While the local stop smoking service has worked with providers to 
encourage more referrals from some relevant settings such as mental health 
services, more needs to be done, for example, work with employers of routine and 
manual staff. This also includes intervention by members of the Health and 

Page 105



8 
 

Wellbeing Board to increase referrals from relevant services and Thurrock Council 
should review options to enhance its stop smoking service offer for priority groups.    

Smoking in pregnancy will be another important theme of the 2021-2026 Tobacco 
Control Strategy due to the intergenerational impact this has on health. The number 
of referrals from Basildon and Thurrock University Hospital has increased since the 
last strategy and this has resulted in more pregnant women quitting. However local 
insight suggests a need to also support partners’ or ‘significant other supporters’ of 
pregnant women to stop smoking, regardless of the pregnant woman’s smoking 
status. Smoking prevalence among partners / ‘significant other supporters’ is high in 
Thurrock and evidence indicates offering support to stop is effective in reducing 
exposure to second hand smoke and supporting pregnant women who do smoke to 
stop and stay quit.   

Conclusion  

Since the last Tobacco Control Strategy in Thurrock, progress has been made in 
reducing smoking prevalence and Thurrock continues to offer a robust enforcement 
and treatment offer. Prevention among children and young people could be improved 
and the treatment offer needs to increase both its scale and the equity of its offer. To 
deliver this, tobacco control and especially the treatment aspect needs to be 
embraced as a responsibility of members of the Health and Wellbeing Board. Given 
the contribution of smoking to premature mortality and health inequalities, doing so 
could be the single most effective intervention local partners deliver to make 
improvements to these outcomes.  

 

Recommendations  

The following recommendations will be addressed in Thurrock’s 2022-2026 Tobacco 
Control Strategy.  

1. Thurrock Council should deliver localised prevention campaigns that aim to 
increase the number of people attempting to quit and normalise quitting. 
These interventions should use social marketing insight to increase their 
effectiveness. This work should target high prevalence communities and also 
children and young people across the borough.  

2. Thurrock Council should continue to fund its stop smoking service and explore 
opportunities to improve access in the eight wards contributing over half of the 
boroughs smokers.  

3. Member organisations of the Health and Wellbeing Board should ensure their 
organisations have an integrated MECC offer for smoking and develop 
referral pathways (rather than signposts) to the SSS. This includes NHS 
providers, social care services and children’s services but should also reflect 
wider partners such as those providing support around employment and debt 
management for instance.  

Page 106



9 
 

4. Thurrock Council’s public health team should identify local organisations who 
work with people from high prevalence groups and work with them to create 
referral pathways, use system levers such as contractual incentivisation and 
deliver training to internal staff to encourage more quit attempts from these 
communities.  

5. PCNs and in particular, Tilbury and Chadwell and ASOP, should work with 
high performing practices to improve their service offer. There are particular 
opportunities in this setting to enhance the offer to people with long term 
conditions as part of a holistic approach in the Integrated Medical Centres.  

6. Through the LTP tobacco control funding, it is recommended that MSE HCP 
employ a member of staff for each acute trust to coordinate MECC and 
improve referrals into stop smoking services.  

7. The maternity service at BTUH should extend its smoking cessation offer to a 
Smoke-free homes approach, including MECC and referral for partners 
/significant others of pregnant women. This should include the partners / 
significant other of pregnant women who do not smoke themselves. The 
impact of this should be well evaluated; the use of incentives in this population 
should be considered depending on the impact of first offering a wider Smoke-
free homes approach.  

8. Opportunities to increase screening for smoking and vaping among children 
and young people should be explored, in part based on the Brighter Futures 
Strategy.   

9. Opportunities to increase and strengthen referral pathways from mental health 
services in Thurrock and at MSE level should be developed. Thurrock CCG 
should integrate requirements to enhance the stop smoking service offer into 
contracts to encourage action in this area.  

10. Work with community organisations should be undertaken to reach groups 
that are not yet well understood in regard to the effectiveness of the stop 
smoking offer. This mainly includes BME groups as little is known locally 
about the nature of tobacco use in BME communities and the SSS data 
indicates this group may be underrepresented. However work to support other 
groups with protected characteristics should also be explored including 
transgender and LGBTQ groups and people with a learning disability.  

11. A Tobacco Control Alliance or other leadership mechanism should be 
reinstated to ensure the profile of tobacco is high on the agenda of local 
partners and to support delivery of the whole systems approach required to 
achieve a substantial reduction in smoking prevalence.  

12. Interventions should be evaluated, especially areas for innovation to assess 
their effectiveness and equity impact.  

13. Opportunities to enhance the enforcement offer should be explored, in line 
with updates to legislation that are anticipated in the lifetime of the tobacco 
control strategy that will follow this JSNA.  

Page 107



10 
 

14. THLS should work with the learning disability health provider to ensure 
reasonable adjustments are made to the core SSS offer for individuals 
appropriate to their needs.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 Introduction 
This Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) takes a whole systems approach to 
understanding tobacco related health needs in Thurrock, focusing on cigarette 
smoking, the most common form of tobacco used in the United Kingdom (UK). The 
needs assessment however refers to ‘tobacco control’ to include wider physical, 
mental and social health impacts; for example, crime associated with the illicit tobacco 
trade1. A whole systems approach means responding to the complexity of a problem 
by recognising the breadth of factors impacting it. Identifying and developing solutions 
to these problems requires engagement with diverse stakeholders (Stansfield J, 
2020). This is appropriate for a needs assessment about tobacco because smoking is 
a prevalent issue and tobacco related harm is strongly associated with deprivation and 
many other measures of disadvantage (ASH, 2019). The psychosocial and socio-
economic drivers of these associations are complex and require action by many 
institutions and in many settings.  

                                                           
1 Illicit tobacco refers mainly to cigarettes that have either been lawfully produced but brought into a country 
without the appropriate tax being paid / at all and cigarettes that have been manufactured illegally (ASH, 
2017).  

Page 108



11 
 

Tobacco is an important topic because smoking has long been recognised as the 
leading cause of health inequalities in the UK (PHE, 2020d) (ASH, 2019). Smoking 
also continues to be the leading cause of premature and preventable death in the UK2 
(PHE, 2020d). It is especially important for Thurrock because it has one of the highest 
smoking rates in the UK and Thurrock’s tobacco control strategy expires in 2021. 
Therefore it is timely to prepare a needs assessment that can inform a refresh of the 
strategy.  

The aim of this work is to identify the extent to which the current tobacco control 
strategy is impacting on smoking prevalence and tobacco related harm in Thurrock, 
whether this is equitable and where improvements could be made.  The purpose is to 
reduce tobacco related harm in Thurrock.  

The needs assessment will present and discuss data and evidence regarding: 

 strategic and contextual factors impacting tobacco control and smoking;  
 smoking prevalence and how this has changed over time;  
 the health and economic impacts of tobacco, especially smoking;  
 tobacco control interventions currently in place in Thurrock and their impact; 
 research evidence regarding effective tobacco control interventions; 
 a gap analysis to understand areas for improvement in Thurrock’s current 

strategy; 
 recommendations for improvement; 
 a conclusion to summarise what has been found and propose next steps.  

A population health management approach has been adopted; this means using 
data to identify how changes in local services and systems can improve outcomes. 
In this context, that means using the data about smoking prevalence and its impacts 
to improve outcomes such as helping people who smoke to quit, to prevent the harm 
caused by second hand smoke and to reduce uptake of smoking, especially in 
younger generations.   

Priority population groups for work concerning smoking are those that either have 
higher smoking prevalence or among whom there is greater capacity to benefit from 
stopping smoking such as pregnant women (or both). Those included in this needs 
assessment include: 

 People living in more deprived areas  
 People working in routine and manual occupations  
 People with a diagnosed mental illness 
 People with a learning disability  
 People with a long term condition  
 Pregnant women 
 Children and young people (people aged under 18)  

The questions this needs assessment will answer are:  

                                                           
2 Premature deaths are those that occur in people aged below 75 years and preventable deaths are those that 
could have been avoided through public health interventions.  

Page 109



12 
 

 How does smoking prevalence in Thurrock compare to the national and 
regional averages and how has this changed over time?  

 What is the scale of inequalities in smoking prevalence between priority 
groups or those with protected characteristics and the general population 
within Thurrock? 

 What are the health and economic impacts of tobacco in Thurrock? 
 What is included in Thurrock’s current tobacco control strategy and how 

effective is this? 
 What does recent research evidence suggest is effective for tobacco control 

and in particular, smoking cessation (stopping smoking / supporting people to 
‘quit’ smoking)? 

 What are the gaps between smoking prevalence in Thurrock, Thurrock’s 
current tobacco control strategy and research evidence? 

 How could organisations and communities in Thurrock address these gaps?   

The next section of this needs assessment discusses the current national and local 
strategic and contextual factors most relevant to tobacco control. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 National and local strategic and contextual factors 
relevant to tobacco control in Thurrock  

 

4.1 National tobacco control strategy 
Tobacco continues to be a national public health priority; in the Prevention Green 
Paper consultation, the Government stated its ambition for England to be smokefree 
by 2030 (Department for Health and Social Care, 2019). This is defined as having a 
smoking prevalence of 5% or less (Smokefreeaction, 2020) and is a very challenging 
target, requiring a pace of change estimated to be 40% faster than the current trend 
(Cancer Research UK, 2020). Achieving the ambition would require a significant 
change in tobacco control strategy nationally and locally.  

The government have not yet responded to the Green Paper consultation and the UK 
Tobacco Control Plan published in 2017 comes to an end in 2022; the current plan’s 
emphasis is summarised below (Department for Health and Social Care., 2017).  

 Supporting people not to start smoking, by: 

Page 110



13 
 

o Reducing the prevalence of 15 year olds who regularly smoke from 8% 
to 3% or less by 2022. This is because most people who smoke as 
adults started smoking before the age of 18.  

o Reducing smoking prevalence amongst adults in England from 15.5% 
to 12% or less by 2022. This is because smoking uptake is partly 
influenced by smoking within social groups and especially impacts 
children and young people.  

o Reduce the inequality gap in smoking prevalence between those in 
routine and manual occupations and the general population. This is to 
reduce the intergenerational impact of higher smoking prevalence in 
these groups.   

 Supporting smokefree pregnancies, with the aim of reducing the prevalence 
of smoking in pregnancy from 10.7% to 6% or less by 2022. 

 Providing parity of esteem for those with mental health conditions by: 
o Improving data collection on smoking and mental health to inform stop 

smoking support for this population group.  
o Implementing smokefree policy in all mental health inpatient services 

sites by 2018. 
 Providing access to innovations that support people to stop smoking, 

maximising safer alternatives to cigarette smoking.  

In response to the national tobacco policy gap, a coalition of charities, research 
institutions and professional bodies prepared a smokefree plan, based on research 
evidence, expert advice and community perspectives (Smokefree Action Coalition, 
2020).  The actions are summarised below: 

 

 

 

Strategies:  

 Legislate to require tobacco manufacturers to finance a Smokefree 2030 Fund 
to support education campaigns, tobacco control campaigns and universal quit 
support – the ‘polluter pays’ ethos.  

 Implement greater reductions in affordability via increased taxation of tobacco 
products. 

Approaches:  

 Ensure the NHS Long Term Plan’s smokefree commitments are realised across 
the NHS, including smoking cessation screening, referral, and where viable, 
treatment. 

 Consultation on policy proposals, such as demanding tighter regulation of 
tobacco via licenses for tobacco retailers and increasing the age of sale from 
18 to 21.  

 Review and revise e-cigarette regulation. 

Page 111



14 
 

 Renew and refresh the Government’s strategy for tackling the illicit tobacco 
trade. 

 Sustain government commitment to support the WHO Framework Convention 
on Tobacco Control (WHO, 2020).  

These are mainly functions for ministers and central government but should be 
supported by Thurrock Council, for example through response to consultation about 
these strategies and approaches.  

4.2 National NHS tobacco control policy 
The Government’s Tobacco Control Plan and the smokefree coalition’s roadmap to a 
smokefree generation emphasise the important role the NHS has in this agenda. The 
main NHS policy response to tobacco control is made in the NHS Long Term Plan 
(LTP), which sets new commitments for NHS organisations, including: (NHS, 2019): 

 By 2023/24, all people admitted to hospital who smoke will be offered NHS-
funded tobacco treatment services.  

 This model will be adapted for expectant mothers, and their partners, with a 
new smoke-free pregnancy pathway including focused sessions and 
treatments. 

 A new universal smoking cessation offer will be available as part of specialist 
mental health services for long-term users of specialist mental health, and in 
learning disability services.  

The main change to current practice is committing the NHS to deliver tobacco 
treatment services for people admitted to hospital and expectant mothers and their 
partners. This is being supported by funding through the NHS Long Term Plan 
Tobacco fund, which will be granted to NHS organisations at Integrated Care 
Partnership level starting in 2021/2022 financial year.  Thurrock Council is working 
with Mid and South Essex Health Care Partnership (MSE HCP) to help prioritise the 
funding inline with local need.  

At the time of writing this needs assessment, there is an ongoing pandemic of the 
COVID-19 coronavirus. This has significantly impacted the NHS and had much wider 
social and economic effects. This is important context for this needs assessment and 
the next section expands on this.  

4.3 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on tobacco control 
Evidence suggests that smoking has a strong correlation to mortality and morbidity 
related to COVID-19. A systematic review found that smokers were 1.4 times more 
likely to have severe symptoms of COVID-19 and were approximately 2.4 times more 
likely to be admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU), need mechanical ventilation, or 
die compared to non-smokers (Nikitara, 2020). There is already an established 
association between smoking and the risk of contracting respiratory infection and more 
severe symptoms once infected. As a result, Public Health England (PHE) have 
advised smokers that quitting at this time is particularly important for their health.  

E-cigarettes are a useful quitting aid, but it is unclear what effect vaping may have on 
susceptibility to severe disease if infected with COVID-19.  Vaping remains 

Page 112



15 
 

significantly less harmful than smoking and it is very important to avoid returning to 
smoking.  Shisha smoking carries all the health risks of smoking, and sharing the 
mouthpiece greatly increases the risk of spreading COVID-19.   

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on smoking prevalence or tobacco related 
harm is not yet fully understood. Data from the Office for National Statistics is not yet 
available for the period covering the pandemic. However, research undertaken by 
University College London and Action on Smoking and Health (ASH) found that in the 
first phase of the pandemic, more people attempted to quit smoking and more people 
successfully achieved this than would have been expected, based on trends in recent 
years.  By July 2020, one million people had stopped smoking since the start of the 
pandemic and another 440,000 smokers had tried to quit (UCL, 2020). However more 
recent poll data indicates that many ex-smokers may have relapsed and current 
smokers, especially younger people, may be smoking more (ASH, 2021b).  The poll 
of 1,935 adults found that 10% of ex-smokers had relapsed and 39% of smokers aged 
18-35 years reported smoking more than usual.  

Surveys have also been used to assess the impact of COVID-19 pandemic response 
policies. Survey evidence has identified that lockdown (a policy response to the 
pandemic) may be leading to more children being exposed to the harms of second-
hand smoke.  Some evidence comes from the YouGov COVID tracker, which shows 
that people who live in households that include children are 50% more likely to report 
being exposed to second-hand smoke since lockdown compared to those without 
children (10% compared with 6%) (YouGov, 2020).  Also, 12% of smokers who live 
with children report they are smoking indoors more than they did before lockdown.   

While there are many unknowns concerning the full impact of COVID-19 on population 
health, there is an opportunity to act on the factors that are known. For tobacco control 
this includes evidence of an increase in awareness of smoking related harm and desire 
to stop smoking (ASH, 2021b). Also, health inequalities linked to deprivation have 
been exacerbated by the pandemic. The tobacco control strategy that is written 
following this needs assessment must include some proactive and immediate actions 
that respond to these factors.  

4.4 Local strategies and targets relevant to tobacco control 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) has five outcomes relevant to 
Tobacco Control and the duties placed on the local authority: 

 
 
These are important outputs and outcomes for the Council and Thurrock’s Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB) to deliver on. Reducing the proportion of people who smoke 
remains a priority in Thurrock’s Health and Wellbeing strategy, which is currently being 
refreshed.  This needs assessment and the tobacco control strategy that will be based 

Page 113



16 
 

on its content will be reviewed annually to remain responsive to the HWB’s direction 
and challenge, and should expand into the MSE HCP. Only by doing this can the 
opportunities and benefits of taking a system-wide approach be delivered.   

The NHS has a shared goal via the LTP, so this needs assessment can support NHS 
organisations to target their resources around gaps in the current offer, responsive to 
local need. This will be supported partly through LTP funding being granted to the NHS 
at Integrated Care System level for acute trusts to spend on tobacco control. For 
Thurrock, this is the MSE HCP / Integrated Care System.  

Thurrock Council has also signed a commitment to the Local Government Declaration 
on Tobacco Control, which requires the council to: 

 Act at a local level to reduce smoking prevalence and health inequalities and to 
raise the profile of the harm caused by smoking to our communities; 

 Develop plans with partner organisations and local communities to address the 
causes and impacts of tobacco use, according to local priorities and securing 
maximum benefit for our communities; 

 Participate in local and regional networks for support; and 
 Monitor the progress of plans against our commitments and publish the results. 

 
These actions areas should feed into the 2025 targets for this strategy and the 
longer term 2030 smokefree target.   

The next section of this strategy will explore the scale of smoking prevalence in 
England and Thurrock.   

5 Smoking prevalence 
5.1 National smoking prevalence 
Figure 1 summarises smoking prevalence statistics in the UK; in 2018, 14.7% of the 
population smoked cigarettes, although this differs by sub population and the data / 
model used (Office for National Statistics , 2019). Sub populations with higher 
smoking prevalence include men; it is estimated that 16.5% of men smoke compared 
to 13% of women; young adults (a higher proportion of smokers are aged between 
25 and 34, 19.2% of this age group smoke); and routine and manual workers where 
25% of people in these occupations smoke. Higher smoking prevalence is also 
associated with almost every indicator of deprivation and among groups who may be 
marginalised such as people living with mental illness, people in contact with the 
criminal justice system, people experiencing homelessness, lone parents and 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning (LGBTQ) people (ASH, 2019). 
Furthermore, cumulative disadvantage increases the likelihood of smoking. 

The majority of smokers want to quit (58.4%) and many try each year, mostly on 
their own and increasingly with the support of e-cigarettes. Currently 6.3% of the UK 
population use e-cigarettes (known as vaping), mostly ex or current smokers but with 
some never smokers included in that group. Approximately two thirds of people who 
have ever smoked (61.3%) manage to quit, which is excellent news but there is a 
risk of relapse and still means there are many people who do not manage this. 

Page 114



17 
 

Markers of deprivation are also associated with success of quit attempts, with 
evidence that people from more deprived populations are less likely to achieve their 
quit attempt, despite being as likely to attempt to quit. Reasons for this include 
evidence of higher dependency on nicotine, lack of social support, a focus on 
present needs over future plans and failure to complete smoking treatment 
programmes. Work is required locally to tailor interventions to priority groups such as 
those living in areas of deprivation to ensure attempts to reduce prevalence in these 
groups are successful.  

The full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on smoking prevalence is not yet clear, 
however structural inequalities have increased susceptibility to and exposure to the 
virus among some of the same groups where smoking prevalence is higher. This 
may exacerbate existing health inequalities, so tobacco control interventions 
nationally and locally will need to focus on achieving the 2030 target of 5% smoking 
prevalence equitably. For example, it is estimated that to reach the target, 
prevalence would need to decline by 37% among people with intermediate level 
qualifications, compared to 149% among people with low qualifications (Song F, 
2020).  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: UK smoking prevalence statistics 2018 

Page 115



18 
 

 

Source: (Office for National Statistics , 2019) 

 

Page 116



19 
 

5.2 Thurrock smoking prevalence 
In 2019, based on the Annual Population Survey (APS) estimate,  approximately 
17.5% of the Thurrock population smoked, 22.8% were ex-smokers and 59.6% had 
never smoked (figure 2) (PHE, 2020). Thurrock’s APS smoking prevalence estimate 
is statistically significantly higher than the England average (13.9%).  

Figure 2: Thurrock population by smoking status 2019 (APS estimate) 

 

Source: Annual Population Survey, 2019 (PHE, 2020) 

Thurrock has one of the highest smoking prevalence rates in England (figure 3) 
(PHE, 2020).  

Figure 3: Thurrock’s smoking prevalence compared to all other local 
authorities in England (APS estimates for 2019).  

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

17.5%

22.8%
59.6%

Current smoker Ex smoker Never smoked

Blackpool: 23.4 %

Thurrock: 17.5%
Richmond upon 
Thames: 8.4% 

England average 
13.9%

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

Local authorities England average

%
cu

rr
e

nt
 s

m
o

ke
rs

 in
 lo

ca
l a

u
th

ro
ity

 a
re

a

Page 117



20 
 

While prevalence estimates vary (table 1), Thurrock’s smoking prevalence is 
consistently higher than the England average.  

Table 1: Smoking prevalence estimates for Thurrock and England 2017-2019 

Prevalence 
source  

Thurrock 
2019 
prevalence  

England 
2019 
prevalence  

Difference 
Thurrock-
England 
prevalence  

Prevalence 
reduction 
2017-2019 
Thurrock 

Prevalence 
reduction 
2017-2019 
England  

Annual Population 
Survey (APS) 17.5% 13.9% 3.7% -1.1% -6.7% 

General Practice 
Population Survey 
(GPPS) 

16.5% 14.5% 2.0% -2.4% -7.1% 

Quality and 
Outcomes 
Framework (QOF)  

18.0% 16.7% 1.6% -5.2% -5.1% 

Source: PHE Tobacco Control Fingertips, 2020 (PHE, 2020) 

Table 1 also shows that smoking prevalence has reduced in England and Thurrock, 
although this also varies. The APS estimate is considered by PHE to be the most 
accurate; based on this, prevalence has reduced by 1.1% in Thurrock since 2017, 
significantly less than the England average (-6.7%). QOF data is drawn from 
information recorded in GP patient records; this data suggests Thurrock has seen a 
similar decline to the national average but is impacted by GP practices refreshing the 
practice list of smokers by asking and recording whether patients smoke. Figure 4 
compares the trend in smoking prevalence using APS estimates since 2016. As 
Thurrock is a smaller geographic area, year on year changes are more noticeable, 
but the shape of the trend line suggests the decline in prevalence in Thurrock has 
been closer to the England than East of England trend, which has been less steep.  

Figure 4: Trend in smoking prevalence 2016-2019 Thurrock, East of England 
and England (APS estimate) 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

2016 2017 2018 2019

A
P

S
 e

st
im

at
ed

 s
m

ok
in

g 
pr

e
va

le
nc

e 
(%

 )

England East of England region Thurrock Linear (Thurrock)

Page 118



21 
 

5.3 Geographic variation and deprivation  
Geographically, Thurrock’s highest smoking prevalence is mainly in the most 
deprived wards. Figure 5 uses QOF data, allowing analysis at a more detailed 
geographic level than APS estimates; the map shows where smoking prevalence is 
highest by ward and Primary Care Network (PCN).  Smoking prevalence is indicates 
by the size and depth of colour on the pink circles (larger darker circles indicate 
higher prevalence) and IMD rank is shown by the depth of blue (darker blue 
indicates increasing deprivation). The map shows the highest smoking prevalence is 
concentrated in the South West of Thurrock, mainly in Tilbury, Grays, Belhus and 
West Thurrock and South Stifford. At PCN level the map shows all PCNs have areas 
with high smoking prevalence. 

Figure 5: Map of smoking prevalence per ward 2018/19 using QOF estimates 

 

Source: NHS Digital QOF, (2018/19) 

 

Figure 6 also shows ward level QOF data for smoking prevalence and deprivation by 
IMD but in bar chart format, allowing a more detailed comparison of the range of 
variation. Five wards have higher prevalence than the Thurrock average: Tilbury St. 
Chads; Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park; West Thurrock & South Stifford; Grays 
Riverside; and Belhus. While the relative position of the wards in terms of IMD rank 
does not map perfectly to levels of smoking prevalence, the eight wards with the 
highest levels of deprivation are also the wards with the highest smoking prevalence.  

 

Page 119



22 
 

Figure 6: Thurrock QOF smoking prevalence by ward (2018) 

 

Source: NHS Digital QOF, (2018/19)  

The wards with higher smoking prevalence tend to be those that are more deprived; 
the strength of this relationship is shown in figure 7. An R² result of one represents a 
perfect correlation so the result of 0.7 indicates a strong relationship.  

Figure 7: Association between smoking prevalence and deprivation (2019 QOF) 

 

Source: NHS Digital QOF 2018/19 & IMD GP Scores, (2019) 

19.6 19.5 19.3 19.3 18.9 18.3 18.2 18.0 17.9 17.8 17.5 16.8 16.7 16.7 16.6 16.6 16.3 16.2 15.5 15.1

18.3

16.7

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

S
m

o
ki

n
g

 p
re

va
le

n
ce

 (
%

)

Ward name (IMD rank)

Thurrock ward Thurrock average England average

y = 0.0052x + 0.0771
R² = 0.7173

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

S
m

ok
in

g
 P

re
va

le
n

ce
 (

Q
O

F
 %

)

IMD 2019

Page 120



23 
 

While smoking prevalence is strongly correlated with deprivation, the relative 
contribution of a geographical area to the total number of smokers is also impacted 
by the population density. For Thurrock, the two most deprived wards have the 
highest smoking prevalence but have relatively small populations. West Thurrock & 
South Stifford and Grays Riverside (ranked 5th and 7th most deprived in Thurrock) 
contribute the highest number of smokers to Thurrock’s overall prevalence (17% of 
smokers in Thurrock live in these areas). These two wards have the largest 
population size in Thurrock and some of the highest smoking prevalence. This data 
highlights the importance of taking a proportionate universalism approach to address 
Tobacco Control; in other words, all smokers should be able to receive support, but 
more effort needs to be made with increasing levels of deprivation (not only the most 
deprived). Over half of smokers (51.7%) live in the eight most deprived wards in the 
borough (based on local quintile of deprivation ranking). These statistics are 
summarised in figure 8 and table 2. Thus, interventions that are particularly effective 
at supporting quitting or reducing uptake in poorer areas would still reach over half of 
the smokers in Thurrock. This presents an opportunity to address smoking both at 
scale and reducing inequity in Thurrock.  

Figure 8: Contribution (%) by quintile of deprivation to the number of smokers 
in Thurrock (2018 QOF).  

1 = least deprived 4 wards, 5 = most deprived 4 wards 

 

Source: NHS Digital QOF 2018/19  

 

 

 

22%

30%18%

13%

17%

% ward quintile contribution to total

1 most deprived

2

3

4

5 least deprived

Page 121



24 
 

Table 2: Number of smokers by ward in Thurrock and IMD quintile rank   

Quintile rank Ward N smokers in 2018 

1 Tilbury St. Chads 1,241 

  Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park 1,501 

  Belhus 1,993 

  Chadwell St. Mary 1,848 

2 West Thurrock & South Stifford 2,562 

  Aveley & Uplands 1,845 

  Grays Riverside 2,553 

  Ockendon 2,047 

3 Grays Thurrock 1,719 

  Stanford East & Corringham Town 1,427 

  East Tilbury 1,204 

  Stifford Clays 1,132 

4 Stanford-le-Hope West 1,199 

  Little Thurrock Blackshots 1,020 

  Corringham & Fobbing 838 

  Little Thurrock Rectory 1,007 

5 Orsett 932 

  The Homesteads 1,352 

  Chafford & North Stifford 1,384 

  South Chafford 1,330 
Source: NHS Digital QOF 2018/19  
 

 

Another indicator used as a proxy for socio-economic status is routine and manual 
professions (R&M). Smoking prevalence is higher among these groups. Figures’ 9 
and 10 on the next two pages show the trend in smoking prevalence among R&M 
groups. 

 

 

 

 

Page 122



25 
 

Figure 9 shows a statistically significant decline in smoking prevalence among R&M 
professionals across England between 2016 and 2019 (26.5% to 23.2%). The 
estimated trend in Thurrock is also a decline (33.2% to 27.0%) but the confidence 
intervals (CI) overlap so this may not reflect actual change.  

Figure 9: APS estimated smoking prevalence among people working in R&M 
professions (2016-2019) 

 

Source: PHE fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

 

Figure 10 is a measure of relative inequity, comparing the odds of smoking among 
people working in R&M occupations, with smoking among people working in other 
occupations. The estimated trend suggests there has been a decline in relative 
inequity in smoking prevalence for Thurrock (OR 2.61 to 2.17 from 2016 to 2019) but 
an increasing trend across England (OR 2.43 to 2.46 from 2016 to 2019). Currently 
these trends are not statistically significant (shown in the graph by the error bars, 
which overlap). However, projections suggest that without targeted intervention the 
trend across England will worsen over time (Song F, 2020). While the data suggests 
Thurrock’s approach may be successfully reducing relative inequity, Thurrock still 
has higher rates of smoking among R&M workers than the England average. Also, 
the reason the relative inequity figures are lower is because more people across all 
socio-economic groups smoke in Thurrock. This is another reason for taking a 
proportionate universalism approach to Thurrock’s tobacco control strategy. 

 

 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

2016 2017 2018 2019

AP
S 

sm
ok

in
g 

pr
ev

al
en

ce
 e

st
im

at
e 

in
 R

&
M

 p
op

ul
at

io
n 

(%
)

England Thurrock

Page 123



26 
 

Figure 10: Relative inequity in smoking prevalence Thurrock, odds of smoking 
prevalence in routine and manual (R&M) occupation compared to smoking 
prevalence in non R&M occupations (2016-2019) 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

 

The data presented in this section has shown the extent of inequality in smoking 
prevalence associated with deprivation in Thurrock and for England. Thurrock does 
not differ significantly in the extent of this inequality, measured by occupational 
group, compared to England and there has been little change since 2016.  

Within Thurrock, the two most deprived wards have the highest smoking prevalence 
and smoking prevalence is strongly associated with IMD score. However, it is not a 
perfect association and the data shows that a proportionate universalism approach 
should be adopted. The highest smoking prevalence and highest number of smokers 
are spread across the eight more deprived wards compared to the remaining twelve 
wards in Thurrock.  

The next section discusses variation in smoking prevalence across Thurrock’s 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and GP practices.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

2016 2017 2018 2019

O
d

ds
 R

at
io

 (
od

ds
 o

f b
ei

ng
 a

 s
m

o
ke

r 
if 

in
 R

&
M

 
oc

cu
pa

tio
n)

 

Eng Thurrock

Page 124



27 
 

5.4 Smoking prevalence in primary care  
The data used in this section is drawn from QOF, but analysis have been undertaken 
at different time points, so comparisons cannot be made between graphs, only within 
graphs as the data is relative to the point of data capture.   

Thurrock has four PCNs and figure 11 shows that in 2020, Tilbury & Chadwell PCN 
had the highest smoking prevalence, which was above the average for Thurrock at 
22%. Aveley, South Ockendon, and Purfleet (ASOP) PCN also had smoking 
prevalence higher than the Thurrock average at 20%. The error bars show these 
findings are significant. Analysis for MSE HCP ranks these PCNs as having the third 
and sixth highest smoking prevalence in the MSE HCP geography.   

Figure 11: Thurrock QOF smoking prevalence by PCN (2020) 

 

Source: NHS Digital QOF, (2020) 

Figure 12 highlights the variability in smoking prevalence at practice level across the 
PCNs and between years; in this case data has been captured for 2017/18 and 
2018/19. Thurrock Health Centre in Grays PCN for example, had a consistently higher 
smoking prevalence during this period that the Thurrock average. Most other practices 
from this PCN had lower prevalence than the Thurrock average during this time. The 
ethos of PCNs is for the GPs to support one another to improve the health of their 
patients and therefore their performance as a PCN. All PCNs need to address tobacco 
control and more needs to be done particularly in Tilbury & Chadwell and ASOP PCNs. 
Deprivation is a key contributing factor, accounting for 94% of smoking variance 
across the MSE. It is therefore important that PCNs in more deprived areas are 
supported to put in place stop smoking services tailored to their local population needs.     

22.0 20.0 16.6 14.0

18.0

16.7

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

Tilbury and
Chadwell

Aveley, South
Ockendon and

Purfleet (ASOP)

Grays Standford-le-Hope
and Corringham

Q
O

F
 s

m
o

ki
ng

 p
re

va
le

n
ce

 (
%

) 
20

2
0

PCN Thurrock England

Page 125



28 
 

Figure 12 also shows the annual change in smoking prevalence at GP practice level; 
it demonstrates how much change can be made in a year. For instance, Tilbury Health 
Centre achieved a reduction of 14.3% between 2017/18 and 2018/19 and East Tilbury 
& Corringham MC achieved a reduction of 16.2% in the same period. This shows how 
a combination of asking and offering support and refreshing practice lists can reduce 
smoking prevalence. Dr Ramachandran Practice and Stifford Clays Medical Centre 
had an increase in smoking prevalence; this could be due to the practice more 
routinely asking patients if they smoke and so isn’t necessarily an indicator of poor 
performance. However these practices and their associated PCNs should work to 
understand change in prevalence and address this. 

Figure 12: Thurrock GPs QOF Smoking Prevalence 2017/18 – 2018/19 

 

Source: PHE fingertips – National General Practice profiles, (2018) 

The next section of this needs assessment will explore smoking prevalence among 
populations where nationally there is higher prevalence and / or increased 
vulnerability to tobacco harm. Prevalence among groups with protected 
characteristics will also be discussed.  

19.0

18.3

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

P
re

va
le

n
ce

 %

Thurrock GPs QOF Smoking Prevalence 2017/18 - 2018/19

2017/18

2018/19

Thurrock average 2017/18

Thurrock average 2018/19

Page 126



29 
 

5.5 Smoking prevalence and mental health  
Nationally, while smoking prevalence has declined among adults with a long-term 
mental health condition, prevalence remains substantially higher than the general 
population, despite the same levels of motivation to quit (PHE, 2020b). As the 
severity of mental health conditions increases so too does smoking prevalence 
(PHE, 2020b); for example prevalence in 2014/15 among people with specific mental 
health conditions was:  

 anxiety or depression: 28.0% 
 a long-term mental health condition: 34.0% 
 serious mental illness: 40.5%  

PHE’s Tobacco Control Profile offers local data based on the General Practice 
Patient Survey (GPPS); figures 13 and 14 show the prevalence trend among people 
who responded to say they have a long term mental health condition and who also 
responded to say they smoke.  The data suggests smoking prevalence among 
people who have a long term mental health condition has reduced in England from 
30.3% (CI 29.8 to 30.8) to 25.8% (CI 25.4 to 26.1) between 2016/17 and 2019/20 
(figure 13). It is not possible to confirm whether there has been a similar change in 
this period in Thurrock as the confidence intervals are very wide and overlap. The 
trend suggests there may have been a decline but the latest data point indicates a 
possible increase from the previous two years. Throughout this period smoking 
prevalence has been higher among respondents of this survey who reported having 
a long term mental health conditions than the equivalent year estimates in the 
general population for Thurrock and England.  

Figure 13: Smoking prevalence in adults with a long term mental health 
condition (18+) - current smokers (GPPS) (2013/14-2019/20) 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

30.3%
25.8%

37.1%

28.3%

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

50.0

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

%
 p

e
op

le
 w

ith
 M

H
 c

on
di

tio
n 

w
h

o 
sm

o
ke

 
(G

P
P

S
 s

u
rv

ey
) 

England Thurrock

Page 127



30 
 

Figure 14 shows the odds of being a smoker if a person reported they have a long 
term mental health (LTMH) condition compared to those who do not, which is a 
measure of relative inequality. For England and Thurrock, the odds of being a 
smoker are higher for people with a LTMH condition. In England the odds have 
reduced since 2016/173 but there has been no significant change in this trend in 
Thurrock. In 2019/20, the odds of someone with a LTMH condition smoking 
compared to people who did not have a LTMH condition were over double (England 
OR = 2.36, Thurrock OR = 2.55). The Thurrock confidence intervals are very wide 
and overlap the England average confidence intervals. This means the data does not 
indicate a significant difference in relative inequity regarding smoking prevalence 
among people with a LTMH condition between the England average and Thurrock.  

Figure 14: Smoking prevalence in adults (18+) - gap by mental health status 
(GPPS) (2016/17 – 2019/20) 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

The GPPS data used in figures 13 and 14 is based on a relatively small population 
sample. Data from GP records offers data on the local GP registered population and 
while not all records are up to date, it is an alternative source of prevalence data.  

Of the 23,660 patients registered with GPs in Thurrock who have a record to say 
they currently smoke, almost one fifth (18%) have either depression, an SMI or both. 
Thurrock patients are more likely to smoke if they have a mental health condition and 
smoking prevalence increases with the severity of mental illness and the number of 
diagnoses; mirroring the national pattern.  Smoking prevalence among people with a 
diagnosed mental health condition in Thurrock is summarised below and in figure 15.  

 Patients recorded as having depression who smoke: 30%  
 Patients recorded as having an SMI who smoke: 39% 
 Patients recorded as having depression and SMI who smoke: 44%  

                                                           
3 England 2016/17 OR = 2.51, CI 2.45 to 2.57; 2019/20 OR = 2.36, CI 2.31 to 2.41 

2.51
2.36

3.09

2.55

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

5.00

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

O
d

ds
 r

a
tio

: 
o

dd
s 

of
 b

e
in

g 
a

 s
m

ok
e

r 
if 

ha
ve

 a
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 c

on
di

tio
n

England Thurrock

Page 128



31 
 

Figure 15: Venn diagram showing the number of patients who are coded as 
having depression and / or having an SMI and who smoke (2020 QOF) 

 

Source: SystmOne, Thurrock Council Public Health Intelligence team 2020  

Data has also been sought from Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust 
(EPUT) and Thurrock’s Increasing Access to psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
service. This data can indicate people accessing support from mental health services 
who have also been supported to stop smoking through these services. IAPT do not 
collect data on the smoking status of their service users so it is not possible to 
estimate this. Data from EPUT was not available at the time of writing this JSNA but 
will be considered in the development of the strategy should this information become 
available. Targeted work with these services is a mechanism for offering tailored 
support to some of the local population living with mental illness, however data in this 
section also shows more work needs to be done in primary care to address smoking 
in this population.   

The data presented in this section does not show hidden need among people with 
undiagnosed mental illness; there may therefore be unmet need regarding smoking 
cessation support among people who have poor mental health.  

Overall this section shows that Thurrock mirrors the national picture regarding 
mental illness and smoking; an increasing number of mental health diagnoses and 
increasing severity of the condition is associated with a higher likelihood of smoking. 
Across England, data from the GPPS survey suggests there has been a reduction in 
absolute and relative inequality in smoking prevalence comparing people with a 
mental health condition to the general population since 2016/17. There has however 
been no significant change in Thurrock during this period.   

The next section discusses prevalence among people with a long term condition and 
focusses on physical illness as mental health has been discussed here.  

Smoker 
(n: 23,660)

SMI (727)Depression 
(n: 12,516) 

3,766 286 

184 

Page 129



32 
 

5.6 Smoking prevalence and people with long term conditions (LTCs)    
Smoking increases the risk of LTCs, so prevalence among people with conditions 
such as cardiovascular disease is higher and also associated with how addicted 
people are (ASH, 2020b). For example national evidence shows that 44% of heavy 
smokers have at least one LTC, compared to 38% of moderate smokers and 32% of 
never smokers (ASH, 2020b).  People from more deprived populations are more 
likely to smoke more cigarettes per day and smoke more of each cigarette; this 
impacts the higher prevalence of LTC in these populations.  There is a need to 
identify and support smokers from poorer socio-economic groups who have LTCs to 
reduce tobacco related inequalities in health outcomes.  

Figure 16 shows the proportion of smokers in Thurrock with one or more of the 
following LTCs; Asthma, Chronic Kidney Disease, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disorder, Stroke/ TIA, Heart Failure, Hypertension and Type 2 Diabetes. For 
example, the data indicates that over a quarter of smokers in Thurrock have asthma. 
The figure does not show the proportion of patients with Cancer as the data only 
indicated 10 patients who smoke were recorded with QOF code CAN001. There may 
be other QOF codes that would more accurately demonstrate the proportion of 
smokers in Thurrock who have cancer. Some smokers may have more than one of 
these LTCs and so may be double counted. Asthma and CKD are the most common 
of these LTCs, however all patients with a LTC who smoke can benefit from quitting. 
This data indicates which LTCs PCNs and GP practices may wish to focus on to 
support smokers with a LTC. 

Figure 16: Proportion of registered patients who smoke in Thurrock and who 
have a LTC (2021) 

 

Source: Thurrock Council Public Health Intelligence Team (QOF) 

0.6%

0.7%

3.9%

9.5%

12.3%

19.6%

26.4%

-5.0% 0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0% 30.0% 35.0%

Type 2 Diabetes DM017

Hypertension HYP001

Heart Failure HF1

Stroke / TIA STIA001

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder COPD009

Chronic Kidney Disease CKD005

Asthma AST005

Proportion of smokers with this LTC

Page 130



33 
 

Figure 17 shows the GP practices that have the highest proportion of patients who 
smoke with one or more of the LTCs selected for this analysis. Dr Devaraja has the 
highest proportion of patients who smoke with one or more of the LTCs included in 
this analyses, with one third of these patients being recorded as smokers (33.4%, 
n=124). In total, ten practices have higher smoking prevalence among patients with a 
LTC than the Thurrock average. These practices should consider their offer to 
smokers with LTCs as part of a practice approach to reducing inequalities.  

Figure 17: Proportion of patients who smoke who have a LTC (asthma, CKD, 
COPD, Stroke/TIA, HF, Hypertension, T2D) by Thurrock GP practice (2021)  

 

Source: Thurrock Council Public Health Intelligence Team (QOF) 

Data showing the association between smoking and LTCs differs based on which 
LTCs are included in the analysis. Based on the Thurrock analysis, there is a high 
proportion of patients who smoke who have Asthma and COPD, both conditions that 
are exacerbated by smoking. Furthermore, there is wide variation between GP 
practices in Thurrock regarding the proportion of their patients who smoke who also 
have one or more of the LTCs included in this analysis. All practices should consider 
their offer to patients with a LTC who smoke, but especially those with a high 
proportion of smokers who have LTCs.  

20.9%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

P
a

tie
n

ts
 w

h
o 

sm
ok

e 
w

ith
 o

ne
 o

r 
m

o
re

 L
T

C
 (

%
) 

GP practice Thurrock average

Page 131



34 
 

The next section is about smoking during pregnancy; this is a priority group 
nationally because of the risk of harm to unborn babies and their mothers from 
smoking.  

5.7 Smoking and pregnancy  
Smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) is a nationally used marker of smoking 
prevalence among pregnant women. This is because smoking is the largest 
modifiable risk factor for poor birth outcomes such as miscarriage and low birth 
weight (PHE, 2020f). It is also a major cause of inequality in child and maternal 
health.  Figure 18 shows that in England, the East of England (EoE) region and 
Thurrock there has been little change in SATOD since 2016/17. The change 
nationally has been small, but there has been a statistically significant reduction in 
SATOD (10.7% in 2016/17 (CI 10.6 to 10.8), to 10.4% in 2019/20 (CI 10.3 to 10.5)). 
The EoE region has consistently had statistically significantly lower SATOD than the 
England average during this period. For Thurrock, SATOD was significantly lower 
than the England average in 2016/17 but it is not possible to say whether the current 
prevalence of 9.4% is significantly lower as the confidence interval crosses the 
England average. The current prevalence in Thurrock is equivalent to approximately 
one in ten women smoking during their pregnancy (NHS Digital, 2020).   
 
Figure 18: Smoking status at time of delivery 2012-2020 (England, EoE and 
Thurrock) 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

P
e

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f 

pr
e

gn
a

nt
 w

o
m

e
n 

w
ho

 s
m

o
ke

 a
t 

tim
e 

of
 

de
liv

er
y 

England EoE Thurrock

Page 132



35 
 

Figure 19 shows that Thurrock has statistically significantly lower SATOD compared 
to six of its fifteen CIPFA comparator areas. This is important since CIPFA 
neighbours have similar socio-demographic profiles. The factors considered in these 
profiles are also risk factors for smoking during pregnancy, which suggests Thurrock 
is performing relatively well given its socio-demographic profile in addressing 
smoking prevalence among pregnant women. 

Figure 19: Smoking status at time of delivery among Thurrock’s CIPFA 
neighbours (2019/20) 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips (PHE, 2020) 

However, work to support pregnant women to quit smoking needs to continue locally; 
compared to other districts in MSE, Thurrock ranks fourth highest out of nine for 
SATOD. MSE district analysis shows that 22% of SATOD is explained by the district’s 
IMD 2019 score; this is evidence that locally, deprivation is a factor impacting smoking 
during pregnancy but less so than in the general population. Smoking during 
pregnancy is also likely to be concentrated among younger women, based on national 
smoking prevalence in pregnancy data. Addressing smoking for these groups is 
particularly important for reducing health inequality pre-birth, health inequality in the 
early years and is an opportunity to reduce childhood poverty (ASH, 2020c). 

Asking about smoking status in pregnancy is part of the ‘Ask, Advise, Act’ (AAA) 
smoking cessation intervention; the impact of this intervention in Thurrock is discussed 
in section six of this needs assessment. The AAA approach could also be used by 
Health Visitors to strengthen support for women after having a baby. However data on 
smoking prevalence in families is not a national data collection; the evidence for this 
approach is discussed in section seven of this needs assessment. 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

20.0

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 s

m
ok

in
g 

at
 ti

m
e 

of
 d

el
iv

er
y 

(%
)

Local authority England

Page 133



36 
 

The risk of second hand smoke is another important factor impacting the health of 
pregnant women and their babies.  Data on second hand smoke exposure is not 
currently available at local authority level, but nationally an estimated 20% of women 
are exposed to second-hand smoke in the home throughout their pregnancy. Women 
who live with a smoker are six-times more likely to smoke throughout pregnancy and, 
if they do quit, are more likely to relapse into smoking once the baby is born 
(Smokefree Action Coalition, 2020).  Therefore more pregnant smokers’ partners, and 
wider household members who smoke should also be asked about their smoking 
status and encouraged to stop (NICE, 2014) (NICE, 2010). Interventions to reduce risk 
of exposure to second hand smoke are discussed in section seven of this needs 
assessment.  

The next section discusses smoking prevalence among children and young people.  

5.8 Children and young people  
Understanding smoking prevalence among children and young people is important 
partly because around two thirds of adult smokers report that they took up smoking 
before the age of 18 and over 80% before the age of 20 (ASH, 2019b). Furthermore, 
experimentation with cigarette smoking at a young age poses a greater risk of 
developing into addiction; children may show signs of addiction within four weeks of 
starting to smoke and before they commence daily smoking (ASH, 2019b). Figure 20 
demonstrates the long term potential of reducing prevalence overall by stopping 
uptake at a young age.  

Figure 20: Age at which young people take up smoking in the UK (2011)  

 

 

Source: Smoking Attitudes & Behaviours, ONS (2011) 

38%

27%

17%

11%

6%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Under 16yrs 16 - 17yrs 18 - 19yrs 20 - 24yrs 25yrs +

P
e

rc
en

ta
ge

 (
%

)

Age at which young people take up smoking in the UK, 2011                                   

18yrs is the age at which you can 
legally buy Tobacco

Page 134



37 
 

Factors that increase the risk of children and young people taking up smoking 
include smoking among parents, siblings and peers, ease of obtaining cigarettes, 
socio-economic status, and exposure to tobacco marketing and in media. Children 
who live in households with people who smoke are up to three times more likely to 
become smokers themselves (ASH, 2019b). School truancy and engagement in 
other risk taking behaviours such as drinking alcohol and taking drugs are also 
associated with cigarette smoking in this age group.   

There are several data sources that demonstrate attitudes to and uptake of smoking 
cigarettes, other tobacco products and e-cigarettes among children and young 
people. These include GP records and survey data. This section summarises these 
for Thurrock.  

Figure 21 shows the number of registered smokers and the proportion of patients 
who smoke among people aged under 18 in Thurrock, which increases with age. 
Over 450 children under the legal age for purchasing cigarettes have disclosed to 
their GP that they smoke. There are likely to be more young people who have not 
disclosed this to their GP. While GPs are in a position to offer advice and support, 
including referral to stop smoking services for young people who disclose that they 
smoke, interventions must also be available in other settings to encourage young 
people to seek support to stop smoking.   

Figure 21: Number of smokers aged under 18 in Thurrock based on QOF 
smoking records (2021 data).  

 

Source: Thurrock Council Public Health Intelligence team. QOF records February 2021 

Modelling of national data estimates that 372 children aged 11-15 years old a year 
start smoking in Thurrock (Hopkinson NS, 2014), two thirds (248) of whom will go on 
to become daily smokers (Birge M, 2018).  The difference between this estimate and 

128

156
171

3.6%

6.4%

7.7%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

15 years 16 years 17 years

P
a

tie
nt

s 
o

n 
G

P
 r

e
gi

st
e

r 
w

h
o 

sm
o

ke
 (

%
)

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
p

at
ie

nt
s 

on
 G

P
 r

eg
is

te
r 

w
ho

 s
m

ok
e

smoking (n) proportion

Page 135



38 
 

the QOF data in figure 21 indicates the potential scale of the gap in information 
about young people who smoke. These data also indicate that interventions to 
address smoking in Thurrock need to start from an early age and with particular 
support for children as they reach their mid-teens, across settings that have regular 
contact with young people.  

Nationally, the ‘What about YOUth’ (WAY) survey and ‘Smoking, Drinking and Drugs’ 
(SDD) surveys offer insight into attitudes and prevalence of smoking among children 
and young people. These are supplemented by the ‘Brighter Futures Survey’ in 
Thurrock. The most recent national data comes from the SDD survey but data is not 
available at local authority level; in England in 2018 the estimated prevalence among 
15 year olds was 5% (PHE, 2020). Data from the What about YOUth survey offers 
data regarding smoking behaviours among 15 year olds at local authority and ward 
level but was undertaken in 2014. Data from this survey suggests Thurrock may 
have a lower proportion of young people who have tried e-cigarettes, occasional 
smokers and current smokers than the regional and national averages (see figure 
22). The data also indicates that Thurrock may have a higher proportion of young 
people who have tried smoking than the regional and national average and a higher 
proportion of young people who have tried other tobacco products than the national 
average. Confidence intervals are not available for these data to allow comparison of 
the significance of these local, regional and national differences so these patterns 
might not reflect the true scale of differences at the time. 

Figure 22: Results from the WAY survey showing tobacco and e-cigarette use 
in Thurrock, EoE and England among 15 year old survey respondents 
(2014/15)  

 

Source: PHE fingertips Child and Maternal Health Profiles (PHE , 2021) 

While the results from the WAY survey are promising, estimates vary by ward; 
smoking prevalence was estimated to be highest in The Homesteads (6.8%), Orsett 
(6.5%) and Corringham and Fobbing (6.1%). Prevalence was lowest in Tilbury 

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0%

Current smokers

Occassional smokers

Tried smoking

Tried e-cigarette

Tried other tobacco products

Percentage of survey respondents (age 15)

Thurrock EoE

England

Page 136



39 
 

Riverside and Thurrock Park (3.7%), West Thurrock and South Stifford (3.8%). This 
is an unexpected finding since it reflects the opposite situation compared to adult 
smoking prevalence. Wards with the lowest smoking prevalence among 15 year olds 
are those with the highest adult prevalence and wards with the highest smoking 
prevalence among 15 year olds are those with the lowest among adults. This may be 
an anomaly in the modelling work to estimate prevalence in this age group at ward 
level, but may truly reflect higher prevalence in these wards. The message from this 
data is that work to prevent smoking uptake must reach children across Thurrock. 
While risk factors that impact uptake must be included in intervention design, all 
children are influenced by their peer groups and wider marketing and advertising.  

Another finding from the WAY survey is that a relatively high number of children had 
tried e-cigarettes and ‘other tobacco products’ (such as shisha pipe, hookah, 
waterpipe); use of tobacco through smoking marijuana is not included in this.  More 
evidence is needed regarding the relationship between children and young people 
trying e-cigarettes and cigarette smoking uptake in this age group, however trend 
data does not suggest an association. Prevalence of trying e-cigarettes has 
increased but there continues to be a downward trend in cigarette smoking (ASH, 
2019c). There is little data regarding regular use of other tobacco products once they 
have been tried, but these products are harmful to health and interventions for young 
people about tobacco should include these.   

Brighter Futures Survey: insight into smoking among young people in Thurrock  

An annual survey called “Brighter Futures” is delivered in primary and secondary 
schools in Thurrock to assess the health, wellbeing and behaviours of children 
(Thurrock Council, 2018). Data from the survey is used by the schools to inform 
education and support programmes and by the council to inform commissioning of 
the School Wellbeing Service.  It should be noted that the survey results do not 
represent all schools; for instance data for 2020 represents responses from 4 
secondary schools and 23 primary schools. The irregular composition of the sample 
from one survey year to the next limits the conclusions that can be drawn about 
trends. Recent survey findings (2020) relevant to tobacco control intervention 
planning for children and young people in Thurrock are summarised below: 

 Cigarettes: 
o Year 4 pupils were given a ‘yes/no’ answer choice for a question asking 

‘smoking: which statement describes you best’; 1% responded to say 
‘yes’, however it is not known whether these pupils regularly smoke.  

o Year 7 and 9 pupils were given a scale to rate their smoking status; 
among year 7 pupils, 1% reported they had tried a cigarette and among 
year 9 pupils, 7% reported they had tried a cigarette. Zero year 7 pupils 
reported regular smoking / having quit regular smoking, while 1% of year 
9 pupils reported smoking occasionally (less than one cigarette per week) 
and 1% reported having given up smoking.  

o The survey results across all year groups have varied widely regarding 
prevalence of having ever tried a cigarette in different school pupil 

Page 137



40 
 

samples over time in Thurrock (2017-2020 samples varied from 18% 
prevalence to 3% prevalence of having tried a cigarette).   
 

 Vaping: 
o Using the same question format as for smoking, 3% of year 4 pupils 

answered ‘yes’ to vaping. While 5% of year 7 pupils and 15% of year 9 
pupils reported having tried vaping once or twice. No year 7 pupils 
reported more regular vaping use and 2% of year 9 pupils reported 
vaping occasionally and 2% reporting having given up vaping. 

o The survey results across all year groups have varied widely regarding 
having ever tried vaping in different samples over time; 2017 = 22%, 
2018 = 16%; 2019 = 27%; 2020 = 6%. 
 

 Marijuana use and exposure: 
o More males than females in year 9 reported having ever used cannabis 

(7% vs 5%). Fewer pupils had tried skunk; 1% of males and no females.  
 

 Risk taking behaviour. 
o The survey assessed the correlation between risk taking behaviours 

among year 9 pupils. The findings identified that if a year 9 pupil has 
experience of any substance, they are more likely to have experience of 
other substances and of sex.  

o For smoking specifically, among pupils who had tried smoking, 75% had 
tried vaping (compared to 19% who hadn’t tried smoking); 80% had tried 
alcohol (compared to 56% who hadn’t tried smoking); 53% had tried 
drugs (compared to 8% who hadn’t tried smoking) and 10% had sex 
(compared to 2% who hadn’t tried smoking).  
 

Implications of these findings for planning local interventions to stop smoking uptake 
among children and young people are:  

 There is consistently higher prevalence of trying vaping and regular to 
occasional vaping than cigarette use; harm reduction communications among 
children and young people must take this into account.  

 Primary schools as well as secondary schools must consider how to engage 
in prevention interventions for smoking since by year four, some pupils have 
already tried smoking, vaping and other risk taking behaviours.  

 Tobacco control interventions for young people may be better framed as part 
of a more holistic offer covering all risk taking behaviours. Understanding the 
contributing factors is necessary to tailoring this appropriate to the needs.  

 Children and young people’s exposure to crime should also be considered in 
planning interventions for stopping smoking uptake. The relationship between 
illicit tobacco, underage sales for cigarettes, alcohol, e-cigarettes and drugs 
such as marijuana needs to be better understood and used to support 
children at highest risk of exposure to this.   

 

Page 138



41 
 

 
Exposure to second-hand smoke 

Children may be exposed to tobacco, even if they do not smoke; while 77% of 
smokers report they would not smoke at all if they were in a room with a child, in 
2018, over half (55%) of young people reported exposure to second-hand smoke in 
their homes and 23% in cars. Interventions to reduce the risk of children and young 
people taking up smoking must also consider the home environment, to reduce their 
exposure to second-hand smoke but also because having household members stop 
smoking can lift families out of poverty (ASH, 2019b). 

The next section discusses smoking prevalence among adult populations in 
protected characteristics groups.  

 

5.9 Protected characteristics groups and smoking prevalence  
This section explores smoking prevalence in groups with protected characteristics; 
pregnancy and maternity has already been discussed as this is a priority group for 
tobacco control. Local data has been used where possible and otherwise, national 
data are given to highlight groups that may have higher smoking prevalence locally.  

 Gender: Smoking prevalence is divided equally among men and women in 
Thurrock, with a 50:50 split, similar to the demographic split in the Thurrock 
general population. This differs to the national picture where more men are 
recorded as smokers than women. Also, national data shows that prevalence by 
gender varies by age and ethnic group; this latter point should be especially 
considered in Thurrock when targeting services to certain communities by ethnic 
group as this is where gender differences are most pronounced (ASH, 2016). 
The data used here is based on GP records and does not represent all gender 
identities as recording of this is not sufficient for reliable estimates.  

 Age: Figure 23 shows the age distribution of smokers in Thurrock, which peaks 
among people aged 31-35 and 36-40 and with relatively large numbers of 
people aged 41-60. This has implications for targeting stop smoking service 
availability (job seekers / employment settings with higher prevalence) and for 
secondary prevention. Lower prevalence in the age categories 21-30 could 
indicate a positive change in future prevalence as most smokers have started 
smoking by the age of 20.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



42 
 

Figure 23: Age distribution of smokers in Thurrock (2021)  

 

Source: Thurrock Council Public Health Intelligence team. QOF records February 2021 

 Ethnicity Nationally, smoking prevalence is higher than average in Mixed 
(19.5%) and White (14.4%) ethnic groups and lower than average in Chinese 
(6.7%), Asian (8.3%) and Black (9.7%) ethnic groups. 

 Analysis was performed using QOF coded data to assess prevalence among 
different ethnic groups in Thurrock. The data has its limitations as it presents 
only the ethnic code selected for a patient and may not fully represent their 
ethnic identity. Nonetheless, the data gives some indication of smoking 
prevalence across the ethnicity codes used in this analysis. 

 Figure 24 shows that in Thurrock, most smokers are coded as ‘British or Mixed 
British’. The next category contributing the most smokers is ‘Other White’.  
These categories may mask higher prevalence among some sub populations. 
For example among the ‘Other White’ population, it is likely there is a high 
proportion of people from countries with higher smoking prevalence compared 
to the UK such as Poland, which has a prevalence of 28.2% (ASH, 2019D). This 
data also does not show use / prevalence of other tobacco products; for 
example national data indicates that 7% of the South Asian population use 
chewed or sucked tobacco, particularly of Bangladeshi ethnicity (12%) 
compared to 1% of the white population (ASH, 2019D). Smoking prevalence 
varies among genders within ethnic groups and there may be particularly high 
prevalence in some sub categories. Local insight from qualitative, community 
based work should be used to identify communities who are recent migrants 
and for whom there may be more exposure to smoking or groups among whom 
use of other tobacco products may be higher.   

 

 

 

 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

P
a

tie
nt

s 
o

n 
Q

O
F

 s
m

ok
in

g
 r

eg
is

te
r 

(n
)

Age group 

Page 140



43 
 

Figure 24: Percentage of smokers by ethnic group in Thurrock (2021) 

 

Source: Thurrock Council Public Health Intelligence team. QOF records February 2021 

 Religion: National data indicates that people who identify as having no religion 
are significantly more likely to smoke than people who have any other religion 
(ONS, 2020).  

 Disability: at the time of writing this needs assessment, no national data was 
identified regarding physical disability and smoking prevalence.  

 Nationally, the population living with a learning disability are identified as a 
priority group regarding smoking, although data on prevalence in this population 
is not available. The local LeDeR report indicates that smoking is particularly 
prevalent in the older population living with a learning disability, who spent time 
in long stay institutions. This addiction is very challenging to change among this 
group and even people living independently in the community may not be able 
to access the mainstream stop smoking service offer. People with a learning 
disability are offered an annual health check but coding on GP registers of 
people having a learning disability is not sufficiently accurate to allow 
assessment of smoking prevalence in this population. Work must be undertaken 
locally to gain insight into the fit of the current service offer with need.  

 Gender reassignment: Smoking prevalence among transgender people is 
higher than the general population but there is no recent evidence to suggest 
the scale of this. A 2012 survey indicated that 56% of transgender participants 
reported they had smoked at some point in their lives (McNeil, 2012).  

 Sexual orientation: Smoking prevalence is higher among lesbian, gay and 
bisexual people; rates are highest among bisexual men (26.7%) and LGB 
women (25%) (ASH, 2019c).  

-20000 0 20000 40000 60000 80000 100000

White & Asian

White & Black Caribbean

Chinese

Irish

Bangladeshi or British Bangladeshi

Pakistani or British Pakistani

Other Mixed

Caribbean

White & Black African

Indian or British Indian

Other Asian

Other

Other Black

African

Other White

British or Mixed British

E
th

n
ic

ity
 c

od
e

N patients

Page 141



44 
 

 Marriage and civil partnership: national survey data suggests married adults and 
those who are widowed / divorced are the least likely to be current smokers. 
Prevalence is higher and similar for those who are cohabiting or single (ONS, 
2020).  

This section has so far discussed prevalence of smoking cigarettes, which is based 
on data reported by members of the public through surveys and modelling estimates. 
Of the cigarettes purchased, a share will be those classed as illicit tobacco; the next 
section summarises evidence of the scale of this.  

5.10 Scale of illicit tobacco 
It is important to consider illicit tobacco in this needs assessment because it blunts 
the effectiveness of tobacco duty as a tool to reduce prevalence; it tends to be sold 
at a lower cost and since cigarette smoking is an addiction that is sensitive to price, 
this has an impact on demand (ASH, 2017). Also, understanding the scale of illicit 
tobacco supply has implications for wider social impacts associated with crime, 
which are discussed elsewhere in this document. While it is not possible to estimate 
the proportion of smokers who use illicit tobacco, the scale can be understood to 
some extent through estimates from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 
and local data from seized goods.  

HMRC data indicates that the illicit market share for cigarette sales decreased to 9% 
in 2017/18 from 15% in 2016/17. The illicit market share for hand rolled tobacco 
increased to 32% from 27% in 2016/17 (ONS, 2019).  

This data is not available locally, however Thurrock’s Trading Standards Team 
seized 32,255 illicit and counterfeit cigarettes and 8.5kg of counterfeit hand rolling 
tobacco in 2019/20. For illicit and counterfeit cigarettes, these quantities would be 
sufficient to supply approximately ten cigarette smokers smoking the average 
number of cigarettes per day (nine) (ASH, 2021) for a year. It isn’t possible to 
estimate the equivalent for hand rolled tobacco as there isn’t sufficient quality data 
on the average amount used per cigarette. This data only shows the amount of illicit 
tobacco that was seized and therefore still doesn’t allow estimation of the true scale 
of illicit tobacco circulating in Thurrock. The Trading Standards team report that 
much of the illicit tobacco trade in Thurrock is concentrated in Grays town centre 

This is a challenging aspect of tobacco control to thoroughly quantify but these data 
show its supply is present in Thurrock and work needs to continue to stop this to 
increase the effectiveness of the overall strategic approach.   

The next section of this needs assessment will discuss the impact of smoking and 
more broadly tobacco on the health of the Thurrock population. Emphasis has been 
given to the health of smokers as this is the group most directly impacted by 
smoking, but where data on second hand smoke harm or other tobacco harm is 
available, this has been included. The health impact is mainly expressed in terms of 
physical health but social health and economic impacts are also discussed. Mental 
health impacts are not discussed. This is because most data and evidence regarding 
the impact of smoking is concerned with physical health, mainly because it is the 
most direct impact.  

Page 142



45 
 

6 Impact of smoking 
 

6.1 Impact of smoking in the UK 
Smoking continues to be the leading cause of premature4 and preventable5 death in 
England, responsible for more deaths than obesity, alcohol, drug misuse, road traffic 
accidents and HIV combined (PHE, 2020d), (ONS, 2019b). It is also the largest 
single contributor to health inequalities, accounting for half the difference in life 
expectancy between those living in the most and least deprived communities. The 
impacts of tobacco on health are felt at all ages, from low birth weight, to respiratory 
disease in childhood and increased risk of infectious and non-communicable 
diseases in adulthood. It also has social health risks such as the relationship 
between illicit tobacco and crime and antisocial behaviour associated with second 
hand smoke. This chapter explores the impact for Thurrock on mortality, morbidity, 
inequalities and the local economy.   

 

6.2 Overview of the health impact of smoking on the Thurrock population 
Table 3 summarises the overall impact of smoking in Thurrock; the data shows that 
Thurrock’s high smoking prevalence translates into significantly higher smoking 
attributable mortality, premature mortality (measured by years of life lost (YLL)) and 
hospital admissions than the England average.  

Table 3: Summary of smoking impact in Thurrock 

Impact Measure Thurrock England % difference 

Smoking attributable mortality per 

100,000 (2016-18) 
313.0 250.2 

25% higher 

mortality 

Potential YLL due to smoking related 

illness per 100,000 (2016-18) 
1,478 1,313 

13% higher rate of 

YLL 

Inequality in life expectancy at birth 

(years) (males) (2016-18) 
8.4 9.5 

13% smaller gap in 

life expectancy  

Inequality in life expectancy at birth 

(years) (females) (2016-18) 
7.4 7.5 

1% smaller gap in 

life expectancy  

Smoking attributable hospital 

admissions per 100,000 (2018/19) 
2,050 1,612 

27% more hospital 

admissions 

(A red cell represents worse rates than the England average, blue represents better). 

Source: PHE Fingertips Tobacco Control Profiles 

                                                           
4 deaths before the age of 75 
5 deaths that could mainly be avoided through effective public health and primary prevention interventions 

Page 143



46 
 

Table 3 also shows that Thurrock has a smaller gap in life expectancy compared to 
the England average for males and females; this is more pronounced for males. 
There are many factors that contribute to the gap but smoking is the largest single 
contributor. Thurrock’s smoking prevalence is more distributed across socio-
economic groups, meaning the impact is not only concentrated in the most deprived 
areas, which could partly explain this figure.  

Figure 25: Attributable mortality in Thurrock and England  

 

 

 

Figure 25 illustrates the scale of 
smoking related deaths each year in 
Thurrock. The number of deaths is the 
equivalent to filling the seating 
capacity of eight and a half double-
decker buses (seating 80 passengers 
each).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

While the gap in life expectancy at birth is smaller in Thurrock compared to the 
England average, children born in Thurrock’s most deprived areas are predicted to 
live 8.4 years (males) and 7.4 years (females) less than those living in the least 
deprived areas. Reducing the prevalence of smoking in these communities is 
essential to reducing inequities in life expectancy, as well as a range of other 
measures of health that will be discussed in this section.  

 

Smoking attributable mortality  

Thurrock had 25% more smoking attributable deaths than the England average in 
the most recent reporting period (2016-18), with a rate of 313 deaths per 100,000, 
which is equivalent to 679 deaths a year. Trend analysis shows that Thurrock has 
consistently had significantly higher smoking attributable mortality than the England 
and East of England averages (see figure 26).  
 

Page 144



47 
 

Figure 26: Trend in smoking attributable mortality per 100,000 population in 
Thurrock, East of England and England 2007 to 2018 

 
Source: PHE Fingertips Tobacco Control Profiles (PHE, 2020) 
 

Years of life lost (YLL) due to smoking  

YLL is a measure of premature mortality, which summarises the number of years lost 
among people aged 35+ who die of smoking related disease before the age of 75. 
Between 2016 and 2018, 3,306 years of life were lost due to smoking among the 
Thurrock population aged under 75 (at a rate of 1,478 per 100,000 population). Until 
the most recent reporting period, the trend was increasing for this statistic in 
Thurrock (figure 27). It is promising that the trend may be reversing but Thurrock 
continues to lose many years of life in the under 75 population due to its high 
smoking prevalence and in the last two reporting periods this has been significantly 
higher than the England and regional averages.  

Figure 27: Trend in years of life lost per 100,000 population in Thurrock, East 
of England and England 2012 to 2018 

 

Source: PHE Fingertips Tobacco Control Profiles 

 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

350.0

400.0

450.0

2007 -
2009

2008 -
2010

2009 -
2011

2010 -
2012

2011 -
2013

2012 -
2014

2013 -
2015

2014 -
2016

2015 -
2017

2016 -
2018

England East of England region Thurrock

M
o

rt
al

ity
ra

te
 p

er
 

3 year period

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2012 to 2014 2013 to 2015 2014 to 2016 2015 to 2017 2016 to 2018

England East of England Thurrock

3 year period

Y
ea

rs
 o

f l
ife

 lo
st

  
pe

r 
10

0,
00

0

Page 145



48 
 

Smoking attributable hospital admissions and cost per capita of smoking 
attributable hospital admissions  

These statistics indicate the impact of preventable smoking-related conditions on 
inpatient hospital services and are an indicator of smoking related morbidity. 
Thurrock has 27% more smoking attributable hospital admissions than the England 
average and along with Southend-on-Sea, the highest rate among its CIPFA 
neighbours and in the East of England (figure 28). 

Figure 28: Smoking attributable hospital admissions in the East of England by 
area of residence (2018) 

  

Source: PHE Fingertips Tobacco Control Profiles 

 
Thurrock spends £9 more per capita than the best performing CIPFA neighbour on 
smoking attributable hospital admissions (Thurrock = £33.20 per capita, compared to 
Bedford = £24.20 per capita in 2016/17, the most recent reporting period). If 
Thurrock had the same cost per capita as Bedford, it would have spent almost 
£800,000 less on smoking attributable admissions in that year.  

 

6.3 Financial impact of smoking related harm in Thurrock  
Smoking costs the Thurrock economy approximately £42.4 million per year.  While 
£24.8 million is raised through taxation of tobacco products, the costs associated 
with smoking related illness are over one and a half times the amount of the duty 
raised, creating a net annual deficit to society of £17.6m (figure 29).  

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Local Authority England East of England average

Sm
ok

in
g 

at
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 h
os

pi
ta

l 
ad

m
is

si
on

s p
er

 1
00

,0
00

Page 146



49 
 

Figure 29: Estimated cost of smoking to the local economy 

 

Source: ASH Ready Reckoner, (2019) (ASH, 2019e) 

The adult social care associated costs were recently updated by ASH based on new 
data and modelling (ASH, 2021d). For Thurrock the service and residential social 
care costs associated with smoking for 2021 are estimated to be over £3.8 million. In 
addition, the ASH model estimates that there are approximately 3,505 people 
receiving unpaid care from friends and family for smoking – attributable needs; if this 
care was purchased from formal services, it is estimated the cost would be over £26 
million per year.    

             Figure 30: Costs to smokers 

Smoking also impacts household budgets; the 
cost of smoking 20 cigarettes a day equates 
to almost £4,000 a year (figure 30). Smoking 
has become 30% less affordable than in 2008. 
Although tobacco use impacts the health of 
people across the socio-economic gradient, 
the financial burden is greatest for those on 
low income. The next section shall explore the 
impact of tobacco use on inequalities, 
including the health and financial implications.    

 

 

Page 147



50 
 

6.4 Impact of smoking on health inequalities in Thurrock  
The effect smoking has on health regardless of socio-economic group is so large 
that non-smokers in the most deprived areas live longer than smokers in the least 
deprived areas. Thus, while work to address the root causes of health inequalities is 
important, addressing smoking offers the fastest route to reduce health inequalities 
due to the scale of impact it has on survival. Smoking accounts for half the difference 
in life expectancy at birth between the most and least deprived population groups. In 
Thurrock, the total difference in life expectancy at birth is 8.4 years for males and 7.4 
years for females; smoking will be a contributing factor to this difference.  

Figure 31 shows the proportion of premature deaths (deaths before the age of 75) 
that are attributable to socioeconomic inequalities in Thurrock; COPD and heart 
disease are the main causes. If everyone in Thurrock had the same risk of death as 
people living in the least deprived district nationally, there would be 68% fewer 
premature COPD deaths and 58% fewer premature heart disease deaths in 
Thurrock. Given the strong association between smoking and deprivation, and 
between smoking and these conditions, this figure also indicates the potential scale 
of improvement that could be made in reducing premature mortality if smoking 
prevalence was reduced.  

Figure 31: Proportion of premature deaths due to socioeconomic inequality 
(2020) 

 

Source: Thurrock Council Population Health MSE analysis 2021  

Compared to the other districts in the MSE HCP, of all the total attributable deaths to 
socioeconomic inequality, Thurrock has the highest number due to circulatory 
disease, and third highest due to Cancer. Thus, addressing the high smoking 
prevalence in Thurrock will be an important strategic opportunity to reduce 
premature deaths for MSE. 

68%

58%

53%

51%

49%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

COPD

Other forms of heart disease

Cancers: respiratory

Other cardiovascular

Ischaemic heart disease

Thurrock – Leading diseases with highest mortality due to 
socioeconomic inequality (MASI)

Page 148



51 
 

Tobacco use also impacts on people’s lives through household expenditure. Almost 
15% of social renters are likely to be living in poverty as a result of smoking 
(compared to 7% of home owners and 6% of private renters) (ASH, 2019d). Locally, 
regardless of smoking status, approximately 52.9% of Thurrock households are not 
likely to meet the affordability requirements to purchase the smallest types of 
property available on the housing market. For those renting, a claimant in an 
average one bedroom private rental property would have an annual shortfall of 
£1,872 between the cost of renting and the amount of Housing Benefit or Universal 
Credit housing element. As highlighted earlier in this needs assessment, smoking 20 
cigarettes a day costs a household £3,942 a year; supporting people to stop smoking 
can therefore also help protect them from debt and insecure housing (Thurrock 
Council, 2020). 

Tobacco impacts health inequalities across other groups where smoking prevalence 
is higher such as people living with a mental illness, LGBTQ communities, people 
who have a learning disability (ASH, 2019). At the time of writing this needs 
assessment, local data was not available on health outcomes and morbidity 
associated with tobacco for all these sub populations.  

For mental illness there is data regarding premature mortality in adults with severe 
mental illness (SMI); for Thurrock the premature mortality rate among people with an 
SMI is higher than the England average (159.6 per 100,000 population compared to 
the England average of 90.5) (2015-17). Although smoking is not the only factor 
contributing to this inequality, it is a major contributor.  

The evidence showing the impact of tobacco on health in the general population is 
strong and suggests worse health can be expected among all groups with higher 
smoking prevalence. 

The next sections discuss the impact of tobacco on respiratory and cardiovascular 
health as smoking has a particularly strong impact on these aspects of physical 
health.  

 

6.5 Respiratory health impacts of smoking in Thurrock  
Smoking is a leading cause of most respiratory diseases and second-hand smoke 
also impacts the respiratory health of people exposed to it, even for short periods of 
time (ASH, 2020e). It is estimated that in 2017, 37% of all deaths from respiratory 
diseases in England were attributable to smoking. Lung cancer and COPD account 
for approximately one quarter of the excess mortality among smokers. The recent 
COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the risk smokers’ face to infectious diseases 
every year. For example, smokers are twice as likely to get pneumonia compared to 
non-smokers and children living in household where someone smokes are also at 
risk. Smoking is also a risk factor for TB and relapse of TB after treatment. Table 5 
summarises how Thurrock is performing against some key respiratory impact 
measures and shows generally, Thurrock has higher prevalence and worse 
outcomes for these measures.  

 

Page 149



52 
 

Table 5: Summary of respiratory measures relevant to tobacco control 

Respiratory Impact Measures (metrics 

represented per 100,000 population) 

Thurrock England Difference (per 

100,000) 

Mortality rate from lung cancer  

 
73.5 53.0 + 20.5 deaths 

Lung cancer registrations 
104.2 77.9 

+ 26.3 

registrations 

Mortality rate from COPD  66.0 50.4 + 15.6 deaths 

Emergency hospital admissions for 

COPD  
493 414 +79 admissions 

Hospital admissions for asthma (under 19 

years) (2018/19) 
98.4 178.4 -80 admissions 

Source: PHE Public Health Profiles  (PHE, 2020c)   

Table 6 shows the relative risk (RR) of respiratory diseases for people who currently 
smoke; for example the RR for Lung Cancer of 10.9 suggests smokers are almost 11 
times more likely to develop lung cancer compared to non-smokers.  The table 
shows there are a range of other respiratory diseases that impact smoker’s health 
more than non-smokers.  

This impacts the health and longevity of smokers and healthcare resource; for 
instance, smoking is attributable for 21% of all respiratory disease hospital 
admissions (ONS, 2020B).   

Table 6: Estimated RR for respiratory disease (95% CI) for current smokers 
relative to non-smokers  

Disease RR (95% CI)  

Lung Cancer 10.9 (8.3 – 14.4) 

Influenza (microbiologically confimred) 5.7 (2.8 – 11.6) 

COPD  4.0 (3.2 - 5.1) 

Pneumonia  2.2 (1.7 – 2.8) 

Obstructive Sleep Apnoea 2.0 (1.0 – 3.8) 

Asthma 1.6 (1.1 – 2.4) 

Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis  1.6 (1.3 – 2.0) 

Tuberculosis  1.6 (1.2 – 2.1) 

Influenza (clinically diagnosed)  1.3 (1.1 – 1.6)  

Source: PHE Atlas of variation in risk factors and healthcare for respiratory disease in England 
(PHE, 2019)   

Page 150



53 
 

Lung Cancer:  

Tobacco use is the biggest cause of lung cancer in the UK, responsible for over 72% 
of cases of lung cancer (ASH, 2020e). Current smokers are 11 times more likely to 
develop lung cancer compared to non-smokers. The longer someone has quit 
smoking, the lower their risk and the younger people quit, the more pronounced their 
risk reduction for lung cancer is (ASH, 2020e). Quitting smoking is the most effective 
way for people diagnosed with early-stage lung cancer who smoke to improve 
outcomes including survival and better general health (ASH, 2020e). Evidence 
suggests smoking relapse is a significant issue for lung cancer patients with recent 
smoking histories (ASH, 2020e).  

Thurrock has a 10% higher incidence of lung cancer than would be expected if it had 
the same age and gender profile as England (standardised incidence ratio (SIR) = 
110). Figure 32 shows that one ward in Thurrock has significantly higher incidence 
than the Thurrock SIR (Belhus) and another higher than the England SIR 
(Ockenden). The error bars for this indicator are very wide because the number of 
cases of lung cancer is low, which impacts the accuracy of the SIR.  

Figure 32: Lung cancer standardised incidence ratio (SIR) for wards in 
Thurrock compared to the Thurrock average  

 

SOURCE: PHE Fingertips Public Health Profiles 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder (COPD): 

COPD is predominantly caused by active or second-hand tobacco smoke exposure, 
although occupational exposures and air pollution are also risk factors. Current 
smokers are four times more likely to develop COPD, around half develop some sort 

0

50

100

150

200

250

St
an

da
rd

ise
d 

In
ci

de
nc

e 
Ra

tio
 

Ward England Thurrock

Page 151



54 
 

of airflow obstruction and 10-20% develop clinically significant COPD (ASH, 2020e). 
Most COPD deaths are caused by smoking (80%). The impact of second-hand 
smoke is also a significant risk factor for non-smokers. Survey data suggests 
smokers living with COPD tend to be more addicted to cigarettes and have no 
greater interest than other smokers in trying to quit smoking. Yet quitting smoking is 
more effective than all known pharmacological treatments for COPD and can reduce 
the severity of COPD symptoms (ASH, 2020e).  

Thurrock CCG’s COPD QOF prevalence is 1.9%, the same as the England average 
for 2019/20. This equates to approximately 3,512 patients diagnosed with the 
condition; there has been little change in this indicator since the previous year (PHE, 
2020c). Seven GPs in Thurrock have a significantly higher QOF COPD prevalence 
compared to the England and Thurrock average (Figure 33). COPD is 
underdiagnosed and high prevalence in some practices may be in part due to efforts 
to identify and support patients with COPD. Higher prevalence may also be 
associated with higher smoking prevalence; of the seven practices with significantly 
higher COPD prevalence four had higher QOF smoking prevalence in 2018/19 
(Commonwealth Health Centre, Dr Yasin Sa Practice, Aveley Medical Centre, 
Tilbury Health Centre).  

Figure 33: QOF prevalence of COPD in Thurrock GP practices (2019/20) 
compared to the Thurrock and England average  

 

SOURCE: PHE Fingertips Public Health Profiles 

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

Co
m

m
on

w
ea

lth
 H

C

Dr
 A

m
an

da
 M

 D
av

ie
s &

 D
r C

 S
 Ja

ya
ku

m
ar

Dr
 Y

as
in

 S
a 

Pr
ac

tic
e

Th
e 

Ri
gg

-M
iln

er
 M

C

St
iff

or
d 

Cl
ay

s M
C

Av
el

ey
 M

C

Ti
lb

ur
y 

H
C

Dr
 D

ev
ar

aj
a 

Vc
 P

ra
ct

ic
e

M
ed

ic
 H

ou
se

Ba
lfo

ur
 M

C

De
ll 

M
C

H
as

se
ng

at
e 

M
C

Dr
 Y

ad
av

a 
N

 P
ra

ct
ic

e

De
rr

y 
Co

ur
t M

P

Sa
nc

ta
 M

ar
ia

 M
C

Dr
 Jo

se
ph

 L
 P

ra
ct

ic
e

So
ut

he
nd

 R
oa

d 
Su

rg
er

y

O
rs

et
t S

ur
ge

ry

Dr
 D

es
hp

an
de

 A
m

 P
ra

ct
ic

e

Sa
i M

C

O
dd

fe
llo

w
s 

Ha
ll 

&
 S

t C
le

m
en

ts

M
ilt

on
 R

oa
d 

Su
rg

er
y

H
or

do
n-

O
n-

Th
e-

H
ill

 S
ur

ge
ry

Pu
rf

le
et

 C
ar

e 
Ce

nt
re

Ka
di

m
 P

rim
ec

ar
e 

M
C

Th
ur

ro
ck

 H
C

Dr
 A

be
la

 T
 P

ra
ct

ic
e

Pr
ev

al
en

ce
 (%

 o
f p

at
ie

nt
s 

on
 Q

O
F 

re
gi

st
er

 fo
r C

O
PD

)

GP practice England Thurrock

Page 152



55 
 

The Standardized Hospital Admission Ratio (SAR) for Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in Thurrock is 121.9 (2013/14-2017/18) (PHE, 2020c). 
The SAR indicates Thurrock has almost 22% more hospital admissions for COPD 
than would be expected if it had the same age and gender profile as England; this is 
also statistically significantly higher.  Thurrock has one of the highest COPD related 
hospital admissions relative to its population structure in the East of England 
(average EoE SAR: 85.6, highest Luton SAR: 136.5, lowest North Norfolk SAR: 
51.8). Management of the condition in primary care and the community can reduce 
the risk of hospital admissions for COPD, including stopping smoking. Eight wards in 
Thurrock have significantly higher SAR for COPD compared to the England average 
(figure 34). These are Tilbury St Chads, Tilbury Riverside and Thurrock Park, 
Belhus, Chadwell St Mary, West Thurrock and South Stifford, Stifford Clays, 
Ockendon, Grays Thurrock. The wards that also have significantly higher smoking 
prevalence than the Thurrock average are coloured red (n=5/8).  

Figure 34: Standardized Hospital Admission Ratio (SAR) for Chronic 
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in Thurrock wards compared to 
Thurrock average (all compared to England reference = 100) 

 

SOURCE: PHE Fingertips Public Health Profiles 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

St
an

da
rd

iz
ed

 H
os

pi
ta

l A
dm

is
si

on
 R

at
io

 fo
r C

O
PD

Ward England Thurrock

Page 153



56 
 

6.6 Cardiovascular impacts  
It is estimated that 14% of deaths from heart and circulatory disease are attributable 
to smoking (ASH, 2016b) and compared to non-smokers, smokers have a two to four 
times increased risk of developing heart disease or having a stroke. The risk of 
mortality from cardiovascular diseases is higher the younger a person started to 
smoke, independent of the number of years they smoked. The reduction in smoking 
prevalence between 1981 and 2000 has been attributed to almost half of the decline 
in coronary heart disease mortality in England and Wales during this period.  

Stopping smoking is an important secondary prevention intervention; prognosis for 
CHD and stroke patients who quit smoking is better than those who continue (ASH, 
2016b).  

The risk of second hand smoke is also important in considering cardiovascular 
disease risk; the 2004 report of the Government appointed Scientific Committee on 
Tobacco and Health (SCOTH) found that exposure to second-hand smoke is a 
cause of heart disease. The Committee estimated that there is an increased relative 
risk (RR) of about 25%.  

Smoking also impacts on cardiovascular related hospital admissions; 16% of 
admissions for cardiovascular diseases most associated with smoking are 
attributable to smoking.   

Table 6 shows that Thurrock has a higher rate of smoking attributable deaths for 
heart disease (29.4 per 100,000) and stroke (8.4 per 100,000) compared to the 
England average.  

Table 6: Cardiovascular disease impact measures associated with smoking   

Cardiovascular Impact Measures Thurrock England Difference 

Smoking attributable deaths from heart 

disease per 100,000 (2016-18) 29.4 22.9 

+6.5 

deaths / 

100,000 

Smoking attributable deaths from 

stroke per 100,000 (2016-18) 8.4 7.7 

+0.7 

deaths per 

100,000 

Source: PHE Public Health Profiles  (PHE, 2020c) (yellow indicates non-significant difference to England)  

 

This section and the last have demonstrated the extent of impact smoking has on 
deaths, morbidity and healthcare use, focussing on respiratory and cardiovascular 
impacts. The evidence regarding such impacts makes a strong case for supporting 
people to stop smoking throughout their life course and along care pathways, 
including secondary and tertiary prevention.   

The next section considers the impacts of smoking on children and young people.  

Page 154



57 
 

6.7 Children and young people  
The largest impacts of tobacco relevant to children and young people include direct 
health risks from exposure to second hand smoke and increased risk of taking up 
smoking. Both have lifelong health impacts.  

Almost a third (30%) of all deaths from second-hand smoke occur in children, with 
the largest disease burden due to lower respiratory infections in children aged under 
5 years (ASH, 2020e). Evidence suggests the lungs may not recover completely 
from early life exposure, whether that be development of conditions such as asthma 
that can be caused by second-hand smoke exposure or development of COPD in 
later life (ASH, 2020e). More immediate impacts on children include factors such as 
school days missed due to ill health. For instance, children who suffer from asthma, 
and whose parents smoke, are twice as likely to suffer asthma symptoms all year 
round compared to the children of non-smokers (ASH, 2020e).  

There are numerous other health impacts associated with smoking during pregnancy 
and in early childhood. Some of the most strongly associated impacts are 
summarised in table 7 for Thurrock compared to the England average. For 
premature birth, low birth weight of term babies and hospital admissions for asthma 
among people aged under 19, Thurrock has similar performance to the England 
average. It is challenging to quantify the association of this performance with 
exposure to second hand smoke as this data is not routinely collected. A promising 
sign is the relatively low smoking prevalence among pregnant women in Thurrock 
compared to England. However this data may mask inequalities in some sub 
populations such as families living in more deprived areas and children growing up 
with parents who have a diagnosed mental illness, which are groups with higher 
smoking prevalence.  

Table 7: summary measures of tobacco impact on children and young peoples 
health  

Early years Impact Measures Thurrock England Difference 

Premature births (less than 37 

weeks) (2016-18)  

83.9 per 

1,000 

81.2 per 

1,000 

+2.7 per 

1,000  

% term babies born as low birth 

weight babies (2019)  
2.5% 2.9% -0.4% 

Hospital admissions for asthma 

(under 19 years) (2019/20)  

171.9 per 

100,000 

160.7 per 

100,000 

11.2 per 

100,000 

Source: PHE Tobacco Control Profiles (PHE, 2020)   

The next section discusses wider social impacts of tobacco across the population.  

 

 

Page 155



58 
 

6.8 Wider social impacts  
Beyond the physical health impacts of tobacco, there are wider societal harms and 
costs to services. Some examples are summarised below: 

 Social care need:  Smokers on average need social care support ten years 
earlier than never smokers.   
 

 Risk of death from fire: Essex County Fire and Rescue Service (ECFRS) attend 
roughly eight smoking-related house fires each year in Thurrock.  House fires 
caused by cigarettes are more likely to result in death and serious injury than due 
to other causes.  
 

 Modern slavery:  there is evidence nationally to suggest some people who are 
suffering modern slavery are involved in illicit tobacco sales; cases have not been 
identified in Thurrock but risk factors for Modern Slavery have been identified and 
associated with organised crime groups supplying illicit tobacco.  
 

 Self-neglect: Cases of self-neglect associated with tobacco use include risk of 
breach of contracts where individuals smoke in smoke free accommodation 
(risking fines). Also there is a risk of people not meeting basic needs for food, 
warmth and shelter through funding nicotine addiction, as is the case with other 
addictive substances. Approximately 29% of smokers in the East of England live 
below the poverty line and there is evidence that stopping could lift them out of 
poverty (ASH, 2015b) (ASH, 2019). 
 

 Smoke drift: Smoke drift occurs where a person is exposed to smoke in their 
home from a smoker living outside their home. Harms associated with this can 
include physical health risks, risk of fire and mental / social health risks linked to 
stress / neighbour disputes.  This can be a safeguarding issue where the victims 
have mental or social risk factors that would make it harder for them to address 
this issue. Exposure to smoke drift can be as high as 35% in social housing 
settings, 23.1% in private rental and 17.5% in owner occupied (ASH, 2019f). 
 

 Cost of littering: There is also a littering cost to smoking, which impacts heavily 
on the environment from the toxins in plastic-based cigarette filters that do not 
biodegrade (Novotny TE, 2009).  An estimated 62% of people drop litter and 
smoking materials constitute 35% of all street litter.  Smokers in Thurrock 
consume some 187,350 cigarettes every day, with roughly 158,740 having filters.  
This generates around 27kg of waste daily.  Annually this equates to 10 tonnes, 
of which 4 tonnes is discarded as street litter.  Not including cigarette packets and 
other smoking-related litter, cigarette butts could fill 178 wheelie bins every year. 
Figure 35 summarises this.  

 

 

 

Page 156



59 
 

Figure 35: Costs and impact of cigarette litter in Thurrock  

 

 

Some of the wider societal impacts of tobacco discussed here are associated with 
illicit tobacco; the next section explores such impacts in more detail.  

 

6.9 Impact of illicit tobacco 
Illicit tobacco sales undermine public health interventions to reduce smoking 
prevalence, damage legitimate business, facilitate the supply of tobacco to young 
people, and is associated with organised crime, including proven links to Modern 
Slavery (HMRC, 2020) (The Centre for Social Justice, 2020).  

The largest impact of illicit tobacco on health is the physical health impact associated 
with its effect on smoking prevalence. In preparation of this JSNA, no recent 
modelling data to quantify the impact of illicit tobacco on physical health was 
identified. However estimates produced in 2008 indicated that four times more 
people die per year as a result of illicit tobacco use than all other illicit drugs 
combined.   

Local data is available regarding the scale of criminal activity through the Trading 
Standards team’s work to identify and take to court cases where illicit tobacco has 

Page 157



60 
 

been sold. In Thurrock four cases of illicit tobacco supply were taken to court in 
2020/21, although only one of these had been concluded in court at year end, the 
defendant was found to be guilty. The numbers of illicit tobacco suppliers identified 
fluctuate each year and may not give a true indication of the scale of the issue. 
Furthermore, illicit tobacco supply is often associated with organsied crime gangs, 
which tend to operate nationally. So these are not Thurrock specific issues but cases 
that require a combination of local surveillance and action and shared intelligence 
nationally.  

Links between illicit tobacco supply, organised crime groups and modern slavery has 
been explored through data and insight among Thurrock Council officers and 
currently there is no evidence of this impact in the area. It is however challenging to 
identify and so new partnership work developing between the teams should help 
identify cases.  

The next section of this needs assessment summarises the current strategy for 
tobacco control in Thurrock, which focuses on reducing smoking prevalence but 
includes efforts to stop the supply of illicit tobacco.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



61 
 

7 Current tobacco control approach in Thurrock  
Thurrock’s Tobacco Control Strategy for 2016-2021 included three strategic themes: 

 Prevention: interventions that aim to reduce the visibility of smoking, 
normalise quitting and inform the public about the risks of smoking and how to 
get support. 

 Enforcement: interventions that deliver against legal obligations concerning 
tobacco and mainly aim to reduce exposure to second hand smoke and the 
impact of illicit tobacco. 

 Treatment: includes brief interventions advice, referrals and stop smoking 
services. For people who are not yet ready to quit, treatment also includes 
harm reduction approaches.  
 

Alongside a universal stop smoking offer, the strategy proposed targeted support to 
people living in more socio-economically deprived areas, people with long term 
conditions, mental ill health, and pregnant women. Delivery of this was supported by 
strong leadership and governance through its Tobacco Control Alliance. Also, 
Thurrock was awarded with CLeaR accreditation (in 2015), which assesses the 
extent to which local authorities deliver their tobacco control programmes against 
best practice principles. Thurrock’s Tobacco Control Alliance ceased in late 2019, 
partly due to reducing attendance from a sufficiently diverse membership to make it 
effective. However, Thurrock public health team has continued to work with partners 
across the local authority, the NHS and Public Health England to deliver against its 
three strategic themes.  

This section describes the offer in 2021 and evidence of its effectiveness in 
Thurrock, starting with interventions offered to the whole population and then any 
tailored support for local priority populations.  

7.1 Prevention  
Thurrock Council focuses its prevention work on stopping uptake of smoking among 
children and young people. It also delivers whole population communications to 
inform the public about specific tobacco harms such as shisha / second hand smoke 
and to normalise quitting.  
 
National campaigns  
Every year Thurrock Council and Thurrock CCG engage with national tobacco 
control communication campaigns such as Health Harms” (January), No Smoking 
Day (March) and Stoptober (October). The impact of these on population attitudes 
towards quitting and tobacco harm has not been evaluated locally but national 
evaluation of the Stoptober campaign found that in 2018/19, over 80% of 
respondents had heard of the campaign and 66% agreed it helps people to quit 
smoking (PHE, 2020e). 
 
Local campaigns 
In local secondary schools, Thurrock Council delivered an intervention to prevent 
uptake of smoking called “ASSIST”. Evidence of the impact of this is discussed in the 

Page 159



62 
 

evidence section of this needs assessment. In addition, The Stop Smoking Service is 
not currently engaged with services that work with CYP more likely to smoke. 
 
7.2 Enforcement  
This part of Thurrock’s current tobacco control strategy includes development and 
enforcement of Smoke-free policies, application of licensing powers and the work of 
Trading Standards officers to investigate, gather insight and take action against 
breach of relevant tobacco control legislation.  

A regulatory framework for the point-of-sale of tobacco is complemented by the work 
of the UK Border Force and Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) concerning 
wider supply chain (tobacco imports and exports).  Effective enforcement ensures that 
products available at the point-of-sale are genuine products with UK duty paid and are 
sold only to those old enough to purchase tobacco products. 

In the last decade, national measures to reduce the appeal of tobacco have been put 
in place, including bigger and more graphic health warnings on cigarette packets and 
installation of plain screens in front of tobacco cabinets.  In 2016 plain (standardised) 
cigarette packets were implemented, following the Chantler review finding no evidence 
to support the tobacco industry’s argument that standardised packaging would 
increase the illicit trade in tobacco (DHSC, 2014).  Boxes of ten cigarettes have been 
banned since 20th May 2016 due to new rules regarding the size of the health warnings 
carried on cigarette packs.  These will only fit on twenty-packs of cigarettes.  In 2015, 
legislation took effect to ban adults from smoking in cars that carry children.   

These measures are implemented nationally by the UK government.  Locally, work by 
the council’s Trading Standards and Licensing departments enforces these 
regulations where it is within the council’s powers to do so. A key part of the work 
locally is in stopping purchasing among people aged below the legal limit for 
purchasing tobacco and reducing supply of illicit tobacco due to its relationship with 
the price of cigarettes available.  

Smoke-free policies:  

Thurrock Council has a Smoke-free policy and the requirements of not smoking any 
tobacco product are extended to vaping e-cigarettes. The policy does not allow 
smoking or vaping on any council premises, site or vehicle, other than residential 
settings where people may smoke in their own home. The policy recognises the 
council’s responsibility to protect staff from second hand smoke and is supportive to 
staff who wish to quit, allowing some paid time off work to attend stop smoking 
services. Managers and HR are responsible for enforcing the policy and the 
repercussions of breaching it are made clear. While the policy includes council 
contractors, it is not known if these employers offer similar supportive policies to help 
smokers in their workforce to stop.   
 
All local NHS Trusts have in place a Smoke-free policy as part of their legal 
requirement to do so. The policies have been developed in line with NICE guidance 
and the Health Act (2006), which recommends that all hospital sites should be 100 
per cent smoke-free.  

Page 160



63 
 

 
The impact of these Smoke-free policies in Thurrock is not known as they are not 
audited and have not been evaluated locally.  
 
The 2016-2021 Tobacco Control Strategy described ambitions to introduce policies 
for Smoke-free places in other settings, including homes and play areas; these have 
been explored but not been developed. Section eight of this needs assessment will 
explore current evidence and legislation regarding other settings for Smoke-free 
policy, including homes and parks.   
 
Licensing: 

Local authorities have limited licensing powers regarding tobacco control as 
premises are not licensed for tobacco sales.  Thurrock Council encourages premises 
to sign up to the ‘Challenge 25’ policy, (discussed below under Trading Standards), 
however, usually compliance/enforcement work is conducted in relation to alcohol 
sales. 
 

Trading Standards:   

Thurrock Council’s Trading Standards team support tobacco control mainly through 
enforcement work regarding age restricted sales and addressing illicit tobacco, 
education and supporting wider intelligence.   
 
Age restricted sales: The Trading Standards team promote the “Challenge 25” 
policy, which is something most large retailers already have in place but smaller 
retailer and independent retailers are encouraged to adopt it. In practice it means if a 
member of the public wishes to purchase an item with a legal minimum age of 18, 
they will be asked to show ID if they look 25 years of age or younger. The team 
conduct two types of test purchases. One is called a Challenge 25 test where a 
person aged 18 or older attempts to buy an age restricted item to see if they are 
asked for ID. The result of this test provides good intelligence as to whether the 
retailer is adhering to the Challenge 25 policy. The second type of test purchasing is 
where a young person aged 16 or younger is supervised by Trading Standards 
Officers to try and buy age restricted items. The outcome of a successful sale is a 
criminal offence and both the seller and business owner can face sanctions including 
a fixed penalty notice, prosecution and a licence review. Thurrock’s Trading 
Standards team also inspect vape shops as part of this work.   
 
Illicit tobacco: Trading Standards Officers undertake inspections and overt and 
covert operations at retail premises using tobacco detection sniffer dogs. In 2019/20 
the trading standards team inspected 89 retail premises; this resulted in 32,255 illicit 
and counterfeit cigarettes and 8.5kg of counterfeit hand rolling tobacco being ceased 
and a number of people were found working illegally. The sale of illicit tobacco is 
also linked to wider criminal activity and organised crime groups so this work informs 
intelligence to protect the public from these wider risks.  
 

Page 161



64 
 

Education: Trading Standards offer support to local businesses regarding legislation 
and how to work in line with this. Examples include point of sale display, labelling, 
age restricted sales and due diligence and support is given in part through 
responsible retailer packs. The team also deliver promotional activities to raise 
awareness in the community about illicit tobacco through press and social media as 
well as tobacco dog roadshow events.  

 
Wider intelligence and protection: for example, work with the Immigration Service to 
identify people working who are not entitled to work in the UK; an association has 
been found between illicit tobacco sales and this type of employment in Thurrock.  
 
The impact these activities includes prosecutions and fines associated with 
underage sales and sales of illicit tobacco. Outcomes data is not collected but the 
rationale for this work is that such impacts serve as a deterrent and reduce the 
availability and acceptability of underage sales and illicit tobacco. The work also 
helps to reduce wider criminal activity in Thurrock.  
 

7.3 Treatment  
Interventions to support smokers to stop include asking people if they smoke, 
recording this, offering advice about the risks and benefits associated with smoking 
and quitting, and referring people to a stop smoking service if they want to quit. This 
intervention is known as Very Brief Advice (VBA) and is delivered under a wider 
intervention umbrella known as ‘Making Every Contact Count’ (MECC) (NICE, 2020). 
MECC recognises the opportunity health and care workers have with regard to 
engaging people in conversations about improving their health. 

NICE recommends that a minimum of 5% of the local smoking population should be 
supported to stop through the availability of evidence-based services per year. For 
Thurrock this currently equates to approximately 1,183 people6.  In 2019/20 Thurrock 
almost achieved this, supporting 1,146 people to stop smoking four weeks after their 
quit date. This is an improvement on previous years (4 week quitters = 333 in 
2017/18 and 531 in 2018/19). The service has adapted to changing circumstances 
and needs; for instance commissioning vape shops to support smokers to quit and 
bringing the service in house. The new stop smoking service offer is mainly delivered 
through Thurrock Healthy Lifestyles Service (THLS), which is an integrated service 
including provision of weight management and health checks.   

Other adaptations to the service model include a 2020/21 pilot of the Allen Carr stop 
smoking programme, which has been commissioned to offer an alternative service. 
For information about the method, please see: https://www.allencarr.com/help-and-
faqs/ . So far in Thurrock the programme has supported circa 300 people to stop and 
is on target. The stop smoking service delivery model was also adapted in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, with services no longer being delivered face to face; 

                                                           
6 Based on total QOF registered smokers (=23,660)  

Page 162



65 
 

video link seminars have been available as an alternative to face-to-face support and 
engagement with this offer has been positive.   

7.3.1 Whole population treatment  
THLS has its own smoking cessation advisors and provides training to GP practices, 
pharmacists and vape shops to support these providers to deliver stop smoking 
services in other settings. Just over half of the GP practices (n=15) in Thurrock have 
an in house stop smoking offer, five pharmacies and two vape shops. The GP 
practices participating are distributed across the local authority area and the vape shop 
and pharmacy offer is based in locations where there has been market interest rather 
than targeted to areas of high smoking prevalence, deprivation or high numbers of 
smokers. Market development work would need to be undertaken to develop or better 
target this part of the SSS offer. 

Stop smoking treatment data is captured and managed by THLS via the “Quit 
Manager” database, which is used by most SSS providers nationally.  Figure 36 
illustrates combined 4-week quit data across all SSS providers, a key outcome metric 
used nationally to compare performance of SSS. It shows that Thurrock was 
performing above the regional and national rates from 2012/13 to 2016/17.  The stop 
smoking service was retendered in 2017/18 and awarded to a new provider, however 
performance reduced and as a result the contract was terminated. The new in-house 
service, THLS has recovered performance and is now delivering smoking quits in line 
with the rate recommended by NICE.  

Figure 36: Stop smoking service 4 week quit rate per 100,000 smokers for 
Thurrock, East of England and England (2013-2019) 7 

 

Source: QuitManager  

                                                           
7 Thurrock smokers who successfully quit smoking at 4 weeks through council commissioned stop 
smoking services 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

4 
w

e
ek

 q
ui

t r
a

te
 p

er
 1

00
,0

0
0 

sm
ok

in
g

 
po

pu
la

tio
n

4 week smoking quit rate per 100,000 smoking population aged 
16+ (2013-2019)

Thurrock East of England England

Page 163



66 
 

Thurrock incentivises its providers through the local payment structure to support 
people for up to 12 weeks; this approach is in place because it might be more effective 
in achieving long term behaviour change and is unique in the East of England region. 
The impact of areas offering 12 week support has not yet been evaluated and local 
evaluation has not yet taken place to assess the impact of this approach in Thurrock 
(National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training , 2021). 

Figure 37 shows the proportion of outcomes (set a quit date (SAQD), 4 week and 12 
week quits) delivered by each service provider in 2019/20. This data represents the 
2,320 people who SAQD in that year. The figure also shows delivery against these 
outcomes for the whole population (all) and of those, people with a long term condition 
(LTC) and with a mental health condition (MH).  

Figure 37: Number of Thurrock residents supported to SAQD, remain quit at 4 
weeks and remain quit at 12 weeks by service provider type (2019/20) 

 

Source: QuitManager  

Figure 37 shows that in 2019/20, the two Vape Shops accounted for the greatest 
proportion of people SAQD and quitting at 4 and 12 weeks, followed by THLS. 
However THLS have supported a greater proportion of people who have a LTC and 
MH condition to SAQD and quit at 4 and 12 weeks than other provider types. The data 
indicates that the GP offer attracts a higher proportion of people with LTCs and MH 
conditions, while the pharmacy offer generates a relatively small proportion of the 
outcomes for the SSS.  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All
SAQD

All 4
weeks

All 12
weeks

LTC
SAQD

LTC 4
weeks

LTC 12
weeks

MH
SAQD

MH 4
weeks

MH 12
weeks

THLS GPs Pharmacies Vape shops

Page 164



67 
 

 

Figure 38 indicates the scale of this difference, showing the number of people SAQD, 
and quitting at 4 and 12 weeks in the general population. This also reflects the pattern 
of service delivery where the vape shops attract the highest footprint, but THLS 
appears to have a more effective delivery model.  

Figure 38: Number of people accessing Thurrock SSS in 2019/20 (all providers) 

 

Source: QuitManager  

A way of measuring this and a national indicator of SSS service quality is the 
conversation rate of people SAQD to quitting at 4 weeks; in 2014 this was around 
50% at 4 weeks in England (HSCIC, 2014). Figure 39 summarises the conversion 
rates of people SAQD with Thurrock SSS at 4 and 12 weeks in 2019/20. 

Figure 39: 4 and 12 week conversation rates among people accessing 
Thurrock SSS in 2019/20 (all providers) 

 

Source: QuitManager  

1013

525

315

706

393

293

518

198
11383

30 10
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

All  SAQD All  4 weeks All  12 weeks

Vape shops THLS GPs Pharmacies

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

All  4 weeks All  12 weeksLTC 4 weeksLTC 12 weeksMH 4 weeksMH 12 weeks

Vape shops THLS GPs Pharmacies

Page 165



68 
 

The data shows that THLS has had the highest conversion rate at 4 and 12 weeks 
for the general population and for people with a LTC and a MH condition, apart from 
the MH 4 week conversion rate where the Vape shops had a higher conversion rate. 
The conversion rate is below 50% at 4 weeks among people using the GPs and 
pharmacies in the general population and among people with LTC and MH, while 
THLS and the vape shops achieved a 4 week conversion rate of close to or over 
50% for all population groups. While the pharmacy offer has generally attracted 
fewer clients and had lower conversion rates compared to other SSS in Thurrock, it 
is worth noting that the conversion rate at 4 weeks for people with a MH condition is 
higher than the conversion rate in the general population for this service. This finding 
may be due to chance, especially because the client numbers are very low but 
should this service offer continue, opportunities regarding the target audience of this 
offer should be considered.  

Regarding long term impact of this work, evidence shows that people who use these 
services are more likely to remain a non-smoker than those who try to quit on their 
own. By 12-months, smoking abstinence among people who attempt to quit without 
any formal / service support is about 4% compared to 15% of people abstaining long 
term after using a SSS (Hughes JR, 2004) (Song F, 2020).  Based on this evidence, 
of the Thurrock residents who SAQD with the SSS in 2019/20, approximately 348 
are likely to remain non-smokers. While this will have a large impact on the health of 
these individuals, it makes a relatively incremental change to reducing the population 
of people who smoke in Thurrock, which is currently approximately 22,500 people.  
Thus, while SSS services are an important tool in reducing smoking prevalence, 
there is a need to reinforce prevention and opportunities to prompt more smokers to 
attempt to quit.   

Cost effectiveness is another key consideration to inform future commissioning of 
SSS in Thurrock. Figure 40 shows the cost per 12 week quitter broken down by the 
four main types of service delivery in Thurrock.  The current contract specifies 
payment is made per 12 week quit to incentivise providers to support smokers to 
abstain from smoking for longer. In addition to the costs shown, the NRT used by 
clients in the various service settings cost £38,086 in 2019/20; CCGs receive the 
funding for this medication from central government and refund the Public Health 
team for these costs.  Vape shops do not use any licensed NRT, but quitters will be 
using unlicensed e-cigarette liquid to quit, which usually contains nicotine and is 
factored into those costs.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 166



69 
 

Figure 40: Cost per quitter by service, excluding NRT costs (2019/20) 

 

The data shows that Vape shops deliver the lowest cost per 4 week quitter and 
THLS deliver the lowest cost per 12 week quitter. Pharmacy costs are significantly 
higher. These service output costs should be considered in the context of their reach 
to priority groups, which is discussed further in the section 7.3.2.  

In addition to the provision of a SSS in Thurrock, Thurrock Council’s public health 
team work with local organisations to increase referrals to the service and deliver 
training to enhance the quality of the service. In addition to the referral routes 
discussed already, Thurrock Council uses its relationship with tenants to encourage 
smokers to consider stop smoking:  

Private housing: The Council delivers a Well Homes Service; the assessment for this 
promotes the stop smoking service and Well Homes will make a direct referral to 
Thurrock Healthy Lifestyle Solutions.  

Sheltered housing: Thurrock Council delivers an annual health and wellbeing 
assessment to tenants living in sheltered housing; this does not include a question 
on smoking status. If tenants indicate they’d like to stop smoking, they are 
signposted to support. Anecdotal data suggests that currently support for stopping 
smoking is not often requested. Given the likely higher prevalence of people with 
LTC in this group and the risk of smoke drift, consideration should be given to 
improve equity in the council’s offer to support smokers to stop smoking.  

The Mid and South Essex STP respiratory board will be using NHS Long Term Plan 
funding to improve access to SSS treatment for smokers and enhance referral 
pathways to support people using hospital services to SAQD, quit and maintain a 
quit. This funding has been established for the NHS to address commitments made 
in the NHS Long Term Plan regarding tobacco control.  

The next section of this needs assessment considers the SSS offer and referral 
pathways for priority groups.  

£38.99
£121.71

£45.74 £52.82
£104.99

£404.09

£90.14 £95.51
£197.63

£1,262.78

£601.72

£102.60

£0.00

£200.00

£400.00

£600.00

£800.00

£1,000.00

£1,200.00

£1,400.00

GPs x16 (in-house)
(£20,158.00)

Pharmacies x5
(£10,102.25)

Vape shops x2
(£46,332.50)

THLS
(£37,345.25)

C
o

st
 p

e
r 

q
ui

tte
r

SQD 4-weeks 12-weeks

Page 167



70 
 

7.3.2 Priority groups  
Priority groups that were identified in the 2016-2021 TC strategy included people 
living in more socio-economically deprived areas, people with long term conditions 
(LTCs), mental ill health and pregnant women. This section will discuss SSS support 
that has been made available to these groups and its success; this is part of a 
proportionate universalism approach, meaning services are offered to the whole 
population but targeting of some aspects of the service design are developed to 
support populations with higher need.  

Socio-economic deprivation 

People from lower socio-economic groups have higher smoking prevalence; the 
reasons for this are complex but associated with factors such as uptake in childhood 
impacted by higher prevalence in the family, higher prevalence among peer groups 
such as professional groups.  
 

In Thurrock, all residents, regardless of their postcode, profession, housing tenure or 
income are offered the same stop smoking service support offer. However, Thurrock 
Council has delivered targeted communication campaigns to encourage increased 
quit attempts by smokers from more socio-economically deprived groups. THLS also 
provides direct supply of NRT for free to all smokers who set a quit date (SAQD), 
including those who are not entitled to free NHS prescriptions, as part of a 
proportionate universalism approach. This means people living in relative deprivation 
but who are not eligible for free prescriptions can still access free NRT support in 
Thurrock.  

The location of SSS providers in Thurrock is not currently targeted to wards with 
higher levels of deprivation / higher smoking prevalence or a higher total number of 
smokers. This is due to market factors that have limited the ability of the SSS to offer 
the service in this way. An alternative means of encouraging more quit attempts 
among people from more socio-economically deprived groups is to encourage 
referrals from services that have contact with people from these populations, 
including GPs.  

Figure 41 shows the association between the deprivation score of GP practices in 
Thurrock compared to the percentage of patients who have been offered support to 
quit smoking in the last 24 months. The closer the R number is to 1, the stronger the 
association. This figure shows no correlation, meaning GP practices in more 
deprived areas, where smoking prevalence is higher, are not more likely to offer 
support to smokers on their practice register than those in less deprived areas with 
lower smoking prevalence.  

 

 

 

 

Page 168



71 
 

Figure 41: association between practice level deprivation and offer of smoking 
support in the last 24 months.  

 

Source: PHE Fingertips Public Health Profiles (PHE, 2020c) 

Analysis was undertaken to assess the correlation between area of deprivation and 
the proportion of smokers who SAQD in these areas for each service setting (vape 
shops, THLS, GPs and Pharmacies8. This analysis also found no correlation 
between deprivation and the proportion of smokers who SAQD and quit at 4 weeks.  

This section has highlighted that the 2021-2026 Thurrock Tobacco Control Strategy 
will need to include interventions to support more people from socio-economically 
deprived groups to attempt to quit and have success in doing so. The evidence 
regarding physical location, service setting and service offer should be explored to 
inform this.  

People with long term conditions (LTCs) 

Smoking impacts the risk of, severity of and treatment efficacy for many LTCs, 
including common diseases such as COPD, Cancer and Cardiovascular Disease. An 
important means of reaching people living with LTCs to support them to stop 
smoking is through NHS services since people with LTCs are more likely to access 
these services to diagnose, manage and treat their condition/s. This section of the 
needs assessment describes current collaborative work with the NHS to improve 
access to SSS for this population.  

THLS has been working with Basildon and Thurrock University Hospital (BTUH) to 
ensure VBA is offered to patients coming in to hospital who smoke.  This has 
included weekly physical presence in the hospital to support and train physicians, 
generating signposts for quit support. There is not currently a referral form or 
electronic referral pathway allowing direct referrals into Thurrock’s SSS. Work 

                                                           
8 Figures prepared by Thurrock Council’s public health intelligence team in 2019 using data from QuitManager 
and practice IMD score 

Page 169



72 
 

through the MSE HCP’s Long Term Plan Tobacco Control fund will help to embed 
access to treatment on hospital sites and improve pathways with Thurrock’s SSS. 

Thurrock CCG has been developing an initiative called ‘Targeted Lung Health 
Checks’, which was launched in early 2019, to find early signs of lung cancer and 
improve outcomes for smokers and ex-smokers aged between 55 and 74 (Thurrock 
CCG, 2021). Thurrock CCG was partnered with Luton CCG as one of 10 pilot sites; 
the programme involves identification of smokers and ex-smokers through GP 
practice lists and inviting these patients to have a low dose CT scan for early 
detection of lung cancer. Current smokers’ are also offered a referral to stop smoking 
services. Programme testing took place with one GP practice in February 2020 and 
learning from this will be used to inform future development, which has been 
impacted by the COVID-19 response. There is scope to make large improvements in 
lung cancer outcomes for Thurrock; not only does Thurrock have some of the 
highest smoking prevalence at PCN level in the MSE geography but also has some 
of the lowest two week wait referrals for lung cancer. This is summarised in figure 
42; for example Tilbury and Chadwell has the third highest smoking prevalence out 
of the 28 PCNs but is ranked 20th with regard to the number of referrals made for 
lung cancer on the two week wait pathway.  

Figure 42: Thurrock PCN rank in MSE area for smoking prevalence and two 
week lung cancer referrals  

 

THLS has also supported GPs in auditing their registered smokers who have LTCs 
to encourage more offers of support to these patients to stop smoking.  

Thurrock SSS has had increasing success in supporting people with a LTC to stop 
smoking. Figure 43 shows the number of people living with a LTC who SAQD, who 
quit within 4 weeks and who remained quit at 12 weeks across all SSS providers in 
Thurrock. The number across all categories increased over time but the proportion of 
people with LTCs who SAQD and went to quit at 4 weeks and remain quit at 12 
weeks increased and then has remained similar since 2018/19. Ultimately this has 
resulted in a net increase in the number of smokers with a LTC who have remained 
quit at 4 and 12 weeks. An evaluation of the service would be required to understand 
how to maintain or increase conversion rates as the number of clients’ increases.     

Thurrock – Smoking prevalence rank (1=highest prev. within MSE PCNs), Number 
of 2 week wait lung cancer referrals rank (1=most referrals, 28=least referrals within 
MSE PCNs)  

 Tilbury and Chadwell:    3
rd

,        20th 

 ASOP:                            6
th
,        25

th
 

 Grays :                           12
th
,      21

st
  

 Standford-le-hope:         16
th
,       1

st
  

Page 170



73 
 

Figure 43: Number of people with a LTC SAQD and quitting by 4 and 12 weeks 
and the proportion quitting at 4 and 12 weeks (2017-2020)

 

Source: THLS (QuitManager)  

 

Mental ill health 

Smoking prevalence is higher among people with a mental health condition and this 
has a significant impact on the inequalities in physical health outcomes experience 
by this population, compared with the general population.  

Thurrock’s SSS records whether service users have a mental health condition; figure 
44 shows that over time, the SSS has improved its reach to people with mental ill 
health. The number of people accessing the service has increased and the 
proportion attempting to quit and successfully doing so has increased. The service 
model regarding location, service provider type and service offer has not changed 
significantly in this time so it is not clear without a service evaluation / referral flow 
chart to understand why this change has occurred.  

 

 

 

 

 

41%

50%
47%

23%

31% 31%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

P
ro

po
rt

io
n 

o
f S

S
S

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

se
rs

 w
ith

 a
 L

T
C

 w
h

o
 

S
A

Q
D

 a
nd

 w
e

nt
 o

n 
to

 q
u

it 
a

t 4
 a

n
d

 1
2

 w
e

ek
s

N
um

be
r 

of
 S

S
S

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

se
rs

 w
ith

 a
 L

T
C

 w
ho

 
S

A
Q

D
, q

u
it 

a
t 4

 a
n

d 
a

t 
12

 w
e

ek
s

4 week quit (%) 12 week quit (%) SAQD (n)

4 week quit (n) 12 week quit (n)

Page 171



74 
 

Figure 44: Number of people with a mental health condition SAQD and quitting 
by 4 and 12 weeks and the proportion quitting at 4 and 12 weeks (2017-2020)  

 

Source: THLS (QuitManager)  

One source of referrals to the SSS for people living with mental ill health is through 
the annual physical health check for people with a severe mental illness (SMI). 
Nationally, GP practices and mental health trusts are responsible for conducting this 
check with at least 60% of the GP practice registered population with a diagnosed 
SMI. Data recorded at quarter 4 in 2019/20 shows that while Thurrock CCG did not 
meet this target, it performed better than the England and regional averages. In 
Thurrock, 43.4% of SMI registered patients received the physical health check in the 
previous 12 months reporting period, compared with 35.8% and 33% in England and 
EoE respectively. Of those receiving the physical health check, 81.2% of patients in 
Thurrock had the smoking aspect of the intervention conducted; the proportion of 
these patients who were actively referred for SSS support to quit versus signposting 
to services is not known. Developing a referral pathway for this service offer will be a 
useful way of supporting people with a MH condition to quit.  

THLS also works with NHS Essex Partnership University Trust (EPUT) to encourage 
referrals from this setting to the stop smoking service. EPUT are the main mental 
health secondary care provider for Thurrock residents. Progress has been made for 
tobacco control at the Trust. A smoke free policy is in place and although challenges 
and breaches are still occasionally experienced, the Trust is committed to supporting 
patients and staff in achieving a smoke free environment.  Many staff have trained to 
become smoking cessation advisors to take this agenda forward. Also, on admission 
and throughout an episode of care, smoking status is assessed, and smoking 
cessation support is offered.  In many cases, support for vaping and e-cigarette use 
is required and the Trust recognise that this can often be the preferred method of 
reducing tobacco use.  This has been the case for many people residing in secure 
settings, some of whom have not used tobacco since the policy was introduced. 

31%

36%

44%

16%

21%

27%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

N
um

be
r 

of
 T

h
u

rr
oc

k 
re

si
de

n
ts

 w
ith

 a
 M

H
 

co
nd

iti
on

 a
cc

e
ss

in
g

 S
S

S

4 week quit (%) 12 week quit (%) SAQD (n)

4 week quit (n) 12 week quit (n)

Page 172



75 
 

Support for staff to stop smoking is available from the occupational health service 
provider. Going forward, EPUT recognise that a more robust approach is needed to 
patients on transfer to community services to ensure that smoking cessation support 
continues to be available, and this is an area for development. This includes 
exploring why currently there is no offer of Varenicline, despite this being a 
recommended intervention by the Royal College of Psychiatrists (RCP, 2018). Data 
was not available at the time of writing this needs assessment regarding the number 
of people using EPUT services who were referred to Thurrock SSS.  

Thurrock CCG commissions an increasing accessing to psychological therapies 
(IAPT) service called Inclusion for Thurrock residents who need support for common 
mental health difficulties including depression and anxiety disorders such as OCD, 
PTSD and social phobia. Currently the service does not ask service users about their 
smoking status but will signpost them to THLS if the client discloses that they smoke. 
Inclusion also offer employment support (called EIP) and take the same approach to 
tobacco control with these service users. A barrier to more proactively offering 
smoking VBA in this setting that has been identified locally is that smoking is not 
included in the IAPT national minimum dataset, meaning there is no prompt in the 
national database for IAPT staff to ask about smoking and record the answer. Advice 
from PHE and ASH has identified other IAPT service providers in England have 
found workarounds to this issue so this could be an area for development to be 
considered in the 2021-2026 Thurrock TC strategy. Opportunities to engage other 
local mental health providers should also be considered.    

In summary, progress has been made regarding mental health and smoking support, 
with an increasing number of people using the SSS services, the introduction and 
delivery of physical health checks for people with SMI and in the approach being 
taken in the mental health trust. However, stronger referral pathways with local 
mental health providers should be developed and use of CQUINs should be 
considered as a mechanism to improve the service offer around smoking within 
mental health providers.  

Maternity 

Addressing smoking in pregnancy is important because when pregnant women 
smoke or are exposed to tobacco smoke in the home, the risk of negative health 
outcomes for the mother and the unborn baby are increased.  

Most stop smoking maternity referrals come from Basildon and Thurrock University 
Hospital (BTUH). Currently THLS do not receive the opt-out data from maternity 
services, which would enable them to determine the percentage of pregnant 
smokers that opt-out of quit support and subsequently never get referred. Maternity 
services no longer have a ‘not known’ option on their database for smoking status, 
which greatly improved the accuracy and certainty of SATOD data.   

Thurrock Council have supported the smoking in pregnancy agenda through training 
midwives in VBA by the specialist stop smoking services, although this is largely now 
provided by Essex County Council.  On 1st October 2019 BTUH implemented two 
specialist stop smoking role; these midwives receive the details of all pregnant 

Page 173



76 
 

smokers and seek to engage those who at the time of booking have opted out of a 
referral for quit support.  Those willing to quit smoking are referred by email to THLS, 
who contact referred women within 48 hours.  Figures 45 and 46 illustrate the THLS 
treatment activity for pregnant women who smoke.   

Figure 45: Number of referrals to THLS from maternity services and number 
who SAQD and who quit at 4 and 12 weeks 

 

Source: Quit Manager, accessed June 2020 

Figure 45 shows that the number of referrals increased substantially in 2019/20 and 
this resulted in more pregnant women who smoke setting a quit date, quitting by 4 
weeks and remaining quit at 12 weeks. Figure 46 shows that the conversion rates for 
pregnant women SAQD are higher than the general population but these reduced at 
4 and 12 weeks in 2019/20 compared to the previous year.  

Figure 46: Proportion of referrals to THLS from maternity services that 
resulted in SAQD, 4 week and 12 week quits  

 

Source: Quit Manager, accessed June 2020 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Referrals SAQD 4 weeks 12 weeks

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

re
g

na
n

t s
m

ok
e

rs
 

by
 s

er
vi

ce
 o

u
tp

ut

Service output

2018/19 2019/20

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

4 weeks 12 weeksP
e

rc
e

nt
ag

e 
of

 p
re

g
na

nt
 s

m
o

ke
rs

Quit outcome

2018/19 2019/20

Page 174



77 
 

There were five referrals from maternity services for males in 2019/20 that are not 
represented in these data.  The evidence tells us that women who live with partners 
who smoke are less likely to stay quit themselves.  Midwives capitalising on the 
motivation of these partners to quit smoking is excellent practice and to be 
welcomed.  Three of these five males (66%) went on to stay quit.  The QuitManager 
database should be updated to record ‘partner’, since some female referrals might 
have been partners too.  A recent analysis undertaken by BTUH midwives shows the 
potential number of partners who could be offered support, including those of 
pregnant women who do not smoke themselves but who are exposed to secondhand 
smoke at home (table 8). This snapshot shows the potential high prevalence of 
smoking among partners of pregnant women in Thurrock; around one quarter of 
those coming through the service in quarter 4 of 2020/21 smoked, higher than the 
Thurrock smoking prevalence in the general population. 

Table 8: the number and proportion of partners who were recorded as smoking 
at booking for women who smoke and who do not smoke  

 Women who 
smoke at 
booking 

Partners who 
smoke at 
booking 

Women who 
smoke whose 
partners also 
smoke 
(current 2nd 
hand smoke 
capture) 

Women who 
DON’T smoke 
but partners 
do  

Jan 2021 47/408 12% 100/408 24% 32/408 8% 68/408 16% 
Feb 2021 40/398 10% 96/398 24% 21/398 5% 75/398 19% 
March 2021 51/467 11% 142/467 30% 34/467 7% 108/467 25% 

 

Support for pregnant women who smoke has improved in recent years through 
partnership work between BTUH and the surrounding local authorities, including 
Thurrock. This has resulted in a net increase in the number of pregnant women who 
quit at 4 and 12 weeks. However, options should be explored to increase conversion 
rates and to support partners or other household members of pregnant women who 
smoke, regardless of whether the woman smokes. Furthermore, overlap with other 
aspects of healthy living such as health weight in pregnancy should be considered 
as part of a holistic offer for to improve pregnancy outcomes.  

Health Visitors deliver very brief advice to new mums regarding safe sleeping, which 
includes advice for people who smoke not to share a bed with the baby due to 
increased Sudden Infant Death syndrome risk and smoke free homes advice at the 
new birth visit and other contact points as appropriate. How this impacts referrals or 
signposts to the Stop Smoking Service is not known due to data quality issues.   

 

Children and young people 

The Healthy Families Service deliver the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme in Thurrock 
including drop in services at secondary schools. They offer brief advice and 

Page 175



78 
 

signposting to stop smoking services opportunistically. Various health promotion 
opportunities are used by the service in delivering messages on social media around 
health and wellbeing that includes risky behaviours such as stop smoking/tobacco 
control messages. 

In addition to the priority groups identified in the previous tobacco control strategy, 
there are other groups supported by Thurrock SSS. The current offer to these is 
described below. Where population groups are not mentioned such as some of the 
protected characteristics groups, this is because no current local targeted work was 
identified in preparing this JSNA.  

 

Substance misuse 

Smoking prevalence is higher among people who use drugs. The data in figure 47 is 
taken from the local adult treatment service and is illustrated here for context.  Only 
percentages are shown and it must be noted that the numbers behind these are 
generally small. Figure 47 shows that there are far fewer people in substance misuse 
treatment that smoke, compared to the national average.  This has been the subject 
of local discussion with the providers for several years, so there is some degree of 
confidence that this is not a data recording error.  The service offers smoking cessation 
to all clients, however, the clients’ motivation tends to be towards reducing or 
abstaining from substance misuse, rather than quitting smoking.  While more clients 
in the non-opiate, alcohol, and alcohol & non-opiate groups should be encouraged to 
attempt to stop smoking, it is promising to see a proportion are interesting in attempting 
to quit.  

Figure 47: Smokers and quit rates in the adult drug and alcohol treatment 
service – 2018/19 

 

Source: NDTMS, (2020) [Numbers redacted]. 

 

 

Page 176



79 
 

Offender health 

Smoking prevalence among offenders is higher than the general population.  

While Thurrock does not have a prison within its local authority boundary, there are 
offenders living in the community who are supported by the probation service. 
Approximately 80% of offenders in prison smoke; all prisons in England are now 
smokefree places. To support smoking cessation in prison, part of the FNIP (first 
night in prisons induction) asks offenders if they smoke; those who respond to say 
they do, are offered a vape pack, which they have to purchase or buy on credit. 
Thereafter prisoners can purchase capsules with their canteen on a weekly basis 
and those who want to stop smoking can attend an eight week smoking cessation 
course. This includes provision of nicotine replacements, however offenders cannot 
attend the course if they continue to vape.  

The probation service covering Essex, Thurrock and Southend-on-Sea is working 
with the councils to develop referral pathways so that offenders moving into or living 
in the community can be supported to stop smoking too.  

This needs assessment has also explored the fit of the current smoking treatment 
offer for some of the protected characteristics groups, where data has been available 
to do so. The next sections describe the effectiveness of the SSS for these groups.   

BME 

It is important to understand smoking and tobacco use among different ethnic groups 
to assess whether the local stop smoking service offer is well designed around need 
for this protected characteristic. Use of tobacco by type and gender differs among 
ethnic minority groups nationally so local insight is required to identify local need.  

The number of people from specific ethnic groups other than ‘White British’ 
accessing the SSS is very small and it is therefore not possible to present data on 
individual ethnicity categories. In 2019 it was estimated that 80.9% of Thurrock’s 
population were ‘White British’; the SSS client ethnicity profile has consistently 
included a higher proportion of people of this ethnic category since 2017 (2017/18 = 
92%; 2018/19 = 96%; 2019/20 = 85%).  

Figure 48 shows the proportion of people coded as not having ‘White British’ 
ethnicity per year and by service provider type. It shows that across service 
providers, the proportion of clients who were not ‘White British’ increased. This could 
be a promising sign of a more equitable offer or a change in data recording/coding 
but should be monitored given the high variation in annual use of the service by 
ethnicity. The data also shows that pharmacies have consistently attracted a higher 
number of people whose ethnicity was not coded as White British compared to the 
other provider types; this should be explored in reviewing the SSS model, especially 
given the relatively low number of service users accessing pharmacy SSS. 

 

 

Page 177



80 
 

Figure 48: Percentage of people of any other ethnicity than ‘White British’ 
SAQD with Thurrock SSS by provider type 

 

Source: Quit Manager, accessed June 2020 

It isn’t possible to directly compare this data with the QOF prevalence of smoking by 
ethnic group since the ethnicity categories used are different. These findings can 
also mask prevalence differences by gender and generation in ethnic groups. 
Thurrock SSS should consider its intelligence regarding ethnicity to make sure 
people of other ethnic groups are adequately supported to stop smoking, including in 
use of other tobacco products.  

The number of people SAQD of non ‘White British’ ethnicity is too small to conduct 
analysis on 4 and 12 week quit success.  

This section has so far focussed on the SSS itself; the next sections will summarise 
wider work taking place to support referrals and self-referrals into the SSS.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f p
eo

pl
e 

SA
Q

D
 w

ho
 w

er
e 

no
t '

w
hi

te
 B

rit
is

h'
 (a

ll 
ot

he
r e

th
nc

iit
es

)

GP Pharmacies THLS Vape shops

Page 178



81 
 

7.4 SWOT analysis of Thurrock’s current Tobacco Control offer 
The following section summarises strengths, weaknesses, opportunity and threats 
for the current smoking treatment offer in Thurrock: 

Strengths  

 THLS and vape shops: attract high number of clients. 
 THLS and vape shops: achieve high conversion rates to 4 and 12 week quits in 

the general population. 
 Pharmacies: may achieve better reach with BME groups. 
 Strong partnership with maternity service, that has improved the number of quits 

in recent years.  
 Mental health: improvement in stop smoking culture at the mental health trust. 
 
Weaknesses: 

 Data: there are aspects of information that could inform the local tobacco control 
response where there is currently no or insufficient data to inform decision 
making. For example, service user experience data is not currently collected and 
smoking prevalence among some protected characteristic groups is not available.     

 Evaluation: local evaluation of service innovations will improve understanding of 
what is working locally and help to share good practice regionally and nationally. 
For example, evaluation of the 12 week quit support, of the appeal of different 
service offers to priority groups and evaluation of prevention / marketing 
interventions, especially among priority groups.  

 Socio-economic inequalities: the current service offer does not target routine and 
manual groups and this is seen in the impact data. Efforts through promotional 
activity and reviewing the market and service offer should be considered to better 
reach this group.  

 Mental health: need to improve data and ensure continuity of SSS between 
inpatient and community mental health services. 

 Understanding the tobacco control needs of protected characteristics population 
groups locally; specifically BME, LGBTQ and people with a learning disability.  

 NHS capacity / leadership: locally the tobacco control agenda is currently driven 
by the council’s public health team. The NHS are an important delivery partner in 
this agenda and a beneficiary of reducing smoking prevalence. Clear NHS 
accountability and leadership is recommended by PHE and ADPH for tobacco 
control and this is an area where Thurrock could make improvements such as 
through the new LTP fund for tobacco control.  

 
Opportunities: 

 Allen Carr: Thurrock Council commissioned a pilot of the Allen Carr stop smoking 
service. This presents an opportunity to offer a different type of SSS to smokers 
in Thurrock and should be monitored for effectiveness and equity impacts.  

 There are very few pharmacies and vape shops currently offering stop smoking 
services in Thurrock; identifying sites interested and able to offer the service 

Page 179



82 
 

could increase accessibility of the offer in target areas with higher prevalence and 
for client groups among whom this may be a more effective service offer. Recent 
market testing in Thurrock did not identify new providers however Essex County 
Council have developed a strong pharmacy offer working with the Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee. Further work needs to be done in Thurrock therefore 
to grow these markets.  

 Integrate brief interventions for smoking for partners or significant others of 
pregnant women as part of a smoke free homes approach to smoking cessation in 
this population.  

 Explore ways of making the SSS more effective for pregnant women referred to 
the service.    

 Explore opportunities with health visitors to continue the smoking cessation support 
offer for mothers and their household.  

 Compliance with the Ask, Advise, Act (AAA) approach from the NCSCT should be 
reviewed.  

 Social prescribing service in Thurrock: patients aged 18+ who present to their GP 
with issues that have a non-clinical underlying cause. There is an opportunity to 
explore the opportunities of referral from this service to SSS.  

 NHS LTP funding for tobacco dependency treatment: work is underway with PHE 
to ensure this funding effectively aligns with the current tobacco control offer in 
Thurrock.  

 Integrating smoking cessation into mainstream services for priority groups should 
be explored further, as part of the long-term plan fund programme but not only via 
this mechanism.  

 Work with the Learning Disability Specialist Health service to identify reasonable 
adjustments that could be made to the SSS core offer on an individual basis. The 
support needs and abilities of people in this population are broad and will need 
tailoring to each person.  

 Explore the role of adult social care in asking service users about their smoking 
status and programmes such as Thurrock first. 

 Align findings from the self-care JSNA with the tobacco control agenda.   
 Scoping meetings with the probation service have identified a new role in the 

service that has been created to support the health of ex-offenders. The Senior 
Probation Officer for South Essex LDU has requested support to develop referral 
pathways for Thurrock, Essex and Southend-on-Sea.  

  
Threats:  

 COVID-19: the pandemic continues to impact capacity across services working 
alongside the SSS. It may also impact the motivation of some people to quit, 
especially where mental health has been negatively impacted.  While the UK 
appears to be in the recovery phase of the pandemic, the situation and the mid to 
long term impacts on smoking will need to be reviewed and adaptations made.  

 
The next section discusses the current evidence regarding tobacco control and 
specifically stop smoking treatment.  

Page 180



83 
 

8 Evidence  
The three strategic themes through which Thurrock delivers its tobacco control 
programme (prevention, treatment and enforcement) are supported by current 
evidence for whole population approaches (ADPH, 2019) (ASH, 2019g). The 
Tobacco Control Scale (TCS) is an international scale used to assess the impact of 
tobacco control policies on smoking prevalence and quit rates (Feliu A, 2019). It 
considers evidence of impact of the six policies included in the World Health 
Organization’s MPower framework (shown in table 9, alongside their alignment with 
the UKs Tobacco Control Plan Principles). Countries with a higher TCS rating have 
seen greater reductions in smoking prevalence compared to those with lower TCS 
ratings. These policies, in combination, are effective in reducing tobacco harm.  
 
Table 9: key action areas for tobacco control  
TCS 
rank 

WHO MPower Framework  UK Tobacco Control Plan  

1 Raise taxes on tobacco.  
2 Protect people from second-

hand smoke. 
 

Implement a truly smokefree NHS. 

3 Monitoring tobacco use and 
prevention policies / public 
information campaigns  
 

Identify local priority groups and actions. 
 
Develop action plans to reduce tobacco-
related health inequalities. 

4 Enforce bans on tobacco 
advertising, promotion and 
sponsorship. 
 

Deliver effective enforcement. 

5 Warn about the dangers of 
tobacco. 
 

 

6 Offer help to quit tobacco 
use. 
 

Provide evidence-based support to quit. 
 
Develop pathways for people with mental ill 
health to access effective support to quit. 
 
Work with local employers to help staff to 
quit. 

 
The TCS ranks these policies by evidence of the likely scale of their impact on 
prevalence and quit rates. However this is based on ecological studies, meaning the 
results can show a correlation between policy changes and impact but cannot imply 
causation. While treatment for smokers is ranked lowest here, it has the highest 
quality evidence for its impact since it is easier to measure this and a combination of 
behavioural support and NRT has been found to be the most effective form of 
treatment; evidence based smoking cessation services are effective in supporting 
smokers to quit (NICE, 2018).   
 
The key message is that the combination of these policies is effective and to deliver 
them, a whole systems approach is required, to motivate more quit attempts and 

Page 181



84 
 

address people’s capability and opportunities regarding tobacco use (initiating 
quitting and relapse) (ADPH, 2019).  
 
Professor Robert West of University College London modelled the impact of various 
whole population level interventions, like those summarised in table nine and 
developed a ‘smoking pipe model’ to represent the opportunities to reduce smoking 
prevalence (figure 49 and figure 50). The findings from this work were that raising 
concern among smokers about smoking by tax increases, social marketing and brief 
inventions advice from health professionals can increase the rate at which smokers 
attempt to quit. Also that provision of evidence based stop smoking services can 
improve the rate at which those quit attempts succeed (West, 2017).  

Figure 49: Robert West’s smoking pipe model  

 

Figure 50: Influences and transition points to reduce smoking prevalence 

 

Source: (West, 2017) 

Page 182



85 
 

Professor West’s model has been applied to Thurrock; this identified that to achieve 
the 2030 SmokeFree ambition of reducing smoking prevalence to 5% or less, Thurrock 
will need to increase its efforts through a combination of interventions to reduce 
prevalence from the current rate of -2.5% per year to -6% per year. The impact of 
different intervention options were tested and figure 51 demonstrates the result of this 
work, which found increasing quit attempts was by far the most important intervention 
to reduce prevalence in Thurrock. 

Figure 51: Options for reducing smoking prevalence in Thurrock  

 

 

Reducing uptake of smoking (an intervention mainly aimed at young people) has very 
little impact on achieving this target, as does increasing quit success rates above 
current levels. However, this model does not address equity of impact and only 
focuses on reducing smoking prevalence as an outcome, where interventions for 
enforcement for example, address wider tobacco impacts. Thus this section will 
consider evidence for all three of Thurrock’s strategy action areas (prevention, 
enforcement and treatment).  

 

 

 

Page 183



86 
 

8.1 Prevention evidence  
Since initiation of smoking mostly happens before the age of 18 (approximately 65% 
of smokers started before this age), this section presents evidence for preventing 
uptake of smoking among children and young people.  

Mass media campaigns  

Mass media campaigns can have a significant effect on reducing smoking prevalence 
among children and adolescents but the evidence is mixed (Carson KV, 2017). 
Successful campaigns seem to be characterised by having a theoretical basis, use 
formative research in designing the campaign messages, and use message 
broadcasts of reasonable intensity over extensive periods of time. While these 
attributes have also been found in unsuccessful campaigns, it seems the most 
important factors for success include:  

 Longer duration (minimum 3 years)  
 High intensity (more contact time) for both school‐based lessons (minimum 

eight lessons per grade) and media spots (minimum four weeks' duration 
across multiple media channels) 

 Combined school‐based components (e.g. school posters) and use of repetitive 
media messages delivered by multiple channels (e.g. newspapers, radio, 
television). 

 Sufficiently complex to respond to the many issues that characterise young 
persons' smoking. In particular those that combine motivational enhancement 
and support combined with approaches based on social cognitive theory. 

School based programmes 

There is limited evidence for school-based programmes alone (Grimshaw, 2006), 
school policies to prevent smoking (Coppo A, 2014) or strategies to enhance the 
implementation of such policies (Wolfenden L, 2017). School programmes that use a 
social competence approach and those that combine this with a social influence 
approach have been found to be more effective than other programmes (Thomas R.E., 
2013). These approaches take one year or more to have an impact.  

A number of current UK programmes designed to prevent tobacco use in young people 
are available such as ASSIST. In 2017 Thurrock Council’s public health department 
signed a three-year contract with Decipher-ASSIST to deliver their school-based peer-
led prevention programme via NELFT.  Resourcing and delivering the programme 
across participating academies proved a challenge. Evaluation after one year 
indicated that while the programme could impact smoking uptake among young 
people, its cost effectiveness was not as high  as the original research indicated; 
mainly due to reduce smoking prevalence in this age group9.  

When the ASSIST intervention was originally trialled in 2001 and its cost-effectiveness 
estimated, smoking in Year 8 (age 12 – 13) was much more common than in 2017.  In 
the Thurrock evaluation, less than 1% of students were weekly smokers at baseline. 
The impact was that the Thurrock evaluation was under-powered to demonstrate 
                                                           
9 How much does it cost to stop children from smoking? objective://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:qA150610 

Page 184



87 
 

effectiveness but it was possible to derive an updated estimate of cost-effectiveness.  
This found that the cost of preventing one child from smoking at 2-years was £7,313 
compared to £1,836 in the original trial.  The major reasons for the decline in cost-
effectiveness were: 

• A dramatic fall in the prevalence of smoking among 12 and 13 year olds 

• The cost of purchasing a licence for the intervention 

The conclusion of the local study was that while ASSIST is regarded as a cost-
effective, evidence-based intervention, changes in smoking prevalence have radically 
changed its cost-effectiveness.  Based on the Thurrock evaluation, it is likely that the 
cost of preventing a child from taking up smoking (£7,313) is now greater than the cost 
of supporting an adult to quit (£5,000). 

Other opportunities to impact smoking among children and young people 

Education programmes aimed at children and young people tend to focus on harm 
reduction messages, rather than the zero tolerance messages that were common in 
sexual health or drug misuse national campaigns in the 1980s and 1990s.  There is 
an opportunity to use harm reduction messages about tobacco, which recognise risk 
taking behaviour among this age group, within the relationships and health aspects of 
Personal, Social and Health Education (PSHE). This is an important opportunity partly 
because PSHE became a compulsory element of the national curriculum from 2020 
(PSHE Association , 2021). This presents an opportunity for schools to embed lessons 
about the risks, harms and costs of tobacco use in PSHE lessons as well as across 
the curriculum in other lessons. Another area where schools could influence is to raise 
awareness of how Big Tobacco seeks to influence lifestyle choices and behaviours. 
Tobacco advertising targeted at young people on social media is a global problem and 
while at a local level it is not possible to influence this content, work to help children 
and young people navigate this is (ASEAN Tobacco Control Resource Centre, 2020). 

As highlighted in the prevalence section of this needs assessment, it is known that 
some young people are more likely to smoke than others. Factors such as low 
educational attainment, coming from low income families and those with household 
members who smoke increase the likelihood of young people starting to smoke. There 
is also evidence of a relationship between engagement in other risk taking behaviours 
such as alcohol use and poor school attendance and smoking. Services that reach 
groups of children and young people more likely to be exposed to or engage in these 
risk factors are vital in reaching groups more likely to smoke. These may include 
mental health services and children’s social care for example.  They are more likely to 
be engaged in offending behaviour and could already be in the criminal justice system, 
perhaps already on the caseload of the youth offending service.  It is recognised that 
not all young people in these sub populations smoke but screening approaches in 
these settings may help find those that do. For example, Thurrock’s young person’s 
substance misuse service has conducted screening and referral for stop smoking 
support for a number of years.   

 

Page 185



88 
 

In summary,  

 Mass media campaigns can have a significant effect on reducing smoking 
rates in children and young people. 

 There is some evidence regarding the effectiveness of school-based 
interventions to prevent young people from starting to smoke. Schools 
remain a key setting for education work to ensure all children and young 
people are informed about tobacco harm and how to navigate this as part 
of a harm reduction approach.  

 There is stronger evidence of impact of mass media campaigns but these 
need to be of high intensity and for a long duration. 

 Screening for smoking and other tobacco use and referral to smoking 
services should be incorporated in services that work with children in groups 
more likely to smoke.  

 There is also evidence that increasing the cost of cigarettes and addressing 
illicit tobacco can reduce uptake in young people; this is discussed in the 
next section (West, 2017).  

 

8.2 Evidence for enforcement  
Underage sales 

Evidence indicates that enforcement interventions to prevent underage sales can 
reduce youth smoking prevalence, especially test purchasing for underage sales 
(Kaptein, 2017). There is weaker but positive evidence for retailer education 
programmes about stopping underage tobacco sales (Kaptein, 2017). There is less 
evidence currently on interventions to limit the social supply of tobacco to people under 
the legal purchase age; there is positive evidence however that education campaigns 
on this subject can be effective. Any local work done to address this should be well 
evaluated to enhance the evidence base on this aspect of enforcement.  

NICE guidance supports the approach currently taken in Thurrock to address 
underage sales, including training/guidance for retailers; prosecuting retailers who 
break the law including use of test sales to identify these; sharing intelligence to 
improve the effectiveness of locations where underage tobacco sales are a problem; 
and to sustain such efforts (these are not a one off intervention) (NICE, 2015). In 
addition, evidence of the components of underage sales interventions that seem most 
effective include: 

 youth recruitment (young people working with Trading Standards should reflect 
the socio-demographic profile, train and maintain test shoppers, and the ideal 
age of test shoppers seems to be 17)  

 test shopping protocol (vary requested tobacco products according to the 
demographic of the test shoppers; require under 18s to carry ID and show if 

Page 186



89 
 

asked; training test shopper to reduce risk of disclosure that the sale is a 
compliance check; and send the same test shopper multiple times to the same 
retailer).  

Price sensitivity and illicit tobacco  

Demand for cigarettes is sensitive to price; when prices rise, fewer cigarettes are 
purchased. The most recent analysis by HMRC estimated that a 1% increase in the 
price of cigarettes results in a fall in consumption of 0.57% (Johal, 2010).  Other 
tobacco products are also sensitive to price;  for example a 1% price increase would 
reduce demand by approximately 0.8% for cigars, 0.6% for roll your own tobacco, 
0.6% for bidis and 0.2% for smokeless tobacco (Jawad M, 2018). The UK has the 
most expensive cigarettes in Europe however, illicit tobacco is generally cheaper, and 
it can be more harmful and may be used more by people in poorer socio-economic 
groups. It is therefore essential that work continues to reduce illegal tobacco sales and 
consumption within Thurrock. 

Smoke-free policy  

Smoke-free policies reduce exposure to tobacco smoke, encourage quit attempts,  
generate health benefits, protect children, de-normalise smoking and have strong  
public support (Royal College of Physicians , 2021). Evidence regarding the 
effectiveness and equity impact of such interventions is limited because of the 
variety in ways smoke free policies are applied and the quality of evaluations 
conducted. A literature review of the published research evidence on the subject 
found mixed reviews regarding the effectiveness. The main challenge that has 
emerged is that smoke free policies risk having an inequitable impact, reducing 
prevalence or exposure to second-hand smoke among less deprived communities. 
Such policies should be targeted to populations to maximise equity impact and well 
evaluated and monitored where they are implemented locally.  
 
The Royal College of Physicians recommend that smoke-free policies do not 
automatically restrict vaping as it is one of several non-tobacco nicotine products that 
can support smokers to abstain while in smoke-free areas.  
 
Regarding smoke-free homes specifically, there is a national policy gap concerning 
how best local authorities offer support to landlords regarding this area of law and for 
their own social housing premises.  Non-smoking residents of multiple occupancy 
buildings may be affected by environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) from neighbouring 
units and The Court of Appeal has ruled that smoking bans do not engage human 
rights principles. However other legislation needs to be interpreted specific to 
circumstances regarding the degree of impact. Until the national policy gap in this 
area is rectified, Thurrock Council should explore its position and provide advice to 
landlords and for its own tenants regarding the risks associated with smoking in the 
home. Evidence indicates people are responsive to communications messages 
about the risk to others and this may serve as a useful tool in working with residents, 
alongside support offers to help people considering quitting to do so.  
 

Page 187



90 
 

Some local authorities in England have developed policies for Smoke-free 
pavements around the outside dining areas if cafes and bars / pubs. There is not 
currently evidence of the impact of this, however survey data from ASH indicates 
that two thirds of respondents would support banning smoking in the outside areas of 
cafes, pubs and bars. This factor is particularly of relevance in the current COVID-19 
pandemic context since many venues have increased or changed their outside 
dining / seating offer to enable greater capacity for customers outdoors.  
 

8.3 Evidence for stop smoking treatment  
 

Whole population  

Economic analysis shows that stop smoking interventions, which increase the smoking 
quit rate by 1% are cost-effective when the costs are below £225 per service user 
(NICE, 2018). Based on data for 2019/20, Thurrock’s SSS delivers its service at a cost 
on average of £78 per service user, although this varies by service provider, and all 
are below the NICE threshold (per person SAQD rather than quitting).  

The most effective intervention is Stop Smoking Services (SSS) that offer a 
combination of nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) with behavioural support. This 
intervention is three times more effective at helping people to stop smoking compared 
to people who make an unassisted quit attempt (NCST, 2019). NICE also recently 
undertook an evidence review of Allen Carr's Easyway (ACE) programme as it is not 
currently considered as a stop smoking intervention in NICE guidelines but is 
increasingly being piloted in the UK, including Thurrock. The review was based on 
limited but good quality data (two randomised controlled trials) and found that 
compared to standard stop smoking services, there was no difference in the quit rates 
at any of the follow-up points compared to ACE. When compared to an online service 
that provided behavioural support but not combined with NRT, ACE was more 
effective, with quit rates significantly higher at all follow up points (NICE, 2020b). 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, Thurrock’s SSS has adapted, offering online and 
telephone behavioural support but this has still been combined with an offer of NRT. 
Local evaluation allowing comparison of ACE with the current offer will enhance the 
evidence on this topic.  

Thurrock offers smokers across all its SSS the opportunity to have an increased 
duration of support for 12 weeks (the usual period of support offered is to 4 weeks). 
Quit duration is one of the factors that impact risk of smoking relapse six to twelve 
months after quitting; other pre quit baseline factors include quit intentions and the 
number of friends who smoke (Yong HH, 2018 ). The number of friends smoking has 
been found to be the only remaining predictor of relapse in the 1-2 years post quit 
period, making ex-smokers about twice as likely to relapse (Yong HH, 2018 ). This has 
implications for addressing smoking prevalence among groups where smoking 
prevalence is higher to start with such as people working in routine and manual 
occupations or those with mental illness.  

Page 188



91 
 

E-cigarettes are currently the most popular method used by smokers attempting to 
quit and there is evidence to suggest they have increased the number of people who 
quit smoking successfully (PHE, 2018). This is based on population level estimates of 
additional quitters resulting annually from the availability of e-cigarettes. Research 
evidence comparing e-cigarettes to other forms of stop smoking intervention has 
produced mixed results and the current consensus is that more evidence is required 
regarding the relative effectiveness of e-cigarette use alone (PHE, 2018) (Hartmann-
Boyce J, 2020 ). There is promising evidence that when e-cigarettes are used as part 
of standard SSS in the UK, around two thirds of smokers successfully quit. However 
in 2016/17, only 4% of people using SSS also used an e-cigarette. In Thurrock, two 
vape shops have been commissioned to offer behavioural stop smoking support 
alongside e-cigarette sales; monitoring and evaluation of this method will add to the 
evidence base and can further inform the tobacco control agenda locally and 
nationally.  

Some other factors for consideration regarding the evidence concerning e-cigarettes 
role in tobacco control include (PHE, 2018): 

 There is now no clear gradient in prevalence by occupational grade. 
 Prevalence of dual use (vaping and smoking) is similar for e-cigarette users and 

users of nicotine replacement therapy. 
 E-cigarette use among ex-smokers needs monitoring as there is an increasing 

trend in this cohort taking up vaping; further evidence is needed to understand 
whether this is associated with an increase or decrease of relapse to smoking. 

In summary, stop smoking treatment services delivered in line with NICE guidance on 
the method of delivery consistently have a strong evidence base for effectiveness. 
Increasing the duration of support available may help reduce the risk of relapse and 
Thurrock can play an important role in developing the evidence around this. This also 
applies to building the evidence base regarding the effectiveness of e-cigarettes when 
combined with behavioural support. The evidence of their use is promising and 
suggests they can help people who smoke to quit but more comparative evidence is 
required. Furthermore, their role in relapse into smoking among ex-smokers needs to 
be monitored; work with local vape shops could support development of insight locally. 
An important predictive factor for relapse among ex-smokers is the number of friends 
they have who smoke; attracting high prevalence networks to quit together may be 
effective in reducing this risk and will require community insight data.  

This section of the needs assessment will now present evidence specific to the priority 
population groups for Thurrock. The focus is on smoking treatment as this is the most 
important factor in reducing prevalence and the intervention for which there is the 
greatest opportunity to target support locally. However, all three aspects of Thurrock’s 
tobacco control strategy (enforce, prevent, treat) have been considered where there 
is evidence about their impact in these sub population groups.   

 

 

 

Page 189



92 
 

Priority population groups 

Socio-economic inequalities:  

A recent equity impact review of the WHO tobacco control intervention areas cited in 
table 9 earlier in this needs assessment found an increase in research on this topic. 
However, an increasing proportion of studies were unable to establish a positive or 
negative equity impact (Smith CE, 2020). The price of cigarettes/taxation measures 
are the only intervention to consistently demonstrate an equity-positive impact with 
regard to having a greater proportionate impact on smokers in low SES groups (Smith 
CE, 2020). Local interventions that are important in supporting this intervention area 
include political support for bringing the rate of tax for hand-rolled tobacco to match 
the rate for manufactured cigarettes and action to stop supply to illicit tobacco. 
Measures for the latter have already been discussed in this chapter.  

There is also evidence that SSSs can deliver equity-positive effects on quitting if they 
are designed to attract proportionally more low SES smokers to set a quit date, to 
compensate for the lower quit success rates in this population (Smith CE, 2020). 
Specifically, referral and treatment pathways that engage key referral partners such 
as money advice providers or GPs in areas of greater socio-economic deprivation are 
effective (ASH, 2019). Recent studies (published since 2019) have found the following: 

 ASH Scotland undertook insight research with anti-poverty organisations to 
understand the acceptability and feasibility of their engagement with stop 
smoking interventions (ASH Scotland, 2019h). While there was recognition of 
the importance of smoking on impacting health for their client group, it was not 
a subject the staff felt able to proactively address, nor a priority their clients 
raised when asked.  Suggestions to improve joint work included positively 
framing marketing materials (offer of support, rather than taking something 
away); identifying with the community alternative coping mechanisms to 
smoking; and training for antipoverty organisations. Thurrock does not currently 
have referral pathways or deliver training to ‘anti-poverty organisations’. Based 
on ASH’s recommendations to design referral pathways that improve access of 
SSS among lower NSSEC groups, this insight can help Thurrock address this 
aspect of its SSS design.  

 A study exploring the impact of a Lung Health Check (LHC) service in an area 
of greater deprivation found that most smokers felt the service had an impact 
on their ability to or motivation to quit (Balata H, 2020). There was a 10.2% quit 
rate among attendees, which was closely associated with baseline symptoms. 
A small proportion of the attendees (5%) attributed quitting to the LHC, while 
44% reported the LHC had made them consider stopping, 29% it made them 
try to stop and 25% made them smoke less. In Thurrock, if the local Lung Health 
Check programme is delivered in areas of deprivation, it could have a positive 
equity impact on smoking quits and quit attempts in the area.  

 A mobile, drop-in stop smoking service in Nottingham, UK found that compared 
with smokers accessing the standard SSS, mobile SSS smokers were 
significantly more likely to be from a routine and manual occupation group 
(33.3% vs 27.2%, p=0.002), and to be first-time SSS users (67.8% vs 59.3%, 

Page 190



93 
 

p<0.001). Nearly 1 in 10 smokers setting a quit date through the mobile SSS 
had no prior quit intentions. The cost per smoker SAQD for the mobile SSS was 
slightly higher than the standard SSS in Nottingham (£224) but still within 
NICE’s cost effective price limit for SSS (£225). This is evidence from a single 
study and therefore more evidence is required to see if the same effect could 
be replicated elsewhere. However it offers an alternative SSS approach for 
Thurrock to consider that has had a significant positive equity impact.  

There is mixed evidence regarding the impact of smoke free policies and media 
interventions, with more studies indicating an equity-negative effect than those that 
find a positive or neutral impact. The main limitation of literature reviews on this subject 
is the heterogeneity of the studies; individually, there are some studies that have found 
equity positive potential in smoke free policies through employers that reach people in 
routine and manual roles and smoke free policies in cars (Smith CE, 2020). The same 
is true of media interventions, where those specifically tailored to reach people in 
poorer socio-economic groups have been found to be effective (ASH, 2019). Such 
interventions require local insight to the fit of their use alongside the wider tobacco 
control approach and close monitoring and evaluation to assess and respond to their 
impact.  

In addition to the WHO intervention areas, ASH also recommend taking a harm 
reduction approach to support people in more deprived areas to stop smoking. 
Specifically it is recommended that NRT and e-cigarettes are made available at low / 
no cost. As a strategy, there may be concern about creating future inequity by 
increasing prevalence of vaping in more deprived populations; it is true that this carries 
a cost implication long term but continuing a smoking habit does too. Furthermore, 
there is evidence that while people from more affluent socio-economic groups may be 
more motivated to stop vaping, they are less likely to try to stop. Locally, harm 
reductions strategies should be routinely monitored and evaluated to assess the equity 
impact but currently published evidence does not indicate an inequitable impact on 
long term behaviour in this respect.  

People in contact with the criminal justice system (PCCJS) 

People in contact with the criminal justice system (PCCJS) were not identified in the 
previous Thurrock Tobacco Control Strategy as a priority population, however a 
greater proportion of PCCJS live in areas of higher deprivation. Smoking rates in this 
population are high; national data from 2013 found 80% of PCCJS smoked. This 
reflects the high rates of mental health conditions and other aspects of disadvantage 
that are more prevalent in this population. Since 2018, all closed prisons in the UK 
have been smokefree; it is recommended that local authorities are able to support 
individuals moving from prisons to the community to maintain abstinence from 
smoking or to quit in the transition from a smokefree environment (ASH, 2019).  

Mental health:  

Progress has been made with regard to smokefree policy culture in inpatient mental 
health settings; one process evaluation in a local area used “Normalization Process 
Theory” to evaluate the impact and culture change and found this a feasible method 

Page 191



94 
 

of evaluating and monitoring the impact (Jones SE, 2020). The results indicated a 
mixed picture with regard to agreement with the policy and recognition of its rationale; 
a need for better monitoring was highlighted. Another study explored the impact of 
different interventions on the delivery of very brief advice interventions for smoking 
cessation among people with psychosis (Spaducci G, 2020). Results indicated that 
financial incentives and recording forms can be effective at increasing the proportion 
of patients who are asked about their smoking status. Smoke free policy increased the 
odds of patients being advised about smoking, but it was introduction of a recording 
form that had the greatest impact on action around smoking, which increased the 
likelihood of a referral over 4 times that of pre intervention care (Spaducci G, 2020). 
An electronic referral system was also effective in encouraging staff to ask about 
smoking status and refer but less impactful than the recording form.  

There is evidence of the effectiveness, acceptability and feasibility of offering smoking 
cessation support in mental health services both for people with common mental 
illness and people living with SMI. The SCIMITAR+ trial is a high quality study 
(randomised controlled trial) that has found delivery of smoking cessation through 
mental health services to be more effective for people with SMI than usual care 
(Peckham E, 2019).  The SCIMITAR intervention includes stop smoking support 
delivered by a mental health professional (care co-ordinator, support worker, mental 
health nurse) trained in smoking cessation interventions. Specific adaptations made 
to the stop smoking service design for this cohort included several assessment 
sessions prior to setting a ‘quit date’; recognising the purpose of smoking in the context 
of their mental illness; recognising the need to involve other members of the 
multidisciplinary team in planning a successful quit attempt for those with complex 
care needs and multiagency programmes of care; arranging meetings so they could 
take place in a mutually agreeable location, often in the participant’s home rather than 
in the GP surgery or on NHS trust premises; providing additional face-to-face support 
following an unsuccessful quit attempt or relapse; and informing the GP and 
psychiatrist of a successful quit attempt so that they can review antipsychotic 
medication doses in line with changes in metabolism. People with SMI who received 
the intervention were more likely to have stopped smoking at 6 months. Although more 
people who received the intervention had stopped smoking at 12 months, this was not 
statistically significant (Peckham E, 2019). 

Qualitative research with service users and staff in IAPT services has found that 
patients and staff accept evidence that smoking tobacco may harm mental health and 
some patients described it as a form of self-harm. However, patients also reported 
psychological benefits from smoking and stop smoking advisors external to IAPT were 
pessimistic about the success of models supporting people with common mental 
health conditions to quit. The IAPT staff who were interviewed however had positive 
attitudes towards helping this population to quit and felt confident in offering smoking 
cessation treatments to patients, but suggested a caseload reduction may be required 
to deliver smoking cessation support in IAPT (Taylor GMJ S. K., 2020). 

Barriers to addressing smoking with patients have been highlighted in other research; 
these include psychological capability to recall training content, misunderstand the 
potential benefits of addressing patient smoking and harm reduction approaches; time 

Page 192



95 
 

constraints; social opportunity in terms of increased cultural value of tobacco following 
inpatient smoke-free policy implementation, and lack of support from colleagues to 
enforce the smoke-free policy; intrinsic biases regarding patients abilities and 
motivations to quit, and perceptions around job role and decision making processes 
related to addressing behaviours deemed more important than smoking. The main 
facilitating factors identified were MHPs' having opportunity in the form of patients 
asking directly for support, and MHPs having access to resources such as stop 
smoking services and spirometers (Smith CA, 2019). These factors should be 
considered in service planning for people with mental health conditions.  

Supporting smoking cessation in this group not only improves physical health but also 
has potential to improve mental health; a recent Cochrane review found that people 
who stop smoking are not likely to experience a worsening in their mood long-term. 
They may also experience improvements in their mental health, such as reductions in 
anxiety and depression symptoms (Taylor GMJ L. N.-J., 2021). 

Children and Young People (CYP):  

Raising the age of sale for tobacco to 21 is identified as one of the most effective ways 
to reducing uptake of smoking among children and young people (ASH, 2019). Current 
legislation that limits the age of sale to 18 has had some effect, but local work by 
trading standards teams is an important part of this intervention in stopped underage 
sales. This work does not however prevent the social supply of cigarettes or address 
the impact of social norms on uptake, especially among CYP from poorer socio-
economic groups. Media campaigns have been found to be more effective in 
addressing this than schools programmes, although there is potential use in offering 
both; the previous section on whole population methods for ‘prevention’ have 
summarised the evidence relevant to this, including for CYP.   

With regard to smoking cessation services, a Cochrane review of evidence found only 
one study in a UK setting; most studies were undertaken in the US. The review 
assessed the effectiveness of different types of smoking cessation support for young 
people who smoked at least once a week for at least six months. While the quality of 
the evidence found was weak, there was evidence that interventions involving group 
counselling, some peer-led, were effective at stopping smoking after at least six 
months follow-up, pooled relative risk (RR) 1.35 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.03 to 
1.77). Other forms of support including individual counselling were not found to be 
effective.  

It is especially important for local tobacco control approaches to direct support to 
groups of CYP most likely to smoke. This includes efforts to prevent uptake and to 
support young people who smoke to stop. Children who are in, or have been through, 
the care system are more likely to smoke, have a diagnosable mental health condition 
and many have experiences and interactions with social groups that increase their 
exposure to smoking. Placement in smokefree homes, while also ensuring that looked-
after children who do smoke have every opportunity to quit, are interventions 
recommended by ASH (ASH, 2019).  Evidence specific to these groups was not 
identified and broadly, Cochrane reviews have established that there is limited and 
weak evidence with regard to interventions for CYP regarding tobacco control. 

Page 193



96 
 

Therefore any local interventions should be well evaluated and the results published 
to enhance tobacco control in the UK for young people.  

Maternity:  

ASH identify the three most effective, evidence based interventions that will have the 
most impact on communities vulnerable to smoking in pregnancy are (ASH, 2021): 

 well-funded tobacco control programmes 
 social marketing campaigns aimed at smokers from socio-economically 

deprived communities 
 raising the age of sale to 21 (from 18) 

Although these three interventions do not specifically mention the maternity care 
pathway, the rationale for them is recognition that most pregnant women who smoke 
are from younger age groups and from more deprived areas. Reducing smoking 
prevalence among these groups will reduce the proportion of women from these 
groups who become pregnant as a smoker, and will improve the social circumstances 
for those trying to quit in pregnancy and reduce the risk of relapse for those who 
manage to quit. These interventions have been discussed elsewhere in this needs 
assessment and can inform the wider tobacco control agenda (ASH, 2021).  

Specifically for maternity pathways, ASH recommend monitoring and benchmarking 
of NICE’s ‘Saving Babies Care Bundle’, which includes opt out referrals to specialist 
stop smoking support. How this intervention is resourced and planned for should 
include joint work planning between Integrated Care Systems and Local Maternity 
Systems. This is particularly important for women receiving support through the 
Continuity of Carer model since the groups being targeted for this type of support are 
likely to have a greater proportion of smokers (ASH, 2021). ASH also recommend 
monitoring smoking at booking, at 36 weeks and at delivery and exploring the role of 
smokefree homes. This approach has been found to be effective with partners of 
smokers; for example one NHS Trust that piloted CO monitoring for both pregnant 
women and their partners during pregnancy found an increase in engagement by 
partners in stop smoking support from 4% to 39% and increase quit rate from 2% to 
60%. There is also strong evidence for the effectiveness of incentives for reducing 
smoking in pregnancy; a Cochrane review of the evidence found women receiving 
incentives are almost twice as likely to quit smoking and that the effect is sustained 
post-partum. There is also evidence that offering this support to “significant other 
supporter” (SoS) of pregnant women is effective in enabling pregnant women to quit 
and stay quit.  Partnering with social housing providers is another measure 
recommended for piloting (ASH, 2021).  

LTCs:  

The evidence of impact of smoking cessation among people with LTCs is strong. For 
example, surgical outcomes for patients who smoke are significantly worse than for 
those who do not smoke while quitting smoking four weeks before surgery significantly 
reduces the risk of post-surgical complications (ASH, 2020h). Behavioural change 
theory also highlights health crises and diagnosis as a prompt for behaviour change; 
such opportunities can be used by healthcare professionals through MECC.  

Page 194



97 
 

However, there is little published evidence regarding the most effective methods for 
delivering stop smoking services specific to individual long term conditions.  This is 
most likely because people with LTCs receive support through stop smoking services 
aimed at the general population and the specific impact on these groups has not been 
well researched.  

A Cochrane review of evidence regarding smoking cessation interventions for people 
with lung cancer concluded that it could not make recommendations at this time and 
called for RCTs to help answer this question (Zeng L, 2019). One study of high 
intensity behavioural interventions that begin during a hospital stay found smoking 
cessation interventions in a hospital setting to be effective, regardless of the patient’s 
admitting diagnosis. Patients received at least one month of supportive contact after 
discharge (Rigotti NA, 2007). Local studies, especially work undertaken through the 
LTP tobacco control fund in acute trusts should be well evaluated and results shared 
to assess which models of smoking cessation support are most effective for patients. 

The next section of this needs assessment will now reflect gaps identified between the 
current evidence for tobacco control and the provision and tobacco related need in 
Thurrock.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 195



98 
 

9 Gap analysis  
 
This JSNA has identified that Thurrock continues to deliver a robust approach to 
Tobacco Control through its three strategic action areas, prevention, enforcement 
and treatment. In particular: 

 The Stop Smoking Service is close to supporting the NICE recommended 
reach of 5% of the smoking population per year. The service performs well 
compared to the national average for supporting people to the 4 week quit 
target and demonstrates leadership in its offer to support smokers for 12 
weeks to encourage a more sustained quit.  

 The Trading Standards work regarding enforcement has led to measurable 
impact on stopping the supply of illicit tobacco and should be continued. This 
is a particularly important area of work for reducing uptake among children 
and young people and reducing access to cheaper cigarettes, which has a 
higher impact on poorer socioeconomic groups.  

There are areas for improvement and particularly regarding reducing socio-economic 
and mental health inequalities in smoking. This section of the JSNA highlights the 
main areas where improvements could be made using Professor Robert West’s 
model referenced earlier in this document showing the main influences on smoking 
prevalence.  

9.1 Preventing never smokers becoming regular smokers 
Table 10 summarises the influences that increase the risk of non-smokers becoming 
regular smokers, the local response and opportunities to improve the local response.  

Table10: Influences, local response and opportunities to encourage smokers 
to quit 

Influences Local response Opportunities 

Smoking friends 
 
Weak academic 
orientation  

-NELFT School Health 
Service 
 
-Brighter Futures Survey  

-Social supply – knowledge gap 
 
-Marketing 
 
-Services working with vulnerable YP: 
screen for YP trying smoking to 
reduce the risk of them becoming 
regular, long term smokers 

Smoking parents  
 
Low parental 
support 

-Midwives at BTUH 
working to address 
smoking in pregnancy  

-Health Visitors: identify how this role 
impacts smoking in the home post 
birth  
 
-Service working with families: scope 
to assess and offer support for 
families with a smoker/s in the 
household  

Page 196



99 
 

Low socio-
economic status  

-Illicit tobacco: Trading 
standards work to reduce 
supply of low-cost tobacco 
may impact on ability of 
people to become regular 
smokers (cost pressure) 

-Work with employers, relevant 
council services to screen for 
occasional / relapsed smokers as 
well as regular smokers to offer 
support early. Especially services 
working with CYP.  
 
-Review access of treatment offer 

Pro smoking 
attitudes  

Marketing e.g. Stoptober  
 

Mental health 
problems  

-SmokeFree EPUT: having 
a smokefree environment 
in the mental health trust 
will help reduce the risk of 
inpatients who do not 
regularly smoke taking up 
smoking 
 
-SMI physical health check: 
an opportunity to review 
whether people with poor 
mental health are 
occasionally smoking and 
offer treatment support   

-Review MECC at end of MH service 
pathways 
 
-Review MECC in non MH services 

Alcohol 
consumption  

-Referrals from substance 
misuse services 

-Review offer with bars, restaurants 
on smoke-free enforcement 

Impulsivity -Trading Standards work 
on shop display 
compliance  

 

 

9.2 Motivating current regular smokers to attempt to quit smoking 
Table 11 summarises the influences, current offer and opportunities to encourage 
regular smokers to attempt to quit.  

Table11: Influences, local response and opportunities to encourage smokers 
to quit 

Influences Local response Opportunities 

Health concerns  GP and pharmacy 
treatment offer 

Lung health checks  

LTC pathways  

Breathe easy groups and other vol 
sector groups 

Acute care - LTP 

Page 197



100 
 

Cost concerns  
 

Work with relevant services e.g. 
housing, debt management  

Positive smoker 
identify  

Marketing e.g. Stoptober Work with services that support 
groups with higher prevalence – 
culture change 

Enjoyment of 
smoking  

SmokeFree 
 

Older age  
 

LTC pathways 

Sheltered housing  

Trying to reduce 
smoking  

Marketing e.g. Stoptober 

THLS marketing and 
links with other services  

 

 

9.3 Supporting smokers attempting to quit to have success in doing so 
Table 12 summarises the influences, current offer and opportunities to better support 
smokers who are attempting to quit to do so successfully.  

Table12: Influences, local response and opportunities to encourage smokers 
to quit 

Influences Local response Opportunities 

Higher cigarette 
consumption 

THLS smoking treatment 
offer includes behavioural 
support advice that 
considers this.  

 

 

Smoking soon 
after waking  

 

Cue driven urges  Trading Standards work re 
point of sale etc 

 

Mental health 
problems  

 
Review MECC at end of MH 
service pathways 

Page 198



101 
 

-Review MECC in non MH 
services 

Low socio-
economic status  

 
-Work with employers 

-Work with relevant council 
services 

-Review access of treatment 
offer 

Older age  
 

LTC pathways  

 

In addition to the broad intervention responses described in the tables above, there 
are also opportunities to improve leadership and some operational aspects of the 
local tobacco control approach. These are summarised below:  

9.4 Leadership and operational factors  
Leadership: for Thurrock to significantly increase the rate at which smoking 
prevalence declines in the area, all local institutions and systems need to be 
engaged in the tobacco control agenda. The current approach is driven by the 
council’s public health team. Local commissioners across all public sector 
organisations need to be considering the relevance to outcomes they are 
responsible for; work with local business needs to take place to make employers 
aware of the relevance to their workforce; local communities in priority groups need 
to be engaged in coproducing solutions. This systems work needs to take place at all 
relevant geographies including the local authority and MSE HCP footprint. The 
Tobacco Alliance ceased pre COVID and its role should be reviewed; there may be 
potential in working at a larger geographic scale to develop a shared alliance with 
Essex and Southend on Sea to support work with providers that deliver services 
impacting residents and the workforce across these areas. It may also be an 
opportunity for enforcement activity, social marketing, and research/ evaluation.   

Further consideration should also be given to Thurrock’s harm reduction approach to 
the tobacco control and e-cigarette agenda, building on the work established with the 
Adult Safeguarding Board.  

Integrated / holistic offer: For some population groups who may have multiple social 
and health needs that the council and its partners are seeking to address, including 
smoking as part od a more holistic assessment and response may better enable the 
individual to address the issue most of concern to them at any given point in time. In 
this way, some populations less likely to consider smoking cessation support may 
feel better prepared to attempt to quit once other social / health challenges are better 

Page 199



102 
 

managed / resolved. This approach would require a strategic intervention across the 
council.  

Evaluation and research: Thurrock has delivered high quality evaluations such as the 
ASSIT programme, however there is insufficient research evidence supporting some 
areas of Tobacco Control. Also, some aspects of Tobacco Control require highly 
localised approaches. For these reasons evaluation and monitoring of areas of 
innovation is an important strategic element of Tobacco Control. It will allow Thurrock 
to respond based on whether local interventions are effective, cost effective, or 
produce unintended harm. It will also enable Thurrock to contribute to the wider 
research agenda and there may be opportunities to work with the regional Academic 
Research Hub and other academic institutions to help fund this work.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 200



103 
 

 

10 Recommendations  
The recommendations prepared here will be addressed in Thurrock’s 2021-2026 
Tobacco Control Strategy.  

15. Thurrock Council should deliver localised prevention campaigns that aim to 
increase the number of people attempting to quit and normalise quitting. 
These interventions should use social marketing insight to increase their 
effectiveness. This work should target high prevalence communities and also 
children and young people across the borough.  
 

16. Thurrock Council should continue to fund its stop smoking service and explore 
opportunities to improve access in the eight wards contributing over half of the 
boroughs smokers.  
 
 

17. Member organisations of the Health and Wellbeing Board should ensure their 
organisations have an integrated MECC offer for smoking and develop 
referral pathways (rather than signposts) to the SSS. This includes NHS 
providers, social care services and children’s services but should also reflect 
wider partners such as those providing support around employment and debt 
management for instance.  

 

18. Thurrock Council’s public health team should identify local organisations who 
work with people from high prevalence groups and work with them to create 
referral pathways, use system levers such as contractual incentivisation and 
deliver training to internal staff to encourage more quit attempts from these 
communities.  

 

19. PCNs and in particular, Tilbury and Chadwell and ASOP, should work with 
high performing practices to improve their service offer. There are particular 
opportunities in this setting to enhance the offer to people with long term 
conditions as part of a holistic approach in the Integrated Medical Centres.  

 

20. Through the LTP tobacco control funding, it is recommended that MSE HCP 
employ a member of staff for each acute trust to coordinate MECC and 
improve referrals into stop smoking services.  

 

21. The maternity service at BTUH should extend its smoking cessation offer to a 
Smoke-free homes approach, including MECC and referral for partners 
/significant others of pregnant women. This should include the partners / 

Page 201



104 
 

significant other of pregnant women who do not smoke themselves. The 
impact of this should be well evaluated; the use of incentives in this population 
should be considered depending on the impact of first offering a wider Smoke-
free homes approach.  
 
 

22. Opportunities to increase screening for smoking and vaping among children 
and young people should be explored, in part based on the Brighter Futures 
Strategy.   
 

23. Opportunities to increase and strengthen referral pathways from mental health 
services in Thurrock and at MSE level should be developed. Thurrock CCG 
should integrate requirements to enhance the stop smoking service offer into 
contracts to encourage action in this area.  

 

24. Work with community organisations should be undertaken to reach groups 
that are not yet well understood in regard to the effectiveness of the stop 
smoking offer. This mainly includes BME groups as little is known locally 
about the nature of tobacco use in BME communities and the SSS data 
indicates this group may be underrepresented. However work to support other 
groups with protected characteristics should also be explored including 
transgender and LGBTQ groups and people with a learning disability.  

 

25. A Tobacco Control Alliance or other leadership mechanism should be 
reinstated to ensure the profile of tobacco is high on the agenda of local 
partners and to support delivery of the whole systems approach required to 
achieve a substantial reduction in smoking prevalence.  

 

26. Interventions should be evaluated, especially areas for innovation to assess 
their effectiveness and equity impact.  
 
 

27. Opportunities to enhance the enforcement offer should be explored, inline 
with updates to legislation that are anticipated in the lifetime of the tobacco 
control strategy that will follow this JSNA.  
 
 

28. THLS should work with the learning disability health provider to ensure 
reasonable adjustments are made to the core SSS offer for individuals 
appropriate to their needs.   

 

 

Page 202



105 
 

 

11 References 
ADPH. (2019). What Good Local Tobacco Control Looks Like. Retrieved from 

https://www.adph.org.uk/2019/06/what-good-looks-like/ 

ASEAN Tobacco Control Resource Centre. (2020). What bans? Big Tobacco is still hot on social media. 
Retrieved from https://seatca.org/what-bans-big-tobacco-is-still-hot-on-social-
media/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=what-bans-big-tobacco-is-still-
hot-on-social-media 

ASH. (2015). New figures show each local authority how many people could be lifted out of poverty if 
they quit smoking. https://ash.org.uk/media-and-news/press-releases-media-and-
news/new-figures-show-each-local-authority-how-many-people-could-be-lifted-out-of-
poverty-if-they-quit-smoking/. 

ASH. (2015b). New figures show each local authority how many people could be lifted out of poverty 
if they quit smoking. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/media-and-news/press-releases-
media-and-news/new-figures-show-each-local-authority-how-many-people-could-be-lifted-
out-of-poverty-if-they-quit-smoking/#:~:text=they%20quit%20smoking-
,New%20figures%20show%20each%20local%20authority%20how 

ASH. (2016). Smoking statistics who smokes and how muc. Retrieved from http://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/06/Smoking-Statistics-Who-Smokes-and-How-Much.pdf 

ASH. (2016b). Smoking, the heart and circulation. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/10/Smoking-Heart.pdf  

ASH. (2017). Illicit trade in tobacco. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/10/Illicit-Trade-Tobacco.pdf 

ASH. (2019). Health Inequalities and Smoking. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/ASH-Briefing_Health-Inequalities.pdf  

ASH. (2019). Smoking and Poverty . https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/reports-
submissions/reports/smoking-and-poverty/. 

ASH. (2019b). Young People and Smoking. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/190913-ASH-Factsheet_Youth-Smoking.pdf  

ASH. (2019c). https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/HIRP-LGBT-community.pdf. 
Retrieved from Smoking: LGBT people: https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/HIRP-LGBT-community.pdf 

ASH. (2019c). Use of e-cigarettes among young people in Great Britain. Retrieved from 
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/ASH-Factsheet-Youth-E-cigarette-Use-
2019.pdf 

ASH. (2019d). Social Housing . Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/ASH-
Briefing_Social-Housing_v4.pdf 

ASH. (2019D). Tobacco and Ethnic Minorities. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/08/ASH-Factsheet_Ethnic-Minorities-Final-Final.pdf 

Page 203



106 
 

ASH. (2019e). A changing landscape. Stop smoking services and tobacco control in England . 
Retrieved from 2019-LA-Survey-Report.pdf (ash.org.uk) 

ASH. (2019e). ASH Ready Reckoner 2019 Edition. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/ash-ready-
reckoner/ 

ASH. (2019f). Smoking in the home. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/11/FINAL-2018-Smokefree-Housing-report-web.pdf 

ASH. (2019g). Many ways forward [Online] . Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/information-and-
resources/reports-submissions/reports/many-ways-forward/  

ASH. (2020b). Smoking: Long term conditions. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/HIRP-Long-term-conditions.pdf 

ASH. (2020c). Smoking: Pregnancy. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/HIRP-Pregnancy-1.pdf 

ASH. (2020e). Smoking and Respiratory Disease. Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/10/Smoking-Respiratory.pdf  

ASH. (2020h). briefing-smoking-and-surgery. Nursing Times, https://ash.org.uk/information-and-
resources/briefings/briefing-smoking-and-surgery/. 

ASH. (2021). Getting back on track . Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/information-and-
resources/reports-
submissions/reports/backontrack/#:~:text=Getting%20back%20on%20track%3A%20Deliveri
ng%20a%20smokefree%20start%20for%20every%20child,-
10%20February%202021&text=This%20report%20from%20ASH%20and,smokefree%2 

ASH. (2021). Smoking Statistics . Retrieved from https://ash.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/10/SmokingStatistics.pdf 

ASH. (2021b). Stress of COVID-19 sees rise in UK smoking numbers, according to study. Retrieved 
from https://us14.campaign-
archive.com/?u=3d5578d8735672472bede942b&id=010a1e7ab9#1 

ASH. (2021d). The cost of smoking to the social care system. Retrieved from 
https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/reports-
submissions/reports/costtosocialcare/ 

ASH Scotland. (2019h). We need to talk about smoking and poverty. Retrieved from 
https://www.ashscotland.org.uk/media/810532/smoking-and-poverty-4-page-summary.pdf 

Balata H, T.-H. L.-K. (2020). Attending community-basedlung cancer screening influences smoking 
behaviour in deprived populations. . Lung Cancer. , 139:41-46. doi: 
10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.10.025. Epub 2019 Nov 1. PMID: 31726252. 

Birge M, D. S. (2018). What proportion of people who try one cigarette become daily smokers? A 
meta-analysis of representative surveys . Nicotine Tob Res, doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntx243. 

Cancer Research UK. (2020). England off track to meet government's 2030 smoke-free target. 
Retrieved from https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-us/cancer-news/press-
release/2020-02-25-england-off-track-to-meet-governments-2030-smoke-free-target 

Page 204



107 
 

Carson KV, A. F. (2017). Mass media interventions for preventing smoking in young people. Cochrane 
Database Syst Rev., 2;6(6):CD001006. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001006.pub3. PMID: 
28574573; PMCID: PMC6481357. 

Coppo A, G. M. (2014). School policies for preventing smoking among young people. Cochrane 
Database Syst Rev, doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009990.pub2. 

Decipher Impact. (2021). DECIPHer-ASSIST (ASSIST). Retrieved from https://www.decipher-
impact.com/about-us/ 

Department for Health and Social Care. (2019). Advancing our health: prevention in the 2020s – 
consultation document. Retrieved from 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-
2020s/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s-consultation-document 

Department for Health and Social Care. (2017). Towards a Smokefree Generation: A Tobacco Control 
Plan for England. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towards-a-
smoke-free-generation-tobacco-control-plan-for-england 

DHSC. (2014). Chantler report on standardised packaging of tobacco products. Retrieved from 
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/chantler-report-on-standardised-packaging-of-
tobacco-products  

Emanuel, E. J. (2020). Fair allocation of scarce medical resources in the time of Covid-19. The New 
England Jounral of Medicine , https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/nejmsb2005114. 

Fanshawe TR, H. W.-B.-B. (2017). Are there any smoking cessation programmes that can help 
adolescents to stop smoking? Cochrane Tobacco Addiction Group , 
https://www.cochrane.org/CD003289/TOBACCO_are-there-any-smoking-cessation-
programmes-can-help-adolescents-stop-smoking. 

Feliu A, F. F. (2019). Impact of tobacco control policies on smoking prevalence and quit ratios in 27 
European Union countries from 2006 to 2014. . Tobacco Control, 28:101-109. 

Grimshaw, G. S. (2006). Tobacco cessation interventions for young people. Cochrane Library , 
https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003289. 

Hartmann-Boyce J, M. H. (2020 ). Electronic cigarettes for smoking cessation. . Cochrane Database 
Syst Rev., 10:CD010216. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010216.p. 

Healthy Schools in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough . (2021). Kick-Ash. Retrieved from 
https://healthyschoolscp.org.uk/pshe/kick-ash/ 

HMRC. (2020). Sanctions to tackle tobacco duty. Retrieved from 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/939655/Sanctions_to_tackle_tobacco_duty_evasion_-_consultation.pdf 

Hopkinson NS, L.-G. A.-S. (2014). Child uptake of smoking by area across the UK. Thorax, 
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/England-Only-local-area-estimates-new-
childhood-smokers.zip. 

HSCIC. (2014). NHS Stop Smoking Services: England April 2013 to March 2014.  

Page 205



108 
 

Hughes JR, K. J. (2004). Shape of the relapse curve and long-term abstinence among untreated 
smokers. Addiction, 99(1):29-38. 

Jawad M, L. J. (2018). Price elasticity of demand of non-cigarette tobacco products: a systematic 
review and meta-analysis. Tobacco Control, 27(6):689-695. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-
2017-054056. Epub 2018 Jan 23. PMID: 29363611; PMCID: PMC6056338. 

Johal, M. C. (2010). Econometric Analysis of Cigarette Consumption in the UK, HMRC Working Paper 
Number 9. Retrieved from 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/331580/cig-consumption-uk.pdf 

Jones SE, M. S. (2020). Supporting mental health service users to stop smoking: findings from a 
process evaluation of the implementation of smokefree policies into two mental health 
trusts. . BMC Public Health. , 20(1):1619. 

Kaptein, S. e. (2017). Tobacco enforcement strategies that affect youth access to tobacco: a regional 
review . Retrieved from https://www.peelregion.ca/health/library/pdf/rapid-
reviews/tobacco-enforcement-RR-report.pdf 

Marmot, M. (2020). Health equity in England: the Marmot review 10 years on. BMJ. 

McNeil, J. B. (2012). Trans Mental Health Study. . Retrieved from https://www.gires.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/08/trans_mh_study.pdf 

National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training . (2021). 12 week smoking status guidance. 
Retrieved from https://www.ncsct.co.uk/publication_12_week_status.php 

NCST. (2019). Stop smoking services: increased chances of quitting. Retrieved from 
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/publication_Stop_smoking_services_impact_on_quitting.php 

NHS. (2019). The NHS Long Term Plan. Retrieved from 
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/ 

NHS Digital. (2020). Statistics on Women's Smoking Status at Time of Delivery: Data tables. Retrieved 
from https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-
women-s-smoking-status-at-time-of-delivery-england/statistics-on-womens-smoking-status-
at-time-of-delivery-england-quarter-4-2019-20/data-tables 

NHS England . (2020b). Physical health checks for people with severe mental illness (SMI). Retrieved 
from https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/serious-mental-illness-
smi/ 

NICE. (2010). NICE Smoking: stopping in pregnancy and after childbirth. Retrieved from : 
https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/PH26  

NICE. (2014). NICE Behaviour change: individual approaches. Retrieved from 
https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/PH49 

NICE. (2015). QS82: Smoking: reducing and preventing tobacco use. Retrieved from 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs82/chapter/quality-statement-3-underage-sales 

Page 206



109 
 

NICE. (2018). Smoking cessation intervetions and services. Retrieved from 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/evidence/a-stop-smoking-services-pdf-
4788920846 

NICE. (2018). Stop smoking interventions and services . Retrieved from 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/evidence 

NICE. (2020). Making Every Contact Count. Retrieved from 
https://stpsupport.nice.org.uk/mecc/index.html 

NICE. (2020b). 2020 exceptional surveillance of stop smoking interventions and services (NICE 
guideline NG92). Retrieved from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/resources/2020-
exceptional-surveillance-of-stop-smoking-interventions-and-services-nice-guideline-ng92-
8891889661/chapter/Surveillance-decision?tab=evidence 

Nikitara, C. I. (2020). COVID-19 and smoking: A systematic review of the evidence. Tobacco Induced 
Diseases , http://www.tobaccoinduceddiseases.org/COVID-19-and-smoking-A-systematic-
review-of-the-evidence,119324,0,2.html . 

Novotny TE, L. K. (2009). Cigarettes butts and the case for an environmental policy on hazardous 
cigarette waste. International journal of environmental research and public health, 
May;6(5):1691-705. 

Office for National Statistics . (2019). Adult smoking habits in the UK: 2018. Retrieved from ONS: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlif
eexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2018 

ONS. (2019). Statistics on Smoking, England - 2019 . Retrieved from https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-smoking/statistics-on-smoking-england-
2019/part-5-availability-and-affordability-of-tobacco-copy 

ONS. (2019b). Adult smoking habits in the UK: 2018. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlif
eexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2018 

ONS. (2020). Religion and health in England and Wales: February 2020. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/religion/articles/
religionandhealthinenglandandwales/february2020 

ONS. (2020). Statistics on Smoking, England - 2019 [NS] [PAS]. Retrieved from 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-
smoking/statistics-on-smoking-england-2019/part-3-smoking-patterns-in-adults-copy 

ONS. (2020B). Statistics on Smoking, England 2020. Retrieved from https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-smoking/statistics-on-smoking-england-
2020/part-1-smoking-related-ill-health-and-mortality 

Peckham E, e. a. (2019). A bespoke smoking cessation service compared with treatment as usual for 
people with severe mental ill health: the SCIMITAR+ RCT. Health Technol Assess., 
Sep;23(50):1-116. doi: 10.3310/hta23500. PMID: 31549622; PMCID: PMC6778844. 

PHE . (2021). Child and Maternal Health. Retrieved from https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-
health-

Page 207



110 
 

profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938133229/pat/6/ati/302/are/E06000034/iid/91491/age/44/sex
/4/cid/4/tbm/1 

PHE. (2018). Evidence review of e-cigarettes and heated tobacco products 2018: executive summary. 
Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-cigarettes-and-heated-
tobacco-products-evidence-review/evidence-review-of-e-cigarettes-and-heated-tobacco-
products-2018-executive-summary 

PHE. (2019). The 2nd Atlas of variation in risk factors and healthcare for respiratory disease in 
England. Retrieved from https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/atlas-of-variation 

PHE. (2020). Local Tobacco Control Profiles. Retrieved from 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control 

PHE. (2020b). Health Matters: Smoking and mental health. Retrieved from 
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/02/26/health-matters-smoking-and-mental-
health/ 

PHE. (2020c). Public Health Profiles. Retrieved from 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/copd#page/3/gid/1/pat/166/par/E38000185/ati/7/iid/
253/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0 

PHE. (2020d). Smoking and tobacco: applying All Our Health. Retrieved from 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/smoking-and-tobacco-applying-all-our-
health/smoking-and-tobacco-applying-all-our-health  

PHE. (2020e). Stoptober 2019 Campaign evaluation . Retrieved from 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/924685/Stoptober_2019_Evaluation__1_.pdf 

PHE. (2020f). Maternity high impact area: Supporting parents to have a smokefree pregnancy . 
Retrieved from 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/942478/Maternity_high_impact_area_5_Supporting_parents_to_have_a_smokefr
ee_pregnancy.pdf 

PSHE Association . (2021). Curriculum guidance & FAQs. Retrieved from https://www.pshe-
association.org.uk/curriculum-and-resources/curriculum 

RCP. (2018). The prescribing of varenicline and vaping (electronic cigarettes) to patients with severe 
mental illness. Retrieved from https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-
care/better-mh-policy/position-statements/ps05_18.pdf?sfvrsn=2bb7fdfe_4 

Rigotti NA, M. M. (2007). Interventions for smoking cessation in hospitalised patients. Cochrane 
Database Syst Rev. 

Royal College of Physicians . (2021). Smoking and health 2021. A coming of age for tobacco control? . 
Retrieved from https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/smoking-and-health-2021-
coming-age-tobacco-control 

Smith CA, M. A. (2019). Exploring mental health professionals' practice in relation to smoke-free 
policy within a mental health trust: a qualitative study using the COM-B model of behaviour. 
. BMC Psychiatry., Feb 4;19(1):54. doi: 10.1186. 

Page 208



111 
 

Smith CE, H. S. (2020). Impact of population tobacco control interventions on socioeconomic 
inequalities in smoking: a systematic review and appraisal of future research directions. 
Tobacco Control , doi: 10.1136/to. 

Smokefree Action Coalition. (2020). Supporting partners to quit smoking. Retrieved from 
https://smokefreeaction.org.uk/smokefree-nhs/smoking-in-pregnancy-challenge-
group/smoking-in-pregnancy-challenge-group-
resources/partners/#:~:text=An%20estimated%2020%25%20women%20are,born%2 

Smokefreeaction. (2020). Roadmap to a Smokefree 2030. Retrieved from Roadmap to a Smokefree 
2030: https://smokefreeaction.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Roadmap-to-a-
Smokefree-2030-FINAL.pdf 

Song F, E.-S. T. (2020). Future smoking prevalence by socioeconomic status in England: a 
computational modelling study . Tobacco Control , doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2019-
055490 . 

Spaducci G, R. S. (2020). An observational study of system-level changes to improve the recording of 
very brief advice for smoking cessation in an inpatient mental health setting. BMC Public 
Health, DOI: 10.1186/s12889-020-08672-y. 

Stansfield J, S. J. (2020). What are the elements of a whole system approach to community-centred 
public health? A qualitative study with public health leaders in England’s local authority 
areas. BMJ Open, 10:e036044. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036044. 

Taylor GMJ, L. N.-J. (2021). Does stopping smoking improve mental health? Cochrane Tobacco 
Addiction Group, https://www.cochrane.org/CD013522/TOBACCO_does-stopping-smoking-
improve-mental-health. 

Taylor GMJ, S. K. (2020). Views about integrating smoking cessation treatment within psychological 
services for patients with common mental illness: A multi-perspective qualitative study. . 
Health Expect., DOI: 10.1111/hex.13182. 

The Centre for Social Justice. (2020). It still happens here: fighting UK slavery in the 2020s. Retrieved 
from https://www.justiceandcare.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Justice-and-Care-
Centre-for-Social-Justice-It-Still-Happens-Here.pdf  

Thomas R.E., M. J. (2013). School-based programmes for preventing smoking (Review), . Cochrane 
Database of Systematic Reviews , Issue 4. Art. No.: CD001293, DOI: 
10.1002/14651858.CD001293.pub3. 

Thomas S, F. D. (2008). Population tobacco control interventions and their effects on social 
inequalities in smoking: systematic review. . Tobacco Control , 17:230-237. Retrieved from 
http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/17/4/230.short  

Thurrock CCG. (2021). Annual reports and accounts . Retrieved from 
https://www.thurrockccg.nhs.uk/docman/our-key-documents/ccg-publications/annual-
reports/annual-report-2019-20/5843-nhs-thurrock-ccg-annual-report-and-accounts-2019-
20/file 

Thurrock Council. (2018). Brighter Futures Report 2017/18 . Retrieved from 
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/publichealth-
brighterfutures-2018-v01.pdf 

Page 209



112 
 

Thurrock Council. (2020). Thurrock Council Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2020-2025 . Retrieved from 
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/homelessness-
prevention-2020-v02.pdf 

UCL. (2020). A million people have stopped smoking since the COVID pandemic hit Britain. Retrieved 
from https://www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2020/jul/million-people-have-stopped-smoking-covid-19-
pandemic-hit-britain 

West, R. (2017). Tobacco smokig: health impact, prevalence, correlates, and interventions . 
Psychology and health , 
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317191157_Tobacco_smoking_Health_impact_p
revalence_correlates_and_interventions/fulltext/592cb63e458515e3d476c1ed/Tobacco-
smoking-Health-impact-prevalence-correlates-and-
interventions.pdf?origin=publication_detail. 

WHO. (2020). WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control . Retrieved from 
http://untobaccocontrol.org/impldb/united-kingdom-of-great-britain-and-northern-ireland/ 

Wolfenden L, N. N.-M. (2017). Strategies for enhancing the implementation of school-based policies 
or practices targeting risk factors for chronic disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev., 
29;11(11):CD011677. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011677.pub2. PMID: 29185627; PMCID: 
PMC6486103. 

Yong HH, B. R. (2018 ). Do predictors of smoking relapse change as a function of duration of 
abstinence? Findings from the United States, Canada, United Kingdom and Australia. 
Addiction, 113(7):1295-1304. doi: 10.1111/add.14182. 

YouGov. (2020). YouGov/ASH Survey Results. Retrieved from 
https://docs.cdn.yougov.com/h3fyf97ah6/YG-Archive-05052020-ASHcovid19.pdf 

Zeng L, Y. X. (2019). Smoking cessation interventions for people with lung cancer. Cochrane Lung 
Cancer Group , https://www.cochrane.org/CD011751/LUNGCA_smoking-cessation-
interventions-people-lung-cancer. 

 

 

Page 210


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	5 Integrated Medical Centres update
	6 Health and Wellbeing Strategy refresh update
	Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  Consultation Report PDF

	7 Tobacco control JSNA
	Thurrock Whole System Tobacco Control JSNA 2021


